ISSN 1018-5593

ANNUAL·REPORT·94

Institute Systems Engineering AND Informatics



Report EUR 16286 EN

A N N U A L·R E P O R T·94



EDITOR: I. GERBAULET



LEGAL NOTICE

Neither the European Commission nor any person acting on behalf of the Commission is responsible for the use which might be made of the following information

Cataloguing data can be found at the end of this publication

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 1995

ISBN 92-827-4273-3

© ECSC-EC-EAEC, Brussels • Luxembourg, 1995

Printed in Italy

CONTENTS

	FOREWORD	7
1.	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	9
	Introduction to the Institute	11
	Summary of Activities	14
2.	SPECIFIC PROGRAMMES	91
	Working Environment/Accident Prevention	21
	Cognitive Ergonomics and Organisational Factors	21
	New Technologies and Safety at Work	23
	Process Diagnostics	26
	Mesaurement and Testing	28
	Photovoltaic Systems	28
	Structural Diagnostic by Optical Techniques	29
	Structural Diagnostics by Volumetric Techniques	36
	Environment /Permete Sensing	38
	Contributions to the Centre for Earth Observation (CEO)	38
	Image Compression Techniques	39
	Analysis of Global Surface Temperature Data	41
	Visualisation Software Development for Oceanographic Modelling	42
	Fauireament / Industrial Hazarda	11
	Plant Safety Management	44
	Environmental Management	49
	Safety Critical Computer Systems	54
		<i>c</i> /
	Fission Keactor Safety	56
	Man-Machine Interaction and Dynamic Poliability Studies	57
	Data Analysis of Operational Experience	59
	Structural Reliability	60
	Fission Sateguards	61
	Intelligent Surveillance Camera	64
	Sealing and Identification Techniques	64
	Performance Assessment of Containment and Surveillance Devices and System	65
	Demonstration and Development of Containment and Surveillance Devices in	
	Specific Applications	65
	Integration of Sateguards Techniques	66
	Controlled Thermonuclear Fusion/Fusion Technology and Safety	67
	Operational Safety and Reliability During Remote Handling Maintenance	67
	Structural Integrity Assessment During Plasma Disruption Off-Normal Events	69
	Passive Sately Environmental Impact of Fusion Energy	/2
		3

Human Capital and Mobility Networks	76
SMART (Semi-Autonomous Monitoring and Robotics Technologies)	76
Design of Robust Human Machine Interactian	76
Human Factors in Complex Real Systems	77
OLOS - A Holistic Approach to the Dependability Analysis and Evaluation of Control Systems Involing Hardwar, Software and Human Resources	77
Diagnostics and Reliability of Composite Materials and Structures for Advanced Transportation Applications	77
Reliability of Metal Matrix Composites	78
Interactive Image Processing and Synthesis on Innovative Computer Architectures	79
EXPLORATIRY RESEARCH	81
Advanced Neural Network Techniques	83
Neural Network for a Mobile Manipulator	83
Adding Values on the Workflows Model by Using Multimedia Groupware	84
Advanced Visualisation of Dynamic Scientific Data	85
Numerical Stereophotogrammetry and 3D Graphical Animation	86
Quantitative Evaluation of Local Correlation of Laser Speckle	86
Safety Study of High-Velocity Transports in Off-Normal Conditions	87
Safety Features Improvement of Energy Storage in Superconducting Windings	88
Environmental Impact and Diseconomies Arising from Kenewable	00
Energy Cycles	00
SUPPORT TO COMMUNITY POLICIES	91
Support to the Secretariat-General of the Commission	93
Antifraud Documentation Informatian Systems	93
Relations with European Parliament - Petitions Database	93
Support to the Community Statistical Office	94
Statistical Applications of Artificial Neural Networks	94
Support to International Co-operation (DG I)	95
Collaboration with IAEA on Safeguards	95
Support to the Community Industrial Policy (DG III)	98
Parallel Computing Applications	98
Support to the Community Agricultural Policy (DG VI)	100
Electronic Identificatian of Farm Animals Using Implantable Transponders	100
Support to the Community Transport Policy (DG VII)	102
Aircraft Incident Database	102
Support to the Community Environmental Policy (DG XI)	104
Major Accident Hazards Connected with Industrial Activities Involving Dangerous	104
Chemicals (implementation of Directive: $\delta Z / DUI$ and its revisions) Scientific Technical Support to the Ristanbard and Directives	104
Scientific-recritical Support to the Biotechnology Directives	103
the Dispasal of Toxic and Danaerous Installations	106
Safety of Nuclear Installation	108

3.

4.

	Support to the Community Industrial Innovation Policy (DG XIII) Image Processing and Synthesis and Holographic Processing and Synthesis Ultra High Sensitivity Interferometric Sensors Industrial Production of Ultrasonic Sealing Systems	110 110 112 113
	Support to the Community Energy Policy (DG XVII) Support to the Euratom Safeguards Directorate/Surveillance Techniques Support to the SAVE Programme	114 114 1/16
5.	INFORMATICS SERVICES	119
	Corporate Informatics Services	121
	Distributed Informatics and Communication Services Network Services Distributed Systems Management (DSM) Electronic Mail Office Automation Computer-Aided Design	124 124 124 125 125 125
6.	OTHER PROJECTS	127
	The Euro-Quebec Hydro-Hydrogen Pilot Project (HQHHPP)	129
	The Ispra ECOCENTRE Project Low Energy Retrofitting of Elderly Buildings Building Integration of an Amorphous Silicon Photovoltaic Facade	130 130 133
7.	SHARED COST ACTIONS	135
	COPERNICUS Programme	137
	TINCA: Enhancing Technological Awareness and Technology Transfer in the Area of Advanced Intelligent Computer System for the Assessment of the Remaining Life, Reliability and Safety of Power Plant Components	137
	Small Punch Test Method Assessment for the Determination of the Residual Creep Life of Service Exposed Components	137
	Renewable Energies Programme Photovoltaic Integration in Developing Countries	138 138
	ElectricHome - Assessment of All INon-Electritied Houses in Southern Europe and Development of Standard Systems for Accelerated Large-Scale Deployment of Renewable Energies	138
8.	WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES	139
	Photovoltaic Component Testing	141
	Support to Regional Development: Sicily Project	141
	Software for Industrial Plant Supervision	142
	Root Cause Analysis of Human Errors Study	142
	Software for Safery and Kellability Assessment and Management Ultrasonic Seals for Safeguards	142

9.	TEST FACILITIES ESTI, Europeon Solar Test Installation	145 147
	TELEMAC Laboratory LaSCo, Laboratory for Containment and Surveillance	1 <i>47</i> 148
10.	ANNEXES	149
	List of Publications List of Figures List of Acronyms and Abbreviations	151 160 163

FOREWORD

The Annual Report 1994 of the Institute for Systems Engineering and Informatics is to be considered in conjunction with the Institute's Annual Reports of 1992 and 1993 and continues to be based on the formal perspective of the structure of the JRC's multi-annual programme 1992-1994. It is important to complement this perspective by considering the two most important assets of the Institute, staff and investments, which represent the source of all our activities.

STAFF

The trend towards reducing the number of permanent staff of the Institute, which was already established in previous years, continued in 1994: over the year the number of permanent staff was reduced from 215 to 195. The Institute's success in participating in the European Community Human Capital and Mobility Programme made it possible to compensate this reduction of permanent staff by a significant increase of nonpermanent or "mobile" staff - grand-holders and visiting scientists. At the end of the year the mobile staff consisted of 70 scientists, in addition to some 30 students working on their thesis. This mobile scientific staff allowed the overall profile of staff expertise to be reshaped substantially, while the creativity of the younger researchers was particularly valuable in exploring new avenues to answer the challenge of research in modern society.

Along with the engagement of non-permanent staff a significant internal mobility was put into force in the Institute, mainly towards the end of the year in order to adapt the staff deployment to the needs of the new multiannual programme 1995-1998. While the formal structure of the Institute was not changed, about 15% of staff members were re-deployed within the Institute.

A substantial training and education effort was undertaken during the year, especially to coordinate with this re-deployment of permanent staff. About 2% of the global working time was spent in training courses inside and outside the JRC (excluding participation in scientific conferences and seminars). While the figure is still lower than the ideal target, it does represent a significant step forward.

INVESTMENTS

The Institute was particularly well funded in 1994 in terms of operational credits, a situation which allowed the setting-up of new laboratories: the Optical Prophilometry and Stereophotogrammetry Laboratory, the Environmental and Urban Application Laboratory, and the Cockpit Resource Management and Air Traffic Control (CRM/ATC) Laboratory, as well as the completing of the Surveillance and Containment Laboratory (LaSCo) and the Parallel Computing and Image Processing Laboratory. These laboratories significantly strengthen the potential of the Institute in preparation for the competitive activities planned for the 1995-1998 programme.

ACTIVITIES

During 1994, which was the final year of a multi-annual programme, the output of the Institute was higher than in previous years, both in research results and publications.

The multi-annual programme 1995-98 has changed substantially compared to the 1992-94 programme and some activities which were pursued over recent years no longer feature the new programme. In particular the work on "Accident Prevention" (under the "Working Environment" heading) and on "Structural Diagnostic by Optical Techniques" (under the "Measurement and Testing" heading). However, by the end of 1994 significant orders for Third Party Work had been won in these domains, and the Institute is currently preparing proposals for co-operative Cost-Shared Actions; thus the existing technical know-how will continue to be exploited in the future.

Departures and arrivals of staff are also important events for the working community of the Institute. 1994 saw the departure of the Director, Mr R.W. Witty, who, after five years as Director of the Institute, left in October to take up an important post in UK industry. While this meant that he was not able to contribute to the editing of this Annual Report, the successful achievement of the activities described herein is testimony to his guiding hand over the last years.

Finally, we have to welcome the arrival during 1994 of the first staff members from the new Member States of the European Union: Austria, Finland and Sweden. As the boundaries of "our" Europe expand, we can foresee with increasing confidence, a successful future for the Institute for Systems Engineering and Informatics.

Giuseppe Volta Acting Director



Introduction to the Institute

Summary of Activities

.



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INTRODUCTION TO THE INSTITUTE

The Institute for Systems Engineering and Informatics (ISEI) is one of the eight Institutes which constitute the Joint Research Centre (JRC) of the European Commission. (see Fig. 1.1).

The mission of the Institute is "to be the European Communities central and independent centre of excellence in the field of "complex systems" engineering, focusing on the safety and standards aspects of pan-European human and environmental systems issues."

The Institute has two main tasks:

 the development and assessment of methods and tools that require the integration of various technologies and the manipulation of a large mass of information and; ISEI's contribution to the Framework Programme is made through the following lines (specific programme):

- Work Environment
- Measuring and Testing
- Environment
- Nuclear Fission Safety
- Controlled Thermonuclear Fusion
- Human Capital and Mobility

The scientific-technical support to the Commission policies is organised according to the customer/contractor principle. Multiannual actions are covered by contracts with the interested Directorates General, calling for work assignment and resources accountability.



Fig. 1.1. The Institutes of the Joint Research Centre.

at the same time, to measure its competitiveness in the public and private market.

For the execution of programme activities, the Instituteis organised into Units (*Fig. 1.2.*)

The human resources made available on the average in 1994 amounted to 298 people and included the following categories:

 Young visiting researchers (grantholders), mainly chosen and financed in the framework of the HumanCapital and Mobility Programme 48

 Senior visiting scientists and staff seconded from organisations (detached experts) in the Member States, mainly financed with the envelope of statuary staff credits

The 1994 average staff distribution among the various categories is shown in *Fig. 1.3*.



Fig. 1.2. Structure of the Institute for Systems Engineering and Informatics.

In 1994 the financial resources of ISEI amounted to 48 million ECUs, of which about 41% were allotted for Specific Programme Activities, 27% for support to the

Commission Policies, 4% for Exploratory Research, 24% for Informatics Services and Support to other JRC Institutes and 4% for Third Party Work. (see Fig. 1.4.)



Fig. 1.3. ISEI Human Resources (Average 1994)



Fig. 1.4. ISEI Financial Resources in 1994 in Millions of ECU.

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES

The Institute for Systems Engineering and Informatics (ISEI) contributes to the specific research programmes on Working Environment, Measurement and Testing, Environment, Nuclear Fission Safety and Fusion. It carries out several activities in Support of the Community Policies and is engaged in Exploratory Research and in Third Party Work.

SPECIFIC PROGRAMME

Working Environment/Accident Prevention

Cognitive ergonomics (analysis of reasoning and decision making processes in work places) were applied to air control for the study of complex working conditions. Field studies led to developing an operative model aimed at better designing interfaces and communications between operators and means of control. Safety at work studies were applied to airline-pilot interaction and resulted in a method for identifying the root causes of human error. A new cockpit resource management approach was designed for pilot training. Process statistical diagnostics were applied to the start-up/shutdown of industrial plants, which are typically complex, non-linear processes. This methodology will help developing tools for early fault diagnosis.

Measurement and Testing

In photovoltaic systems, pre-normative research resulted in a final check on the fast sampling flash radiometer, for special irradiance measurements of very short (1 ms) light pulses. A patent was requested. Emphasis was put on setting up a quality assurance system following the ISO 9003 standard, and on participating to the first phase of a world-wide calibration of reference solar cells, which would lead to a world photovoltaic reference scale recognised by national standard bodies. The technology gained on amorphous-silicon thin-film modules was used on the ECOCENTRE ELSA-facade. System identification for energy savings in buildings was continued.

A new, portable instrument called the Electronic Speckle Pattern Interferometer (ESPI), based on laser interferometry, was successfully tested to investigate the state of conservation of old Italian paintings. A procedure for mechanical characterisation of stone materials thanks to a multiple ESPI system has been displayed to industries with a view to marketing the system. A coherent radar system for surface profilometry (to be used as a high precision dimensional control of small industrial components) was also developed and successfully tested. Acoustic techniques are being developed, in collaboration with industry, for the quality control of glued joints.

Environment/Remote Sensing

ISEI contributed to the CEO (Centre for Earth Observation) project, where a survey of the present infrastructure in Europe and of the requirements of satellite data users has been launched. A workshop on European data networks and user information services was organised at the end of 1994, in collaboration with the European Space Agency.

A new release of original signal compression techniques, based on wavelet fast transforms and holographic simulation synthesis has been realised, implemented, demonstrated and tested on satellite images like NOAA, SPOT.

An analysis of 10 years of meteorological data has uncovered an unexpected 30 day oscillation in the earth average surface temperature. Possible effects of the lunar orbit on the earth weather are being investigated.

Techniques for 3 D visualisation of oceanographic modelling data have been developed. This has enabled highly effective analysis of processes in the Atlantic Ocean and the Adriatic Sea.

Environment/Industrial Hazards

A new set of software tools for the knowledge-based Systems for safety and reliability assessment - STARS v. 2was started on the expertise gained from the first STARS project.

The TOMHID project, an overall knowledge-based methodology for hazard identification, ended in July 1994 providing a comprehensive framework to present a process plant as a socio-technical system. which includes technical, human and organisational aspects. FORMENTOR, the real time knowledge based system for on-line decision support for operators of complex plants has entered its industrial development phase. The first industrial application started with TOTAL, France, at the beginning of 1994, which will probably continue in 1995 with a view to developing full-scale industrial application.

New decision support models for environmental management were developed. They are being applied for pollution control in urban areas and water resources management. An accident database based on worldwide public sources was added to the software TRIM (Transportation Risk Management), Geographical Information Systems (GIS) and spatial analysis techniques in decision support systems for environmental management were applied to real case studies, e.g. management of water in Ireland and Italy. The Multi Criteria Decision Aid (MCDA) technique coupled with GIS and generic algorithms was applied to generating alternatives in site facilities for toxic waste treatment.

There is a need for theoretically sound but practical methods and tools for the successful deployment of highly dependable systems with embedded computerbased components. ISEI started research related to methods for the development and assessment of Safety Critical Computer Systems.

Fission Reactor Safety

This set of tools, based on the STARS (Software Tools for the Analysis of Reliability and Safety) structure and regularly updated PSA (Probabilistic Safety Assessment) concept, was successfully applied to the analysis of the auxiliary feedwater system of the Grohnde power plant. A collaboration with TÜV (Technischer Überwachungs Verein) Süd-West was undertaken, to validate the STARS fault tree analyser. Investigations were made to better evaluate operator error probability in accident sequences. Advanced models for knowledge extraction from reliability data bases and estimation of reliability parameters were further developed.

The development of integrated software tools for the safety management of nuclear power plants was pursued.

The pressurised thermal shock experimental activity, in the context of nuclear fission safety, has been concluded. A review of plant ageing results obtained during the 3rd Framework Programme is being published.

Fission Safeguards

A remotely guided vehicle was able to detect unforeseen obstacles thanks to ultrasonic data and a neural network. Techniques for remote monitoring dealing with storage, encryption and transmission of safeguards data were investigated

In the LaSCo (Laboratory for Surveillance and Containment), attempts were made to integrate video surveillance with other sensors for safeguarding nuclear material storage areas.

First experiments were made in the TAME (Tank Measurement lab) to investigate precision measurements on liquid content.

Controlled Thermonuclear Fusion

Computer simulation and experimental validation of remote handling procedures went on in the ROBERTINO facility, to help design the blanket handling device for ITER (International Thermonuclear Experimental Reactor)). Post-accidental thermal transient analyses for design guidelines and assessment were carried out for ITER and for SEAFP (Safety and Environmental Assessment of Fusion Power): The dynamic structural integrity of ITER's vacuum vessel and of SEAFT's blanket structures in case of a plasma disruption is being assessed.

Human Capital and Mobility

The Institute participated in the following Human Capital and Mobility Networks:

- SMART- Semi-Autonomous Monitoring and Robotics Technologies
- Design of Robust Human Machine Interaction
- Human Factors in Complex Real Systems
- OLOS A Holistic Approach to the Dependability Analysis and Evaluation of Control Systems Involving Hardware, Software and Human Resources

- Diagnostics and Reliability of Composite Materials and Structures for Advanced Transportation Applications
- Reliability of Metal Matrix Composites
- Interactive Image Processing and Synthesis on Innovative Computer Architectures

EXPLORATORY RESEARCH

Exploratory activities dealt with, a.o. advanced neural network techniques, the analysis of local optical correlation decay, numerical stereophotogrammetry, advance visualisation of dynamic data, safety study of high-velocity transport in off-normal conditions and safety features improvement of energy storage in superconducting windings.

SUPPORT TO COMMUNITY POLICIES

Work continued on informatics systems for antifraud projects and on the computer-aided management of parliamentary petitions (Secretariat General).

Neural network tools were implemented for statistical applications (EUROSTAT).

A system, based on image processing, developed by the JRC for designing information verification of complex nuclear facilities was installed at the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA). Training courses were organised for IAEA inspectors on volume and mass determination, surveillance in tanks and sealing techniques. Video equipment for inspectors was tested (DG I).

Work on safety critical computer systems began with a collection of existing information, to prepare the Safecomp '95 conference and to draw up a workplan for 1995-1998. A 3D image synthesis software in the computer CONCERTO was completed for DG III.

The ISEI Laboratory for Containment and Surveillance was involved in a project on electronic identification of farm animals using implantable transponders (DG VI).

A pilot Co-ordination Centre for Aircraft Incident Report-

ing Systems (EEC-AIRS) is being completed and will be operational in 1995 (DG VII).

A Major Accident Hazards Bureau will be in charge of operating the Major Accident Reporting System, the Community documentation centre in Industrial Risk and the scientific/technical co-ordination of technical working groups, for drafting guidance notes on issues arising from the Seveso directives. Guidance notes for safety reports and safety management systems have significantly progressed. Guidelines for public information were published. Assistance work in biotechnology was pursued, and activities on environmental impact assessment in Member States are being compared (DG XI).

Valorisation activities included holographic compression techniques for image synthesis, ultra high sensitivity interferometric sensors and tagging/sealing applications (DG XIII).

Review stations of recorded surveillance images, based on a cyclic image buffer, were developed for computer assisted review. A system for identifying fuel element numbers using pattern recognition was designed (DG XVII/EURATOM Safeguards Directorate).

European demonstration project proposals in the areas of photovoltaics, heating, building, transport and industry sectors (THERMIE programme) were appraised. Assistance was extended to ALTENER and SAFE programme activities, in the area of a rational use of energy in buildings and industry (DG XVII).

INFORMATICS SERVICES

The Corporate Informatics Services continued along the 1993-1996 multiannual plan for the modernisation of the information systems in support of the administrative/ managerial activities of the JRC. The main achievements in 1994 were the installation of advanced systems in various service Units: the geographical information system for the Ispra site facilities management, the integrated library system, the publications and contacts data bases for the public relations services. A major effort has also been devoted to the development of a new financial and accounting system in co-ordination with other Commission services.

The main achievements of the Distributed Informatics and Communication Services concerned the installation and activation of a 64 Kbps connection of the Institute for Transuraniens in Karlsruhe to the German research network and the installation of the XNS software in Seville (Spain), allowing the Institute for Prospective Technological Studies to communicate with the rest of the JRC. Improvements in electronic mail systems were made and new software for office automation were tested.

OTHER PROJECTS

The Euro-Quebec Hydro-Hydrogen Pilot Project (HQHHPP)

In July 1994 the first of three hydrogen busses constructed by Hydrogen Systems, Belgium, has been presented to the Commission and the public. ISEI's activities continued in 1994 on contract supervision, i.e. technical supervision of ongoing works. Furthermore the technical annexes for the new Phase II.0-4 contracts were prepared.

The Ispra ECOCENTRE Projects

The project aims to demonstrate the application of available technologies for the modernisation of ageing premises of research centres under ecological and economical aspects. The international competition for the retrofitting of elderly buildings (the first building will be the Cafeteria) on the lspra site has been evaluated and assigned. Photovoltaic technology in its application to a building facade was demonstrated as an example for future renewable energy technologies.

SHARED COST ACTIONS

In 1994 four shared cost actions were approved with the participation of ISEI. Two in the framework of Safety and Reliability: "Enhancing technological awareness and technology transfer in the area of advanced intelligent computer system for the assessment of the remaining life, reliability and safety of power plant components" and "Small punch test method assessment for the determination of the residual creep life of service exposed components". Two in the framework of Renewable Energies: "Photovoltaic integration in developing countries", and "ElectricHome - assessment of all nonelectrified houses in southern Europe and development of standard systems for accelerated large-scale deployment of renewable energies".

WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES

Calibration of photovoltaic cells and quality testing of modules still are regular sources of income. Other activities included environmental management studies for regional administrations, software for industrial plant supervision and for safety and reliability assessment and management as well as root cause analysis of human error studies and sealing systems fabrication for nuclear safeguards.

TEST FACILITIES

The test facilities ESTI, European Solar Test Installation, the TELEMAC Laboratory and LaSCo, Laboratory for Containment and Surveillance have been improved and/or completed. .



SPECIFIC PROGRAMMES

Working Environment/Accident Prevention

Measurement and Testing

Environment/Remote Sensing

Environment/Industrial Hazards

Fission Reactor Safety

Fission Safeguards

Controlled Thermonuclear Fusion/ Fusion Technology and Safety

Human Capital and Mobility Networks

F

•

×

.

< ⁶



SPECIFIC PROGRAMMES

WORKING ENVIRONMENT/ACCIDENT PREVENTION

The activity in the Working Environment (WE) Programme has been focused on 3 main topics of research, namely:

- Cognitive Ergonomics and Organisational Factors, for the study of the human element by direct observation of the Working Environment.
- New Technologies and Safety at Work, for the evaluation of the interaction between Information Technology (IT) and human operators.
- Process Diagnostics, for early fault detection and the diagnosis of malfunctions of installations.

Cognitive Ergonomics and Organisational Factors

The research performed under Cognitive Ergonomics and Organisational Factors has been centred on experimental and field research in the Air Traffic Control (ATC) working environment. The research has been performed in concurrence with the Human Capital and Mobility research programme and partly as a collaboration with the Italian National Council of Research (CNR). The methods applied have been: observation of individual and team behaviours in real settings, video and audio recording and administration of stress rating scales.

In particular, the interactions that take place between the various components - human beings and machines - of complex organisations such as Air Traffic Management (ATM) have been analysed. Such an organisation can be seen as a co-operative system where human operators, supported by assistant tools, interact and communicate from their "working position" (i.e. Approach Control, En-Route Control, Tower Control).

The ATM system is characterised by co-operative connections between the different human operators involved, namely the Pilots, the Tower Controllers, the En-Route Controllers and the Approach Controllers (*Fig. 2.1*).



Fig. 2.1. Approach Control organization.

The control of an aircraft demands perfect synchronisation between the various ATC working positions. Indeed, an aircraft has to be taken in charge by different working positions managing different geographical sectors; these sectors being co-ordinated through complex communication channels. Working positions for Approach Control contain one or more Air Traffic Control Operators (ATCOs) between whom the tasks are shared following pre-defined guidelines which allow some flexibility in the task distribution. This flexibility level depends on the control centres, on the geographical sectors and on the ATCOs themselves. The ATCOs must dynamically process and exchange large amounts of information from various sources (e.g. radar screen, headphone, telephone, radio frequency) to decide on an action within short time periods.

The Approach Control task is analysed in order to develop a COmmunication MODel in cOoperative work (COMODO model). *Figure 2.2* gives a global view of this approach which is based on Etnomethodology, i.e. a methodology for the combined study of the cognitive, social and environmental factors affecting human-machine interaction. Data analysis based on data collected in the actual working place and on transcription of human communication enables the identification and the interpretation of (a) the cooperative work mechanisms for the individual and collective task management and (b) the critical aspects of the ATC task, linked to co-operative work and workload. An experimental platform integrating two Approach Control working positions permits the study of COMODO features through an air traffic simulation with human controllers.

References

- /1/ A. Bellorini, F. Vanderhaegen, 1995. Communication and co-operation in Air Traffic Control. Accepted at the Eighth International Symposium on Aviation Psychology, April 24th-27th 1995, Columbus, Ohio, U.S.A.
- /2/ A. Bellorini, F. Vanderhaegen, 1995. Communications study in co-operative systems. A case study in Air Traffic Control. International Workshop on the Design of Co-operative Ssystems, January 25th-27th 1995, Juan-les-Pins, France.
- /3/ A. Bellorini, F. Decortis, 1994. Régulation collective des activités basée sur une connaissance mutuelle de la charge de travail. In B. Pavard. Systèmes coopératifs: de la modélisation à la conception. Octarès (Eds).



Fig. 2.2. Approach for the COMODO study.

- /4/ A. Bellorini, F. Decortis, 1994. Stress-based analysis in Air Traffic Control. Proceedings of 21st Western European Association for Aviotion Psychology (WEAAP) Conference. 28th-31st March 1994, Trinity College, Dublin, Ireland.
- /5/ F. Vanderhaegen, 1995. Human-machine organisation study - The case of the air traffic control. Sixth IFAC/IFIP/IFORS/IEA symposium on analysis, design and evaluation of mon-machine systems. June 27-29, Cambridge, USA.
- /6/ F. Vanderhaegen, I. Crevits, S. Debernard, P. Millot, 1994. Human-machine co-operation : towards an activity regulation assistance for different air traffic control levels. International Journal on Human-Computer Interaction, 6, pp.65-104.

New Technologies and Safety at Work

The activities in the area "New Technologies and Safety at Work" have concentrated on:

- Development of a Crew Resources Management (CRM) Course, for training pilots in the Human Factors problems in flight management.
- Human Factors Studies.

The STEP Project 83 System Response Generator, which was developed in the previous years 1992-93, was formally terminated in January 1994.

The Crew Resources Management Course

The safety of air transport has improved considerably since the early attempts to fly less than a century ago. Today's aircraft have evolved into highly reliable means of transport.

Aircraft accidents do, however, still occur. Analysis reveals that approximately 70% of all aircraft accidents have human factors as their primary cause. Training in human factors has become one of the most powerful tools in the enhancement of safety in airline operation.

ISEI has developed a human factors training product for airline instructors and pilots. The product is designed to improve pilots' awareness of human factors on the flight deck, and to provide them with practical knowledge. The product is characterised by being:

- modular
- adapted to the culture and to the target airline
- developed together with airline pilots
- based on the latest development in human factors training

Phase I	Phase II	Phase III	Phase IV
Analysis of Airline	Facilitators Skills	Computer Based	Human Factors
Characteristics	Training	Training	Seminar

The strategy for creating awareness and knowledge of human factor issues in the airline organisation is composed of four phases:

Initially, an analysis of organisation and safety culture at the target airline is done in order to establish a good knowledge of the airline and to identify its characteristics. The analysis is based on a mixture of interviews with pilots and on questionnaires. These highlight characteristics of the pilot body and clarify their own assessment of behaviour and co-operation patterns. The results of the analysis are used as active elements in the preparation of the training product as well as during the training. The Human Factors Seminar will be conducted by the airline's own trainers. In order to prepare them for the specific requirements for facilitating CRM training, a seminar is given to develop their skills in presenting material and evaluating training sessions. The seminar mixes theory with practical sessions in which the trainers facilitate video-taped sessions and receive feedback.

The computer-based training (CBT) is a self-paced preparatory course using multimedia technologies combining video, audio, text and graphics on a computer. The participant controls pace and direction using only the mouse of the computer. The CBT is based on accident case studies, and consists of the following training modules:

- An introduction to human factors issues provides the background for understanding why knowledge about human factors is important in daily operations.
- The Kegworth accident (engine failure, but wrong engine shut down) is presented as one example of human error. Information about the accident sequence is given, and the participant is invited to create his own opinion on the causes. He will be guided by a short list of questions. The answers will be used in the introductory part of the seminar.
- The Sioux City accident (crash landing after total loss of all flight controls) is used as an example of good crew performance. The case focuses on the human as the last safety barrier, and on how intelligent crew resource management on the flight deck can enhance performance in an unforeseen situation.

The major component of the CRM course is the Human Factors Seminar.

The seminar is a 17-hours long intensive group training for pilots, facilitated by the airline's own instructors. The seminar involves the participants as individuals and as a group through guided discussions, exercises, and lectures using video material, questionnaires and games.



Fig. 2.3. Human Factors Seminar

The seminar is structured around three major modules: individual activity, group dynamics and operational factors, which are timely distributed according to the following diagram (*Fig. 2.3*).

The first Module - **Introduction to Human Factors** introduces Human Factors at the flight deck. The training module makes active use of the results derived from the computer-based preparatory course.

The second Module - Individual Activity - focuses on the individual pilot and his activity. This training module displays the potentiality of the pilot to ameliorate the flight operation. The notion of cognition is de-mystified through a better knowledge of the pilot's own *personal features* and on the factors interfering with his cognitive activity. Personal features are addressed including both those that are inherent to the individual, and the individual's specific history and experience. The focus will be on the danger of predisposition to hazardous attitudes.

Staying aware of the situation (*Situation Awareness*) is crucial for being fully in control of the aircraft. Distractions, and heavy workload, often trigger phenomena that lead to a wrong picture of what is going on. Based on case studies, and by sharing experiences, solutions for preventing and detecting loss of situation awareness are elaborated (*Fig. 2.4*).

Decision Making on the flight deck encompasses the process that starts with diagnosis of what is happening from the perceived situation, up to the implementation of

a course of action. The context in which decisions are taken makes the pilot particularly vulnerable to certain biases.

The third Module - Group Dynamics - concerns the performance of the team of pilots which depends to a large extent on the co-ordination of activity, communication, and inter-personal relationship. Group dynamics on the flight deck is treated in the following training modules.

The cockpit *crew forms a team* on the flight deck, sharing goals and co-ordinating activity. The aim of this training module is to illustrate that the performance of a team can exceed the performance of an individual.

The characteristics of a team are outlined and examples of problems in the establishment of *team work* are discussed, such as co-ordination, group decision-making and achieving a shared understanding of the situation.



Fig. 2.4. Model showing relationship between workload and situation awareness.

This training module focuses on the function of *communication* on the flight deck, the factors that might influence the communication and how to achieve effective communication.

Leadership, expressed through the task of facilitating the crew's activity towards the accomplishment of its task, is the key to sustaining teamwork. This training module identifies different leadership styles and their impact on crew performance.

The forth module - **Operational Factors** - concerns the management of factors influencing operative effectiveness. The specific training modules depend on the characteristics of the airline. The following two training modules reflect the specific needs of a particular client operator.

The impact of *fatigue* from, e.g. long-haul flights, and the *stress* that is a natural part of flight operations, compromises the performance of the individual and may change the performance of the flight crew. This module discusses the background for understanding fatigue and stress, and provides solutions concerning how to avoid these factors and how to cope with them.

It is important to understand the pitfalls of *automation*: it is usually considered as a help in the operation of the aircraft, leaving the pilot with resources to cope with other tasks. The module gives the background to understand when it is desirable and necessary to be aware of this issue.

Human Factors Studies

The Human Error Reliability Methodology for Event Sequences (HERMES) has been further developed in conjunction with the corresponding activity performed in the Reactor Safety programme. HERMES covers both prospective use, i.e. the forecasting of human errors, and retrospective use aiming at the assessment of the causes of human erroneous actions. In particular, the prospective use of HERMES is based on an integrated simulation of the man-machine environment, properly driven by the DYLAM code, and on a suitable error taxonomy. The in-house research has been reinforced through collaboration with the Human Reliability Associates (UK) that aims at the further development of the error taxonomy and its prospective and retrospective uses.

The activities developed in this area are focused in the aeronautics and aerospace domain. A HERMES appli-

cation previously developed by ISEI for studying the approach to the landing phase of a Boeing 747 to the Malpensa Airport has been extended to cover the case of commission errors made by the pilot /1/. The results of the dynamic analysis have been also discussed and compared with reference to a classic human reliability analysis method.

A study on the Traffic Collision Avoidance System (TCAS) has been conducted in collaboration with the Dipartimento di Ingegneria Aerospaziale of the Politecnico di Milano. TCAS is the latest adopted among the support systems dedicated to pilots. Depending on the employed TCAS type, the system is able to warn about hazardous traffic conditions as well as to suggest escape manoeuvres to the pilot. In Figures 2.5 and 2.6 two of the typical interfaces of the system are presented. In order to study the system, two simulation models of the TCAS system have been developed, one based on the actual logic implemented in the real system and a new one based on fuzzy logic /2,3/. Both models have been integrated in a simulation environment particularly suitable for man-machine interaction studies.



Fig. 2.5. Vertical speed indicator with TCAS resolution advisory display,



Fig. 2.6. Typical TCAS traffic advisory display.

References

- /1/ Cojazzi G., Pedrali M., (1994a), A man-machine interaction approach to the study of the errors of commission in an aeroplane, 9th Int. conference on reliability & Maintainability ESREL '94 European Safety and Reliability Conference, La Baule May 30- June 3 1994. ISEI/IE 2663/94.
- /2/ Saccuman P., (1994a), Problematiche e prospettive del "Traffic Collision Avoidance System (TCAS), analisi del funzionamento e confronto tra logica a soglie e logica fuzzy. Tesi di laurea in Ingegneria Aeronautica. Politecnico di Milano.
- /3/ Saccuman P., (1994b), Development of a Fuzzy Model of TCAS (Traffic Collision Avoidance System), Commission of the European Communities, Tech. Note I.94.103, ISEI/IE 2761/ 94.

Process Diagnostics

Integration of Diagnostics Methodologies for Large Scale Systems

Process diagnostics methods and the relevant statistical procedures implemented /4,5,6/ started with practical applications to the class of Auto Regressive Moving Average with Auxiliary Input (ARMAX) processes because these models are able to suitably represent a large class of real systems. Nevertheless, the authors were aware that some typical situations of technological installations, still belonging to normal operation conditions, need a different kind of modelling. In particular, three topics had to be dealt with to take into account normal behaviours which cannot be inserted in the ARMAX context, nonlinearity, normal steady state changes and modelling interconnections between subsystems ruled by "different clocks". Studies for integrated diagnostics in the technology of large scale systems have produced the following results:

Non-linear models

Two types of models, Bilinear and Volterra, have been studied and procedures for identification and testing have been implemented, /3/.

A Bilinear model differs from an ARMAX one, since it includes product terms. Its response X_t has the following general form:

$$X_{t} = \sum_{l=1}^{p} A_{l} X_{l-l} + \sum_{j=1}^{q} B_{j} U_{l-j} + \varepsilon_{t} + \sum_{l=1}^{p} \sum_{j=1}^{q} \sum_{k=1}^{r} G_{i,j,k} X_{l-l} U_{l-j}^{k}$$

where U_t is the input process, \mathcal{E}_t is a white noise and A_1, A_2, \dots, A_p , B_1, B_2, \dots, B_q and $C_{1,1,1}, \dots, C_{p,q,r}$ are coefficient matrices.

The more general class of Volterra processes is composed by the sum of linear, quadratic and cubic and higher power terms components. Its general form is given by:

$$X_{t} = \sum_{i_{k}=0} h_{i_{k}} U_{t-i_{k}} + \sum_{i_{k},i_{k}=0} h_{i_{k},i_{k}} U_{t-i_{k}} U_{t-i_{k}} + \sum_{i_{k},i_{k},i_{k}=0} h_{i_{k},i_{k},i_{k}} U_{t-i_{k}} U_{t-i_{k}} + \dots \dots$$

the functions $h_{i_1,i_2,i_3,...,i_n}$ are called Volterra kernels. The series (3) clearly shows how the process is decomposed into the sum of linear, quadratic and cubic components. The identification of Volterra kernels can be made through a non parametric method, /1/.

Predictive diagnostics

Trajectory analysis of system responses, which was developed for stochastic models in Euclidean space (where each observation coincides with a trajectory point), has been extended for function spaces, such as Hilbert space, where trajectories of functions can be described by stochastic models. In particular, trajectory segments of a non-stationary process (the phases of normal steady state changes, e.g. the start-up and shutdown operations of a plant) can be considered. Effective statistical tests have been implemented and their efficiency verified for typical cases as tools. These tests are able to capture and analyse steady state change signals. Unexpected and even unknown events (uncoded symptoms belonging to an unknown and specific symptomatology) can be monitored on-line and detected to anticipate unforeseen situations.

Variables with different clocks

In a large scale system, subsystems and interconnections may complicate the modelling because of the different variability rates with respect to time of the variables of interest. Some variables vary slowly and others vary rapidly. The interconnections between subsystems give rise to situations in which variables with different "clocks" are simultaneously present. In such a case two typical problems arise: how to get statisticalmathematical models to represent multivariate physical systems with different clocks; and how to find methods of standard representation. The solution for these problems is not trivial and is conditioned to the feasibility of suitable variable transforms. A new representation can be obtained if the solution of the Riccati problem for block diagonalization of ill conditioned systems exists /2/ when applied to the transform coefficient matrices.

References

- /1/ Bosq D., Lessi O., {1994} Recursive non porametric estimation of Volterra processes, to appear in IEEE Trans. Infer. Th.
- /2/ Kokotovic P.V., (1975). A Riccati Equation for block diagonalisation of ill conditioned systems, IEEE AC, AC20, n.6.
- /3/ Lessi O. (1988). Risultati preliminari di inferenza statistica per processi stocastici bilineari, *Statistica*.
- /4/ Lessi O., Olivi, L., Parisi, P., (1991). Fault Detection and Diagnosis in Linear Systems., IFAC/IMAC Symposium on Fault Detection, Supervision and Safety for Technical Processes, SAFEPROCESS '91. Baden-Baden, Germany.
- /5/ Lessi O., Olivi, L., Parisi, P., (1994), Statistical diagnostics for industrial processes in a context of dynamic linear models, Revue européenne Diagnostic et sûreté de fonctionnement, Vol. 4-n. 3/1994, 287-295, Hermes ISSN: 1166-3049, Paris.
- /6/ Lessi O., Olivi, L., Parisi, P., (1994). Problems of integration for Large Scale Systems., IFAC Conference on Integrated Systems Engineering, September 27-29, 1994, Baden-Baden, Germany.

MEASUREMENTS AND TESTING

Photovoltaic Systems

Major innovations during 1994 were

- the development of an electronic load for our two single-flash solar simulators. The principle uses active forward coupled feedback and proved to be more reliable than the electronic loads used at that time;
- participation in a round robin on the characterisation of various New Technology Photovoltaic Cells (CIS, CdTe, and multilayer Thin Film devices) led to a precise description of the measurement principles used during characterisation of photovoltaic (PV) devices at the European Solar Test Installation (ESTI);
- an upgrade of a Spectral Response facility was performed to measure the Spectral Responsivity of PV devices with higher accuracy.

SpectraCube

The SpectraCube, a device able to measure Spectral Irradiance changes during the short time (2ms) of our Flash Solar Simulators, was made operational. The system consists of a 64-channel detector with optical interference bandpass filters. The range of the detector system can be adapted to the wavelength range of interest.



Fig. 2.7. Spectral intensity variation during the flash period of the SpectraLAb LAPSS.

facades in the world, ESTI monitors data of interest every five minutes. This data gets stored and evaluated to demonstrate the functioning of the whole installation as well as the performance of its components. As a result of the evaluation one can say that the set-up of the system is extremely reliable compared to previous monitored PV plants within European demonstration programs.

The ESTI-Sensor

The ESTI-Sensor was developed and presented by ESTI in 1992. Meanwhile the Sensor has been chosen for the market as a reference device for monitoring and evaluation of PV installations because it measures both the irradiance the plant is exposed to as well as the operating cell temperature of the installed photovoltaic modules. In fact the ESTI-Sensor became a new standard for PV power plant monitoring systems. By the end of the year 1994 some 500 ESTI-Sensors had been sold.

Facade

As pursuer of one of the biggest amorphous silicon photovoltaic



Fig. 2.8. Performance Index of the PV-Facade. The figures within the bars show the energy generated per week in kWh, both for DC and AC power.

Structural Diagnostics by Optical Techniques

Several research actions have been performed in this field in collaboration with national laboratories and companies (University of Loughborough; University of l'Aquila; Opificio delle Pietre Dure-Florence; Politecnico of Milano; CRN - Strasbourg; etc.). The actions, whose main achievements are hereafter briefly reported, belonged to two major application areas: deformation analysis and surface profilometry.

Deformation analysis

Field Testing and Application of the ESPI (Electronic Speckle Pattern Interferometer)

The ESPI is an easy-to-use instrument allowing microdeformation measurements, by means of speckle interferometry. The ESPI has some very important advantages over traditional double exposure interferometry:

- the fringe images are directly registered in digital form by a CCD camera;
- the relevant interferograms are obtained, by digital subtraction, in 40 ms, so that deformation images can be captured at the video camera acquisition rate;
- this allows a real time measurement and display of slowly varying deformations;
- the effect of environmental vibrations are greatly reduced;
- operation is also possible in day-light and with a continuous wave laser.

The portable prototype realised in 1993 was improved and then extensively used for a complete and very successful campaign of measurements on ancient Italian paintings. The measurements were performed at the Restoration Laboratories of the Opificio delle Pietre Dure in Florence. The Opificio is part of the Italian Ministry for Cultural Heritage (it. Ministero per i Beni Culturali ed Ambientali).

A system composed of an optically isolated pigtailed laser diode with polarisation maintaining fibre and the thermoelectric cooler was used as a coherent light source. The laser (emitting an optical power of 50 mW at the typical wavelength = 785 nm) was coupled to a polarisation maintaining single mode fibre. Special devices were introduced for the elimination of amplitude instabilities, frequency drifts and astigmatism and for accurate temperature stabilisation.

The paintings inspected were all on wood panels; some results are shown in *Figures 2.9 to 2.10*. Firstly, the



Fig. 2.9. "Madonna in trono con Bambino" by Giotto (1266-1337), wooden panel.



Fig. 2.10. Interferogram relative to an area in the middle of the Giotto panel indicating the existence of a detachment and of a crack along the horizontal direction.

wooden panel (190 x 97 cm) "Madonna in trono con Bambino" by Giotto (1266-1337) was carefully inspected. The panel was simply leaned against the wall and rested on two wooden blocks on the ground (see Fig. 2.9). Fig. 2.10 presents the interferogram relative to an area in the middle of the panel. The anomalous density and shape of the fringes at the centre of the image clearly indicate the existence of a detachment (whose extension is also identified) and of a crack along the horizontal direction.

Measurements were also performed on the "Incoronazione della Vergine" by Lorenzo Monaco (15th century). This painting, which comes from the Galleria degli Uffizi of Florence, consists of a panel (450 x 350 cm), a *predella* and three *cuspidi*. *Fig.* 2.11 shows the simple set-up for the examination of the *predella*, while *Fig.* 2.12. shows the results obtained for two cracked regions. In both cases the behaviour of the fringes indicate that a detachment was also present.

The above examples show the ability of the ESPI to detect, locate and size defects still in their early stage of development and not yet detectable by visual inspection and the ability to identify the type of defect (crack or detachment).

This interferometry technique can also be used to control repair and restoration work. *Fig. 2.13* shows the results of measurements made before and after repair on the



Fig. 2.11. Predella of the "Incoronazione della Vergine" by Lorenzo Monaco (15th century), from Galleria degli Uffizi, set-up for examination by the ESPI.



Fig. 2.12. Detail of the predella, with indication (white squares) of two cracked regions identified using ESPI, and relevant inspection results (lower part of the picture). The behaviour of the fringes indicates that a detachment was also present.

wooden panel (42 x 125 cm) "Trionfo di David", by Imitatore del Pesellino (15th century), from Museo Horne - Florence: the relevant region of the panel is shown in *Fig. 2.14*. From the interferogram of *Fig. 2.13*, left side, a large detachment was detected. Moreover, the small closed fringe above this defect indicated the presence of another detachment. The interferogram was used by restorers as a guide for repair work, after which the fringe pattern showed no residual anomalies (see Fig.2.13, right side).

More details on these measurements can be found in /1, 2/.



Fig. 2.13. Results of ESPI measurements made befor (left side) e and after (right side) repair of a detachment on the wooden panel "Trionfo di David".



Fig. 2.14. "Trionfo di David", wooden panel, by Imitatore del Pesellino (15th century), from Museo Horne - Florence: region of the panel containing the defect shown in Fig. 2.13.

Double-ESPI for material characterisation

Multiple ESPI systems, combining optical instrumentation and bench testing machine, have been developed and tested. The systems, completely controlled by a computer, can give, in real time, interferograms related to different components of the deformation of the objects under test. In Fig. 2.15 and Fig. 2.16 a scheme and a detail of a double ESPI system, for the simultaneous measurement of in plane and out of plane deformation, are presented. This procedure turns out to have some advantages over traditional methods:

- being non contacting it does not interfere with specimen behaviour: the influence of glued strain gauges was demonstrated and the advantages of using the ESPI technique was highlighted;
- it allows full-field visualisation of displacements;
- it allows the real-time study of the evolution of deformation on the whole surface of the specimen.

Many different materials and structures have been tested with the above system: steel materials, composites, wooden panels, stones.



Fig. 2.15. Scheme of computer controlled, opto-mechanical configuration (double-ESPI application) for interferometric measurement during compressive tests.



Fig. 2.16. Picture showing a detail of the system of Fig. 2.15.

Contacts and collaborations have been established with the Structural Engineering Departments of the Politecnico di Milano and of the Politecnico di Torino and joint experiments performed. The behaviour of building materials has been studied from a qualitative and quantitative point of view. Classic techniques (e.g. glued strain gauges) are unable to cope with structural discontinuities and poor spatial homogeneity of these materials and are hence unable to achieve their full mechanical characterisation. Full field, optical techniques constitute the breakthrough. Some materials parameters, such as Poisson's Ratio and Young's Modulus, were evaluated very precisely: a plot of results obtained from a compression test on a brick specimen is presented in Fig. 2.17. The system makes it possible to perform studies about the propagation of fissures or cracks in these types of materials. During the tests performed, cracks were detected at a very initial stage and it was possible to observe where they started and how they propagated in the material before causing specimen failure. This methodology can therefore be quite useful for attempting early prediction of structural failures. Fig. 2.18 shows the fringe (corresponding to ISO-deformation lines) image from a brick-mortar interface; a higher deformation and a rotation effect are present in the mortar. Fig. 2.19 is a clear example of detection of a crack (evidenced by a higher density of fringes and fringe discontinuity) propagating in a small scale masonry model (the white lines represent the interface between bricks and mortar); no deformation difference between the two materials is present.



Fig. 2.17. Plot of data obtained from a compression test on a brick specimen. Curves refer to data obtained with classical extensimetric tools and the optical interferometric technique.



Fig. 2.18. Multimaterial specimen (two bricks with mortar in between): isodeformation fringes obtained using double-ESPI



Fig. 2.19. Multimaterial specimen (bricks and mortar): detection of a propagating crack using double-ESPI.

ESPI application to the analysis of vibration characteristics and structural integrity of musical instruments

The collaboration with a private restoration company (Carlson Cacciatori & Neumann s.n.c.) and mainly with the Cremona Violin-Making School (Istituto Professionale Internazionale per l'Artigianato Liutario e del Legno -Cremona) enabled us to use the facilities of their acoustic laboratories and to organise and perform some pilot measurements on antique violins combining acoustic and optical (interferometric) techniques /3,4/. The simultaneous use of acoustics and optics is turning out to be a very powerful and useful tool for violin characterisation during the making as well as restoring of these instruments.

Optical fibre interferometric transducer

Optical fibres can be used like transducers because of their changing optical behaviour under strain; particularly, the phase of the light travelling the fibre changes if the refraction index or the initial length of fibre (or both) change. A number of different techniques can be used to detect and measure the phase changes, but interferometry offers higher performances as far as precision and range are concerned. A complete fibre optics system, based on interferometric techniques, has been realised and tested. A new optical strain gauge has been developed and will soon be internationally patented. Its main advantages over traditional strain gauges are:

- no sensitivity to electromagnetic field disturbances;
- higher resolution;
- higher frequency response.

No more details can be given before the patent is registered. *Fig. 2.20* presents vibration plots obtained by our optical strain gauge and a high sensitivity semiconductor strain gauge.

Surface characterisation and profiling

The facilities of the 3D Profiling Laboratory were improved when two powerful equipments (3D white scanner, digital photogrammetric system) were made operative; they, together with the special instruments for surface analysis and profiling developed on the site (coherence radar, speckle decorrelation measurement system), give the laboratory quite a wide range of potentialities both for research and third party work.

3D White Scanner

A 3D White Scanner system was set up. Such a scanner provides a method to retrieve real 3D image data in extremely short periods of time. A laser source creates a line shaped beam that sweeps over an arbitrary surface. At any position this luminous line is observed by two CCD sensor cameras (or by one sensor camera working from different observation angles by means of a mirror system). After a single sweep an entire object surface can be retrieved in true 3D co-ordinates. The system has two retrieval units: a semi-portable unit for linear motions and a lab system for rotary motions. The linear system can work with two different resolutions and two different working distances, while the rotary system is confined to a single head. The rotary system is also capable of linear motion.

Typical resolutions are in the fraction of a millimetre range, typical object sizes are several tens of centimeters. Objects that do not fit into this size have to be retrieved by several scans. Uniting the scans has been studied by means of the software package Plexus.

Digital photogrammetry system

The purpose of photogrammetry is the characterisation of large objects (aircraft; pressure components, build-



Fig. 2.20. Comparison of vibration plots obtained by our optical strain gauge and a high sensitivity semiconductor strain gauge.

ings, etc.) that are visible on photographs. The output of a photogrammetric evaluation can be:

- a set of co-ordinates assigned to points visible on photographic images;
- scaled drawings of objects visible on photographic images, maps or plans;
- images of objects, i.e. maplike images with a constant image scale.

Photogrammetry is inherently non-intrusive and requires a fairly small amount of field work, i.e. the necessary input for a photogrammetric evaluation is just a set of photographs plus some additional information like reference points on objects and camera parameters. Apart from the photographic exposures a few geodetic measurements (typically done by means of theodolites) may be necessary. The precision reached by photogrammetry is mainly dependent on the average scale of the primary photographs. This leads to a certain versatility of this method, but the better the scale the more photographs have to be evaluated. Classical photogrammetry requires a set of expensive optomechanical instruments that are difficult to handle. Digital photogrammetry allows a somewhat smoother handling of photogrammetric procedures. Complicated opto-mechanical machinery is replaced by a high precision scanner converting classical photographs into digital images. The direct usage of digital cameras is still not wide spread due to inferior image qualities.

The JRC's Laser and Applied Optics Laboratory started to implement this technology in 1994 purchasing several pieces of equipment and training personnel. Extensive use of the system is already planned in 1995/ 1996 in the frame of a large contract with Sicily Region (operative from December 1994).

Available equipment:

- Metric roll film camera CRC-2 using 5"x5" films and equipped with a film flattening mechanism. This camera has been studied and tested in detail and computer field-depth calculations have been performed /6/;
- Leica Wild DIOR theodolite with distance meter to measure point co-ordinates from a single theodolite position without using retrorefractive targets;
- Leica Helava Digital Scanning Workstation DSW 100. This is a computer-controlled precision scanner designed and built for photogrammetric purposes. It moves with a resolution of 1 μm and has a geometric accuracy of 3 μm. This equipment communicates with a;

 Leica Helava Digital Photogrammetry Workstation DPW 770 based on a Sun WS and a Vitec Image computer plus a Tektronix SGS625 screen for stereoscopic viewing by means of LCD shutters, circular polarisation and lightweight spectacles.

Dual fibre fringe projection

The dual fibre fringe projection technique is part of the group of fringe projection contouring techniques using coherent light sources. Our system is based on an optical fibre version of the Young's interferometer. Interference fringes are formed with the coherent light of two single-mode fibres, which replace the pair of pinholes in the Young's configuration. In the classical version the power losses associated with the pin-holes are compensated for by focusing the light onto their apertures. By doing so, however, Airy diffraction disks become visible and the regularity of the fringe pattern is altered as a consequence. These disadvantages are eliminated by the introduction of the optical fibres, which allow Young's fringes to be projected with low power-laser sources.

In our optical set-up, the light of a 35 mW He-Ne laser has been launched into the input fibre of a single mode coupler which equally divided the light between the two output fibres. The fringe spacing *d* on a screen normal to the propagation direction turned out to be independent of the distance from the point sources and to be readily changed by adjusting the distance between the fibre ends:

$$d = \lambda f / a$$

where λ indicates the laser light wavelength and f the focal length of the collimating lens on the focal point of which the fibre ends have been placed.

Several measurements have been made on metallic and stone material surfaces. Of particular interest are the results obtained with the measurements performed on marble samples in correspondence to surface regions altered by corrosion and erosion. *Figs. 2.21 and 2.22* show respectively the contour fringes on a marble surface eroded by 200 years of exposure to natural weathering on the Duomo of Milan and the mesh plot of the same zone of eroded marble surface /2/.

Coherence radar

The above name indicates a high resolution and wide dynamic range optical instrument for full field, non contact surface 3D profiling and roughness measurement. The origin of the instrument is a competitive


Fig. 2.21. Contour fringes on a marble surface eroded by 200 years exposure to natural weathering on the Duomo of Milan



Fig. 2.22. Mesh plot of the same zone of eroded marble surface

exploratory research activity carried out in 1993 that ended with two main achievements:

- the establishment of a fundamental analytical relationship explaining the speckle contrast dependence on all physically relevant parameters, namely:
 - spatial and temporal coherence length of the used radiation;
 - optical path difference;
 - statistical properties of the inspected rough surface;
 - optical characteristics of the image acquisition system;
- setting up and testing of a prototype instrument for 3D profilometry of objects with the following main characteristics:

- high reflectivity surfaces (mainly metallic materials);
- dimension of inspected surface of some square centimetres;
- surface roughness of the order of the light wavelength (visible and near infrared);
- depth range from ten microns up to some millimetres.

The depth resolution of the instrument can be easily changed from 1 - 2 microns to 50 microns. The lateral resolution attainable is in the order of 10 microns. Successful tests were performed on materials with relatively high reflectivity (mainly metallic ones). *Fig. 2.23* shows the 3D profile of a metallic surface presenting a 30 micron step.

As the result of this research work /7/ performed in ISEI's laboratories during 1994, the instrument prototype has been improved by reducing chromatic aberration and by adding a more precise and reliable reference mirror translation stage. Other innovative improvements have been introduced in the software for the automatic control of the system and for the 3D data acquisition procedure.

On the 9th of March 1995 a patent proposal, regarding both the method and the instrument described above, was submitted to the European Commission Patent Office.



Fig. 2.23. Surface contouring, obtained by the coherence radar measurement of a metallic surface presenting a step.

Structural Diagnostics by Volumetric Techniques

Acoustic Emission adhesive bond quality assessment The first phase of this work, conducted within the frame of the activities of the Italian group EAMA (Acoustic Emission from Aerospace Materials and Structures), is close to completion. Its objective was to investigate on the possibility of utilizing acoustic emission techniques for assessing the bond quality. The underlying idea is that AE activity coming from ideal practice procedures must be different and discernible from that coming from modified ones; the ultimate goal of this research would be the development of a bonding procedure with a selfcontrolling capacity provided by an acoustic emission monitoring feedback.

This would be an important industrial contribution, since adhesive joints are increasingly entering the construction engineering field, and in particular that of avionics. They offer certain advantages over other connector forms (bolts, rivets), such as reduction of stress concentrations across the joint, increased joint stiffness, possibility of joining dissimilar materials etc. In fact the aluminum specimens and the adhesive have been supplied by the aerospace firm ALENIA (Pomigliano d'Arco, Italy), while the CIRA (Italian Centre for Aerospace Research) is actively involved in the experiments.

Acoustic emission activity during adhesive curing was detected using a PAC LOCAN-AT instrument. Resonant sensors (at approximately 150 kHz) was employed. A supported film epoxy adhesive was used whose polymerization cycle is approximately 120°C in a hot press for 90 min at a pressure of 0.5MPa. Temperature was measured with two thermocouples.

In these experiments the polymerization cycle was kept constant for all tests while reduced adhesion surfaces were introduced to represent the defect situation (zerovolume void). Three series of specimens were prepared:

- ideal, 100% coverage of the overlapping area by adhesive film;
- partially defective, central 50% coverage of the overlapping area by adhesive film;
- fully defective, a completely isolated adhesive film of dimensions equal to the overlapping area was put in place, thus polymerization occurred but no adhesion.

Some of the results obtained can be summarized as follows:

 As observed in the Cumulative counts versus time curves for ideal joints, there exist three distinct regions closely corresponding to the three phases of polymerization. There is an initial pronounced AE activity (heating up), a rather mild AE period (constant temperature), and again increasing AE activity (cooling off);

- This behaviour is also evident in the counts rate versus time curve (corresponding to the same specimens). Clearly, more AE activity is present during the first and third phases of the cycle;
- By contrast the curves for partially and fully defective joints do not exhibit this characteristic behaviour. An almost continuously increasing cumulative counts versus time curve is noted there with a slight evidence of a first phase, which seems again to be more AE active;
- Features which may identify this differential behaviour should be sought outside the initial heating phase, where external factors (moisture, entrained gases etc.) influencing the AE activity are usually present and potentially obscure the AE coming from polymerization. More promising for distinguishing between polymerization and adhesion is the AE behaviour during the cooling down phase, where the AE should be due to residual stresses and micro-cracking. This in turn could be associated with thermal mismatch phenomena and with the quality and extent of adhesion.

More details can be found in /8,9/.

Thermal emission measurement

An informal collaboration with the Centro Ricerche Fiat (CRF, Orbassano, Italy) is going on in the field of thermal emission, namely:

Experimental/theoretical approaches to fatigue limit estimation via adiabatic thermal emission measurement techniques and stored energy concepts; 82 specimens, prepared by the JRC, with material provided by the CRF, have been delivered to the CRF. The CRF will carry out the fatigue cycling of these specimens according to the agreed specifications, and will send them gradually back to us for thermal emission testing.

The collaboration with FIAT includes a second project as well:

 Experimental assessment of the quality of adhesive joints using acoustic emission and other NDE (Non Destructive Evaluation) methods. Within a feasibility study, acousto-ultrasonic methods have been applied to assess the quality of several joints supplied by the CRF. The technique, which involves pattern recognition, classification of signals etc., seems to be promising.

Damage accumulation modelling

Analytical work on the evaluation of several stochastic crack propagation models in metals has been conducted. Approaches involving the generalised leastsquares and the maximum likelihood techniques have been implemented for the estimation of the parameters of crack growth laws /10,11/.

The possibility of estimating the modal damping of damaged structures by comparing experimentally derived (via laser interferometry) natural frequencies with theoretical ones has been confirmed /12/.

References

- /1/ Lucia, A.C.; Zanetto,P.; Fronchi,M.; Aldrovondi,A.; Matteini,M.; Cianfanelli,T.; Riitano,P. "Contribution of laser diagnostic techniques to restoration: ESPI measurements on ancient Italion paintings", Technical Note No.I.94.110
- /2/ Zanetta, P. "Optical techniques applied to measurements in art", Loughborough University of Technology, Ph.D. Thesis, 1994
- /3/ Langhoff, A.; Facchini, M.; Zanetta, P. "Static deformation measurements on violins by optical TV-holography", 4th International Conference on Non-Destructive Testing of Works of Art, Berlin, October 1994
- /4/ Langhoff, A. "Considerazioni sulla statica del violino con esempi relativi a violini antichi e moderni", triennale degli strumenti ad Arco - Cremona - Italy, October 1994.
- /5/ Zürn,M. "A two-shutter camera for pulsed laser holography and interferometry using thermoplastic hologram processing" Meas.Sci. Technol. 5 (1994), 251-254
- /6/ Florensa, M.; Schwarz, U.; Zurn, M. "The Metric Camera and its usage at JRC Laboratory LAO" Technical Note No I.94.68 ISEI/IE 2730/94
- /7/ Lulli,A. "Sviluppo e applicazione di un nuovo metodo ottico per profilometria tridimensionale basato sulle variazioni locali di contrasto nella interferenza speckle in luce parzialmente coerente" Graduation Thesis, Politecnico di Milano, 1994
- /8/ Lucia, A.C., Solomos, G.P., Santulli, C., Marini, R., Coretta, A., "Valutazione della resistenza di strutture in materiale composito mediante emissione acustica", invited lecture, Convegno "Attuali Applicazioni e Prospettive dell' Emissione Acustica" CISE Segrate Milano, 10 Nov. 1994.
- /9/ Solomos, G.P., Lucia, A.C., Santulli, C., Caretta, A., "Adhesive joint quality assessment via acoustic emission monitoring ", Proceedings 6th European Conference on Non Destructive Testing, Nice France, 25-28 Oct. 1994.
- /10/ Dimou, C.K, Solomos, G.P., "Evaluation of Stochastic Crack Propagation Models", Tech. Note No.I.94.165, ISEI/IE/ 2824/94, JRC-Ispra, Dec.1994.
- /11/ Moussas, V.C., Solomos, G.P., and Lucia, A.C., "A General Method for Raw Fatigue Crack Growth Data Processing and Structural Reliability Assessment", Proceedings 2nd International Conference on Computational Stochastic Mechanics, Athens Greece, 13-15 June 1994.

/12/ Solomos, G.P., Zanetta, P., Facchini, M., Lucia, A.C., "Modal damping assessment via laser interferometric techniques", Proceedings 10th International Conference on Experimental Mechanics, Lisbon Portugal, 18-22 July 1994.

ENVIRONMENT/REMOTE SENSING

Contributions to the Centre for Earth Observation (CEO)

In 1994 the CEO Group of the ISEI Institute performed a significant amount of work in support of the Pathfinder Phase of the CEO project, that started end 1993 and will be completed by end 1995.

The goal of the Pathfinder Phase is to produce a project plan for the Design and Implementation Phase (1996-1998) containing sufficient information and understanding of the system to bring the CEO successfully into being.

The work of the Pathfinder Phase is organised by Activities. There are 5 Activities, of which the first two (Activity 1: Survey and understand the present infrastructure status, and Activity 2: Capture user requirements) take place simultaneously at the start of the Pathfinder Phase. The third Activity (Synthesis) starts during Activity 1 and 2, and ends when the implications of those Activities are fully assimilated. The fourth Activity (plan the Design and Implementation phase) then starts. Throughout the Pathfinder Phase, the fifth Activity (Cost and Benefits of the CEO elements of the system) maintains an up to date estimate of the probable cost of the programme.

ISEI contribution has been mainly addressed to Activities 1 and 2 and to the organisation and management of the CEO Pathfinder Phase Steering Committee Meetings.

Activity 1 - Survey and understand the present infrastructure status

ISEI assured the overall coordination of this activity throughout the period and also the major part of the related work in order to identify the environment in which the CEO will exist. In this framework two workshops have been organised; the first one was held in Ispra (2-3 February) under the title "Overview of the EO Data Networks and Projects in Europe" and was attended by the Pathfinder Phase Steering Committee (PPSC) Members and some national Experts. The second one was organised by ISEI staff in collaboration with ESA-ESRIN and has been held in Marino (Roma) the 13-15 December 1994 under the title "1st EEOS Workshop on European Data Networks and EO Services: survey and consultation"; ISEI was responsible for the definition and the technical coordination of Panel 1 of the Workshop (European Data networks) while ESA was in charge of Panel 2 (EO Services). The workshop was attended by more than 170 persons representing all European Countries (EU and EFTA).

The results of the second workshop are an important input to a study contract on "Analysis of existing and planned European Data Networks" issued by ISEI staff at the end of 1994 and awarded to an European Consortium. Scope of the study is to provide a complete description of the existing and foreseen (1994-98) data communication infrastructures and networks services and polices in Europe in order to envisage possible solutions for the access to information and services related to Earth Observation.

The communication between the distributed service providers on one side and the users on the other side is one of the major objectives of the CEO project. A first model of the service exchange has been implemented on a CEO server based on available and well performing technology (World Wide Web and Mosaic). The home page contains official CEO documents, a "what is new" rubrique, a forum for User feedback and the possibility of links to other EO sites in Europe and the US (see Fig. 2.24.).

Always in the frame of Activity 1 the following project proposals have been defined: "Integrating the access to heterogeneous Databases" and "Monitoring the Quality of Services in a distributed Information System".

Activity 2 - Capture User Requirements

The goal of this Activity is to identify the requirements of the current and potential users of EO data and to derive a comprehensive statement of what CEO must do. In order to achieve this target several approaches are used in parallel. ISEI is contributing to Action 2(c) of the Pathfinder Phase Project Plan, that is "Capture user requirements within Experimental User Communities". A study contract on "Organisation of a Urban Development User Community - UDUC" was awarded to an European Consortium at the beginning of 1994, with the aim to start creating a user oriented application network in which environmental information such as numeric data, text, images, digitised maps as well as models, software tools, etc, can be shared among the interested organisations (e.g. data suppliers, thematic centres, data users, local administrators, environmental Agencies, etc.). The study is expected to end in spring 1995, the results will then be merged with the results of other studies on user requirements collection carried on by the CEO team, for which an important collaboration has been given by ISEI in the preparation and issue of the related work programmes.

Along with the development of the above mentioned UDUC study, a new Environmental and Urban Application Laboratory has been created. Dedicated hardware and software will be used to develop and test various techniques of data and images treatment, i.e:



Figure 2.24. The CEO project prototype home page as seen by 'Netscape' a WWW viewer. This interface will be displayed on any workstation screen on the Internet connecting to the server. The coloured buttons provide access to a wide range of information and data concerned with the project as well as providing hypertext links to EO related sites.

- to develop a prototype User Interface for European Wide Service Exchange (CEO Project) throughout a GIS urban case study;
- to establish a standard methodology for integrating Satellite Imagery and other environmental data in a Geographical Information System;
- to illustrate the complementary of the radar and optical satellite data in Urban Applications, by merging ERS-1 data with SPOT and Landsat TM data;
- to discover and better understand the User Requirements within the EO data Users Urban Community, using the in house experience.

A contribution of ISEI in modelling the overall EO process is based on a study contract "Designing the Information Cooperative for Sharing and Analysing the Earth Observation Data - ICSA", whose aim is mainly to understand the current EO business process from users, in order to support the telecooperation between the actors, in quasi real time.

- In particular the objectives of ICSA are:
- identifying information technology structures fulfilling user needs (as a contribution to Activity 3);
- designing a common user working environment which will be characterised by its interdisciplinarity, interoperability, knowledge sharing, integration with tailorable user interface, flexibility;
- understanding user requirements, identifying business processes, hinting new links between organisations towards business process re-engineering, facilitating the insertion of new users (as contribution to the use of the Activity 2 results).

The study is expected to end in spring 1995.

Pathfinder Phase Steering Committee Meetings

3 plenary meetings were held in 1994: 1-2 February, 26-27 April and 14-15 September. ISEI staff was in charge for the logistics of the 3 meetings, each one attended by about 50 persons.

Image Compression Techniques

A new release of original signal compression techniques, based on wavelet fast transforms and holographic simulation synthesis have been realised, implemented, demonstrated and tested on satellite images like NOAA, SPOT. The work consisted of implementing a new release of the present compression software 3D comp. The experimental validation using coherent light and holographic and diffraction grating technologies has been performed in the JRC laboratory. In the meantime the TRI-DYN hardware and software systems were connected to the CONCERTO parallel machines, and as a consequence, the 3 D comp software was implemented on the parallel TRYDIN-CON-CERTO system.



Figure 2.25. ISEI Image Compression results & coherent optical demonstration.

The special implementation realised in the laboratory demonstrated that image compression can still be achieved by a factor of 10 up to 2000.

This software has been selected to promote and establish an advanced common standard for satellite data images distribution, and will be used by a European network, the title of which is "On Line Satellite Data Archiving and Distribution Techniques".

Image and holographic compression software implemented on European massive parallel computers will be tested on a wider base in collaboration with the user communities.

Reference

J.C. Grossetie, M. Hohenadel, ELEMENTS D'ANALYSE DU SIGNAL PAR ONDELETTES, EUR Report 16250 FR, 1995.

Analysis of Global Surface Temperature Data

A large 15 Gbyte database of global surface weather data from the European Centre for Medium Range Weather Forecasting (ECMWF) has been installed on an optical juke box for the Marine Environment Unit of IRSA. This on-line database contains global temperature data each day from 1981 until 1993. An analysis of the surface area averaged temperature of the Earth /1,2/ has been performed from 1986 to 1991. This represents the daily average temperature of the Earth at 12-00 GMT each day. The data were further split into Southern and Northern Hemispheres, Polar, temperate and tropical regions. The yearly averaged data for the Northern Hemisphere show a rise of about 0.5 degrees C from 1986 until 1990, while little change is seen for the Southern Hemisphere.

An analysis of the full daily results has discovered a clear oscillation in the globally averaged daily températures for the Northern and Southern Hemisphere of ~ 0.2 degrees Celsius with a time period of 30 ± 3 days. The oscillation is stronger at higher and lower latitudes, and shows an anti-correlation between North and South. Some physical processes related to the lunar orbit of the Earth have been investigated. The monthly orbit of the moon causes a small movement of the earth towards and away from the sun. However, the fractional change in radiant energy seems to be too small to explain the effect (0.01 %). Another hypothesis is that there is some climatic effect caused by the monthly variation in tidal strengths. Possible systematic effects of the ECMWF data assimilation may also be involved.

The Figures below show the main results of the analysis.

References:

- /1/ A Study of Global Surface Temperature Data from ECMWF, 1982-1991, C. Best, JRC Tech. Note No.I.94.21
- /2/ Observation of a monthly variation in global surface temperature data, Clive H. Best, Geophys.Res.Lett., 21, 2369-2372, 1994.



Figure 2.26. a) Daily values of the global average temperature Tav from 1986 until 1991. It is calculated by integrating the surface values of surface values of temperature T from the ECMWF forecast data archive over the surface area. The diamonds show the resultant Tav for the whole globe, the triangles for the northern hemisphere and the squares for the southern hemisphere. The amplitude of the seasonal variation is high for the northern hemisphere, wich reflects the larger amount of land areas with a lower thermal capacity. The day to day variation is remarkably smooth with a variance of 0,05° K.

Figure 2.26. b) Yearly averaged values of Tav. A rise of about 0.5° K from 1986 until 1990 is seen for the northern hemisphere while little change is sees for the southern hemisphere. In 1991 a fall in temperature of about 0.4 und 0.2° K respectively is observed.

Figure 2.27.a) Residual Tav values for 1987 and 1988 after the seasonal fit has been subtracted from the data for the northern hemisphere. An oscillation with the time period of about 30 days is visible. For comparison, a cosine wave amplitude 0.2° K, whose crest coincide with the new moon is shown.

Figure 2.27. b) Residual Tav values for q987 and 1988 after the seasonal fit has been subtracted from the data for the southern hemisphere. A similar oscillation with a 30 day time period is evident. This oscillation tends to be out phase with the northern hemisphere.

Visualisation software development for Oceanographic Modelling

A 2-d visualisation program, 'HYDRA' /1,2/ for dis-

playing results of the ISPRAMIX hydrodynamic code has been completed for IST. This program has a flexible user interface allowing users to select a 2-d slice within a volume of

Ocean. The data is displayed as contour plots or colour coded images with shaded land. Velocity fields can be displayed with or without overlaid scalar colour fields. Time sequence selection of plots can be made together with an animation facility. In this way time development of a phenomena is viewed in a natural way. The animation can be interfaced with the Digital Video system described elsewhere in this report, and recorded to video tape.

A new true 3-d visualisation program, 'VOLUME' /3/ has been

developed in 1994. This program takes the full 3-d scalar fields defined within a volume of ocean, and displays the land topography together with visualisations of the scalar field. The user can select to view the field

Figure 2.28. A screen shot of the program 'VOLUME'. The user selects slices through the data in X,Y and Z by using a 'point and click' icon. The resultant image is displayed in one of 3 windows. The menu provides a flexible range of display options.

in combined slices, cut-outs or as an ISO-surface. Z-buffer techniques are used to allow the user to view the image from any direction. This software is a very convenient way to have an overview of 3-d model results, while HYDRA produces quantitative plots of 2-d sections. Animation of slices is included in VOLUME and allows to visualise the full 3-d field by scanning slices, cut-outs and ISO-surfaces through the full volume.

Some example images produced by 'VOLUME' are shown in *figures 2.28 and 2.29*. The data are temperature fields for the whole Atlantic.

Figure 2.29. A cut-out image showing 3-d temperature profiles for the Atlantic Ocean. The user selects the cut-out region and the scalar values are coloured according to the actual data values. The land topography is taken from the data and visualised in 3-d. The user can rotate the image and animate the cut-out so that it scans the full volume of data.

References

- /1/ HYDRA, Visualisation of 3-d Sea Modelling Calculations, D. Roebbelen, C. Best JRC Tech.Note No.1.94.125
- /2/ Pre- and post-processor informatics tools for regional computational oceanography, W. Schrimpf, C.Best, D.Roebbelen, S.Caruso, J.Devos, W. Eifler, W. Hammans, Proceedings Hydroinformatics '94, 1994 Balkema, Rotterdam.
- /3/ VOLUME 3-D Visualisation of Sea Modelling Calculations from Data Files, D.Roebbelen, C.Best, JRC Tech. Note to be published in 1995.

ENVIRONMENT/INDUSTRIAL HAZARDS

Plant Safety Management

STARS v.2 - Knowledge-Based Systems for Safety and Reliability Assessment

Building on the expertise gained from the STARS project (1989 - 1993) / 1/ and from the EUREKA project FORMENTOR /2,3/, the development of a new set of software tools - called STARS v.2 - for safety and reliability purposes was started. These tools take advantage of the methodologies and modelling techniques elaborated during the course of the two projects, as well as of existing software prototypes. The overall objective of this exercise is to integrate and enhance within a single environment the various existing paradigms for the representation of industrial complex systems. These representations support a large variety of activities related to the design, operation and management of industrial systems. Particular attention has been drawn by the use of such representations to derive RAMS (Reliability, Availability, Maintainability and Safety) results.

The STARS methodology and tools have been designed to offer:

Figura 2.30. STARS v.2. Knoniledge Base Editing Tool.

- a structured approach for system representation, improving consistency and traceability;
- full integration with knowledge and databases that can be used for capturing the general domain expertise of safety and reliability analysts;
- the possibility of incorporating system experience as well as knowledge and experience deriving from analyses of other systems;
- computer-based explicit documentation of the analysis, its underlying models and assumptions;
- a highly interactive and flexible environment for rapid creation and modification of the representations.

The STARS v.2 toolkit consists of the following tools.

- STAXED, Stars TAXonomy EDitor, is a general purpose graphical editor for hierarchically-structured knowledge bases (see Fig. 2.30). The user has access to a taxonomy browser for editing the structure of the knowledge base, to a taxonomy item editor for the definition of the components of the knowledge base, and to dedicated editors for editing individual attributes. Full inheritance of the attributes of the taxonomy items and mechanisms to override their values are provided. These attributes are classified into a number of pre-defined types, including complex

types such as graphical icon, production rule and spreadsheet.

XPLED, X Windows Plant Editor, is a computer-aided design editor for modelling complex plants for the purposes of risk assessment (see Fig. 2.31). This includes, for a given system, the construction of its structural and functional models, the management of these models, and their evaluation in terms of user-defined risk assessment criteria. The components of a model are instances of objects created and maintained by the STAXED package. Attributes can be inspected and modified by the user for further customisation in an individual model.

All these tools have been validated on case studies or through intensive test procedures /4,5/, and are available for immediate use on SUN Unix platforms and under PC-Windows on personal computers. Migration to other UNIX platforms (e.g. RS-6000 and Power PC) is planned by mid-95. It is to be noted that all the software packages have been developed according to professional software engineering practices, in C++ with the use of dedicated libraries for cross-platform interface development,. This strategy has led to robust and flexible software products of a quality similar to that of commercial packages.

Figure 2.31. STARS v.2. Plant and Fault Tree Editing Tool.

- XFTCON, X Fault Tree Constructor, is a software package for the semi-automatic construction of fault trees. The construction is based on the information available in the XPLED models. The construction is initiated by a top event expressed as an abnormal value of a physical variable at a specific location in a plant layout. The fault tree is constructed incrementally and displayed directly to the user who may interactively modify it.
- XFTED, X Fault Tree Editor, is a graphical editor for the creation and modification of fault trees *(see Fig. 2.31)*, such as the fault trees generated by XFTCON. Typical editing functions are available, such as modification of the structure and of the logic of the fault tree as well as of the reliability characteristics of the basic events. A powerful compress and transfer facility as well as zoom options enable the manipulation of large fault trees.
- XFTAN, X Fault Tree ANalyser, is a software package for the qualitative and quantitative analysis of fault trees generated by XFTED. The package covers minimal cut set determination, probabilistic analysis and boundary condition handling. Text file reporting and histogram representation are available. Temporal analysis of unavailability and the expected number of failures and their corresponding graphical representations are provided.

STARS v.2, and subsequent services based upon the system, have been the subject of a number of successful commercial activities in which the tools were tailored to specific user's needs for installation on site. One result of these activities has been the integration of STARS v.2 within existing industrial design environments, and its effective interface with existing CAD systems, as a privileged input stream for system representation and further RAMS studies.

Additional applications of STARS v.2 for the nuclear industry can be found in this Annual Report under the section on Reactor Safety.

Within ISEI, STARS v.2. has been used as a software backbone for a number of research activities. A brief description of these activities and of the schedule planned for the development of the related software tools are indicated hereafter.

- Extension of the modelling methodology to functional representations, and integration with the structural representation /6,7/. An independent functional model editor is already available. Full integration of the two representations will be available in a comprehensive plant editor by mid-95.
- Development of a Consequence Assessment Tool to model and analyse courses of undesired events. A number of consequence models have been developed, as well as the bases of a graphical interface to indicate the results of these models on the plant

layout. A "phenomenological event-tree" editor is under development to describe possible event scenarios, with particular attention paid to domino effects. A first stable version of the tool is expected by the end of 95.

- Development of an event tree editor and full integration within the fault-tree editor. An event tree editor is under development. Full integration is expected by the end of 95.
- Development of an FMEA (Failure Mode and Effect Analyses) editor and of algorithms based on the functional/structural representation for the semi-automatic completion of these tables. Full specifications of the algorithms are already available /8/; development of the tool is expected later this year.

References

- /1/ S. Sheer, "STARS Project: Generic Knowledge Management System and Plant Editor", Technical Note ISEI/IE/2727/94
- /2/ J.^P. Nordvik and M. Wilikens, "Functional Modelling for Real-Time Operator Advisory Systems: Application in Formentor", in Proc. of Computer Aided Ergonomics and Safety Symposium, Vol. 2. P. 395-397, Toronto Ca, 15-19 August 1994.
- /3/ J.P. Nordvik, N. Mitchison and M. Wilikens, "The Rale of Goal Tree - Success Tree Model in the Real-Time Supervision of Hazardous Plant", in Reliability Engineering and Systems Safety 44 (1994) 345-360.
- /4/ J.P. Nordvik, M. Dehn and A. Carpigano, "Application and Verification of STARS Methodology on a Nuclear Case-Study", ANS Transactions, vol 70, pp 230-23, 1994 Annual Meeting, New Orleans, US, 19-23 June 1994.
- /5/ M. Dehn, J.P. Nordvik, A. Poucet and A. Carpignano, "Comparison exercise of the STARS methodology on the Surrey NPP", Technical Note ISEI 2611/, January 1994.
- /6/ J.P. Nordvik, A. Carpignano and A. Poucet, "Computer-Based System Modelling for Reliability and Safety Analysis and Management", to be presented at the Annual Summer Meeting, embedded topical meeting on Computer-Based Human Support Systems: Technology, Methods and Future, Philodelphia, Pensylvania, June 25-29, 1995.
- /7/ J.P. Nordvik, A. Carpignano and A. Ponta, "An Integrated Approach for the Modelling of Complex Systems: Function, Structure, Behaviour", in Proc. Second. Int. Workshop on Functional Modelling, Lyngby, Denmark, 15-16 August 1993.
- /8/ A.Carpignano, A. Ponta and J.P. Nordvik, "Modelli Funzionali per Impianti Termoelettrici", Technical Note ISEI 2769/94, January 1994.

TOMHID - an Overall Knowledge-Based Methodology for Hazard Identification

An impartant part of safety analysis of a chemical plant is the identification of hazards. This task can be carried out at either the unit or plant level. Methods exist for hazard identification at the unit level, e.g. hazard and operability study (HAZOP) and failure mode and effect analysis (FMEA). For large chemical process plants, the effort required by these methods can be very extensive and it can be very difficult to establish a total risk survey for the plant. Furthermore, the emphasis of these methods is on identification of hazards closely related to the technical aspects of the plant and less on hazards related to the interaction between the plant equipment, the organisational structure and management factors.

The overall objective of the TOMHID project is to develop an overall methodology which can provide assistance and guidance to the user for high level hazard identification of different kinds of chemical process plants (batch reactor plants, continuous plants, mixed reactor plants).

The TOMHID project, sponsored by the CEC STEP research programme, was initiated in 1991 and ended in July 1994. The project was carried out by an international consortium: VTT (Technical Research Centre of Finland), The University of Sheffield (United Kingdom), SRD Division of AEA Consulting (United Kingdom), TRI-Tecsa (Italy), CIEMAT (Spain), Risoe National Laboratory (Denmark) and JRC.

Results from the project provide a comprehensive framework to represent a process plant as a socio-technical system. This framework includes technical, human and organisational aspects and is intended to be used as a first stage in an hazard identification process so as to identify critical areas and, consequently, the possible need for further analysis using existing methods. The final methodology consists of the following main elements:

- a functional description of the plant as a socio-technical system;
- high level hazard identification based on the Concept Hazard Analysis method (CHA);
- plant documentation comprising the functional plant models and the plant level hazard identification;
- evaluation of the safety impact of management factors on the identified hazard;
- software specification and implementation of the methods developed in TOMHID.

A specific analysis, called MIMIX, has been developed to investigate the impact of management factors on plant safety. The MIMIX analysis is performed on selected incident scenarios with the intention to identify critical areas and deficiencies in plant safety management. The general philosophy of MI/MIX is to apply an inductive or "bottom-up" approach starting from the events constituting the identified scenarios, assessing the managerial factors that might contribute to the occurrence of these events, and from there proceeding to more general managerial practices and principles assessing the overall Safety Management System. A dedicated paradigm for the Safety Management System has been developed /1/ and is depicted in *fig. 2.32*. A practical example of the application of the MI/MIX methodology in a Petrol-Chemical industry can be found in /2/.

References

- /1/ I.A. Papazoglou, Management Factors in Process Plant Safety: the TOMHID Approach, TN ISEI/ IE 2660/94.
- /2/ M. Bacchi, Application Of The MIMIX Methodology In A Petrol-Chemical Industry, TN ISEI/IE 2822/94.

The FORMENTOR project aims at developing real-time knowledge-based system software that offers on-line decision support to operators of complex plants who are faced with unusual and potentially hazardous situations /1,2/. The ultimate objective is to avoid major disturbances in a plant that could lead to any type of loss: loss of production, start-up costs related to shutdowns and in particular accident losses. As such, the scope can be categorised as "Total Loss Control" bearing in mind safety objectives as well as particular process objectives.

FORMENTOR is a project in the EUREKA program of co-operative international R&D projects (Eureka #19). The partners in the FORMENTOR Consortium are: the Institute for Systems Engineering and Informatics, Aerospatiale Protection Systems (F), Cap Gemini Innovation (F), Det Norske Veritas (N). British Petroleum was associated as application provider.

> The pilot development phase of the project ended during 1993. At the end of the pilot phase, the industrial development phase was carried out and its first year was completed in December 1994. Discussions are under way between the consortium and the relevant EUREKA authorities for extending the industrial phase in 1995. Also under discussion are ways for appropriately exploiting the results afterwards.

> The objective of the industrial phase is to allow the Formentor consortium to prepare itself properly for the development of fullscale industrial applications. The first such application was started at the beginning of 1994 for TOTAL, France, under the leadership of Cap Gemini. The aim is to develop a FORMENTOR system applied to a Catalytic Cracking unit of an oil refinery. Acceptance is planned for May 1995. ISEI has been attributed a particular task in this work which is

Figure 2.32. THOMID paradigm for a successful Safety Management System.

being executed under the Third Party Work (TPW) scheme.

Parallel to this industrial application development, other preparatory work was done along the following lines:

- A computer demo was developed for demonstrating the FORMENTOR methodological principles and functionalities applied to a sub-system (AFWS) of a nuclear plant (see Fig. 2.33) /4/;
- A FORMENTOR workshop was organised in Paris on 25th May 1994 which was attended by a hundred delegates mainly from industry;
- The possibilities of extending the FORMENTOR functionalities towards support of maintenance and safety management were investigated and positively acknowledged /3/.

In all the above activities, ISEI staff was directly involved. In addition, ISEI continued to provide the Technical Management for the project. Also, during 1994, ISEI acted as chairman of the Formentor Management Group.

Other activities performed within the consortium were mainly related to toolset packaging and integration, porting of the tools to C++, updating of the methodology handbook, development of a training package and performing a Return On Investment (ROI) analysis of FORMENTOR applications.

References

- /1/ The role of the Goal Tree Success Tree Model in the Real-Time Supervision of Hazardous Plant. J.P. Nordvik, N. Mitchison and M. Wilikens. Reliability Engineering and System Safety 44, pp 345-360, Elsevier Science Limited, 1994.
- /2/ FORMENTOR: Real-Time Operator Advisory System for Loss Control. Application to a Petro-Chemical plant. M.Wilikens, C.J. Burton (Hoskyns Group plc). To appear in International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics., Elsevier Science Publishers.

Figure 2.33. FORMENTOR: Auxiliary feedwater system.

- /3/ FORMENTOR: Overview of Potential Developments in the fields of Maintenance and Safety Management Support. M.Masera (SIGMA), M.Wilikens. Technical Note No. I.95.03, ISEI/IE 2842/95. Joint Research Centre, Ispra Site. Commission of the European Communities. January 1995.
- /4/ FORMENTOR: Nuclear Demo. Application to an Auxiliary Feedwater System. S. Scheer, M. Wilikens. Technical Note No. 1.94.149, ISEI/IE 2809/94. Joint Research Centre, Ispra Site. Commission of the European Communities. August 1994.

Environmental Management

Multi-Criteria Aid for Decision Making in Environmental Management

During the year 1994, a work was developed for the definition of a general framework for the setting up of a computer-based decision support system for the management of environmental resources. The work shows itself to be also a good background for ongoing work for third parties. In particular it represents the general outline of the POP Sicily Project A (Water Resources).

The system must allow even non-specialists easy access and efficient use of formal information treatment and management systems forming a consistent harmonisation of different models and databases which facilitate the planning and evaluation of alternative strategies in the management of environmental resources.

The system usually runs on a workstation equipped with a menu interface to communicate with the user and to connect together the various modules, models and data banks resident in the workstation itself.

A diagram which describes the general system architecture indicating its functional specifications may have general validity although referring specifically to decision problems concerning water resource management. Such a diagram may be represented by *Figure* 2.34.

In the general sense the component modules, each of which performs a specific task inside the system, are:

- the information system;
- the alternative action scenario definition and evaluation module;
- the decision module;
- the user interface.

Figure 2.34. DSS scheme.

Basically the user interacts with the user interface which interrogates the other modules and, if necessary, passes control of operations to them.

The system operating scheme follows the flow of information in and out of the various modules which form it. It is based on general system information contained in the first module, made up of different and differently structured databases: possibly a knowledge base for the use of expert systems and certainly a Geographical Information System (GIS). These data can be pre-processed and, when called up by the user, shown on the screen or printed on tables and graphs. The GIS, which in particular contains and pre-processes all the spatially referenced data, normally has its own menu interfaces which can integrate with the user interface.

Regarding the decision module, the goal of criteria comparison is performed using the user preferences structure. This is a fundamental task which is implemented by different multicriteria methods, which are the object of several studies /1/. See particularly the book on multi-criteria techniques applied to environmental management /2/. The engineering and implementation of a decision support system dealing with environmental issues is presented in /3/. The basic approach was also presented at the 40th European Working Group on Multi-Criteria Decision Aid (MCDA) /4/.

References

- /1/ Paruccini, M., Munda, G. "Scientific Tools to Support the Environmental Management" in S. Facchetti and D. Pitea (edts), Chemistry and Environment: Legislation, Methodologies and Applications, pp. 65/83, ECSC, EEC, EAEC, Kluwer. 1995
- /2/ Paruccini, M. (editor). "Applying Multiple Criteria Aid for Decision to Environmental Management" Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1994.
- /3/ Mendes, I. "The Engineering of a Decision Support System for Industrial Wastes Management", Report EUR 15886 EN. 1994
- /4/ Paruccini, M. Developing an Informatic Decision Support for the Management of Water resources at Regional Scale. Paper presented at the 40th European Working Group on MCDA. Paris, Oct. 6-7-1994.

Applications of Geographical Information Systems

The complexity of environmental problems and the large amounts of diverse data to be handled in their management calls for the development of systems that can perform analyses of differing types on spatially referenced data. This work emphasises the importance of integrating different tools, in particular Multi- Criteria Decision Aid (MCDA) and GIS, that work together providing structured and flexible capabilities to support those involved in environmental management. In order to gain acceptance in the decision making process, such tools must be presented to the user through a user-friendly interface.

The main contribution of this work has been to implement one MCDA technique (the reference paint method) directly within a GIS. It has been accomplished by re-using an existing code for the MCDA algorithm and building around it a user interface that facilitates the operability of the evaluation process. The user interface completely incorporates the MCDA evaluation algorithm within the GIS windowing system using windows and dialogue boxes having a look and feel consistent with the GIS environment.

The usage of the prototype for environmental management purposes has been illustrated by applying it to an example siting problem in Lombardy (Italy). Spatial analysis has been employed to build several relevant maps, each one representing the distribution of a spatial phenomenon pertinent to siting problems. Through screening of the region the areas suitable for development were identified. Five different sites were selected and evaluated by the MCDA module through five relevant criteria. An illustration of the user interface applied to this example is given in the *Figure 2.35* which presents an example of evaluation of five site alternatives.

An application to lake eutrophication is developed with reference to the Irish lake Lough Sheelin which was once considered to be one of the finest angling lakes in Europe. The work /1/ resulted in the identification of the requirements for an improved, comprehensive, geographical information system for the catchment area including detailed information on agricultural activities and improved topographic and soil data. It also made several recommendations for management initiatives which are urgently required.

References

/1/ ONeill, E.R. The Development and Application of a Geographic Information System for the Management of a Eutrophic Lake in Ireland. Special Publication No. 1.94.48 ISEI/IE/ 2796/94. 1994.

Figure 2.35. Example of evaluation of five site alternatives.

Generating Alternative Routes Uusing Genetic Algorithms and Multi-Criteria Decision Methods Within a GIS

Genetic Algorithms (GAs) have been applied to generate alternative sites for locating facilities described by points /1/2/. The present work described here extends the application of GA's to location of facilities described by routes.

In this study, a route is considered as a concatenation of points since it must be evaluated at all traversal points according to the chosen criteria mapped into raster layers. In this way the loss of information can be minimised compared with procedures where it has to be aggregated in order to reduce complexity. However, the codification of such a chain as a concatenation of single co-ordinates would lead to computational inefficiency.

Figure 2.36 illustrates the way routes are codified into bit strings. For a speed (average speed) of 120 km/h the number of bits in the string is 22 per tuple. The routes are codified as n-tuples (genes) of 6 parameters: a rectilinear extension, a sign of deflection and an angle of deflection, a curvature radius, a minimum curve extension and a sign of curvature. The analysis of these tuples is referred to the starting point and to the end of the route. The length, and therefore the number of traversal cells of the candidate path, may vary, i. e. the specification.

of routes will vary according to the path's length which is determined by the values of the extension parameters of both the linear stretch and the curve. The decodified route consists of a sequence of the longitudinal path's geometric elements: a linear stretch followed by a transition curve (clothoide), a circular curve and another transition curve. The *plotting* of these elements on the terrain gives the set of cells that the route traverses. In this way the route can be assessed on its technical characteristics as well as on its *geo-referenced* characteristics.

A simulation of a motor-way location problem between two target points is tested using environmental criteria and the technical parameters specified to such facilities in the Portuguese Standards for building motor-ways and main roads. The roads are designed according to the longitudinal path and the transversal path. *Table 1* summarises the suitable values for the technical parameters for motor ways' longitudinal paths.

Figure 2.36. Codification of the ruote parameters using GA's.

speed basis	rectilinear	alignment	circular
km/h	maximum extension (m)	minimum extension (m)	minim. curvature radius (m)
120	2400	720	1000
130	2600	780	1200
140	2800	840	1400

Table 1 - Geometric elements and parameters of the path. Adapted from Portuguese Standars NP*91.

For the string length it was assumed that the total length of the route could not exceed twice the rectilinear distance between the two target points and so the string will vary accordingly. Of course, this gives the rise to different string lengths.

A vector of criteria scores is assigned to each route. The aggregation of these scores is made as described earlier in this paper. Within the population all routes are compared to each others for all criteria, resulting in a *strength* measure Φ . Each of the routes in the current population, is therefore set to survive or to be replaced in the following generation. Selection is carried out as described in the earlier section. Although a sharing technique is applied for simultaneous evaluation of different peaks, it is an adopted elitist strategy that preserves the fitter individuals.

The concept of *hybrid individual* is used together with its inherent feature of being *sterile*. If an offspring route does not attain a set of initial technical conditions it is classified as *hybrid* and therefore cannot be reproduced in the following generation. This set of conditions is related to the feasibility of the route, namely to the length of the route and to the coherence of the gene sequence. This is an implementation of *veto* thresholds inherent to *outranking* methods. Crossover and mutation are applied according to the simpler model of GA's. The crossover mechanism is one point-crossover and it is done only for the separation points of tuples. This mechanism has been found to be less disruptive than when the crossover point is chosen at random over the whole chromosome.

References

/2/ A. Guimarães Pereira, G. Munda, and M. Paruccini. Generating Alternatives for Siting Facilities Using Genetic Algorithms and Multiple Criteria Decision Techniques. Presented at the 2nd DDSS Conference in Vaals, Holland, 15-19 August 1994.

Risk and Environmental Management of Transport of Dangerous Goods

The transport of dangerous goods in restricted waters, coastal waters and open sea has been studied. An analysis of accident frequencies /1/ has shown approximately 0.009 - 0.07 total losses per 10^6 ship mile, 0.03 - 1 casualties per 10^6 ship mile, and 0.5 - 13 accident/incident per 10^6 ship mile. The frequencies were found to depend on visibility, brightness, geographical environment, age of vessel, and size of vessel. Further the human consequences were studied in terms of fatalities /2/. It was found that fatality curves for marine transport have a different shape than those for other transport modes (figure 2.37).

The figure shows that marine accidents have a relatively higher frequency of accidents with 10 to 50 fatalities, corresponding to the number of crew members on one or two ships. Accidents from marine transport of dangerous goods leading to more than 100 fatalities have so far been collisions between oil tankers and ferries (if excluding cargo transfer accidents). A study of the environmental consequences from marine accidents

Figure 2.37. Frequency-fatality curves for water and land transport of dangerous goods.

^{/1/} Guimarães Pereira, A, Peckham, R., Antunes, P., "GENET: a Method to Generate Alternative Sites using Genetic Algorithms, in Proceedings of the EGIS'93". Genova, 29 March-1 April 1994.

has been initiated. Further a study of accidents on inland waterways has been initiated on the basis of 2880 descriptions of accidents occurring on the Dutch inland waterways. These data were obtained from the Ministry of Transport, Public Works and Water Management in Holland.

References

- /1/ Rømer, H., Styhr Petersen, H.J., and Haastrup, P. Marine Accident Frequencies - Review and Recent Empirical Results, *Journal* of Navigation, accepted for publication in September 1995.
- /2/ Rømer, H., Styhr Petersen, H.J., and Haastrup, P. "Accidents during marine transport of dangerous goods. Distribution of fatalities", *Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries*, Vol. 8 (1), 29-34. 1995

Post-Normal Science and Environmental Issues

During 1994 work has continue in the research and development of Post-Normal Science and decision-making in the context of complexity /1/2/3/.

A new activity was initiated in the area of Integrated Environmental Assessment in collaboration with DG XII-D5. Integrated Assessment (IA) approaches synthesise knowledge and information from a wide range of sources, aspects and perspectives with the aim of a better understanding of the system and of providing decision-makers with alternative options for action. RAINS and CASM are examples of the modelling modules of such policy tools.

This activity builds on the IA capabilities of the sector, complementing the already existing expertise in the methodological and socio-economic aspects of environmental issues.

Another new research line deals with international bargaining processes in environmental issues. The research aims to define some structural features that would set the basis for the description of a typology of environmental problems and the relative typology of solutions. This is done taking into account the links between the different dimensions of environmental issues according to the post-normal science approach for complex problems. The empirical part of the research focuses on airpollution in some European countries. The purpose of this research is to analyse the international bargaining process in relation to environmental problems, in order to define a sort of taxonomy of critical attributes to be used as a support tool for decision making in environmental policy. The expected result of this research will be a set of rules based on past experience together with the conceptual analysis. These rules may help in the definition of new agreements, or in forecasting the eventual outcome of ongoing agreement processes.

International negotiations on environmental problems are necessary since these problems are in most cases characterised by a transboundary nature. Thus, a single country may not have under its own control the key means to solve the problem that affects its environment. For instance, the acid rain problem illustrates the type of transboundary issue that cannot be solved without international co-operation.

Another reason for international discussion is the absence of markets for environmental resources. The lack of clearly defined property rights over such finite resources leads to their over-consumption. Economic instruments such as marketable pollution permits, taxes or subsidies to give incentive to specific activities, are insufficient to reach the goal of protecting the environment against free-rider behaviour or over-use of the common resource. Other rules schould be set to complement economic tools, rules based not only on formal regulations such as international law but also on a collective learning leading to new attitudes and perceptions shaping a new type of society /4/.

References

- /1/ Funtowicz, S. & Ravetz, J.R.. "Emergent Complex Systems" Futures, 26:6, 568-582. 1994
 French translation: La Science Post-Normale et les Systèmes Complexes Emergents, Revue Internationale du Systémique, in press. 1995
- /2/ Funtowicz, S. & Ravetz, J.R. "The Worth of a Songbird: Ecological Economics as a Post-normal Science", Ecological Economics, 10:3, 197-207. 1994
- /3/ Funtowicz, S. & Ravetz, J.R. "Uncertainty, Complexity and Postnormal Science", Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 13:12, 1881-1885. 1994
- /4/ Castells, N.."A view of Spanish policy on greenhouse gases and sulphur dioxide". Communication at the Second International Conference on "Implications and Applications of Bioeconomics", Dragan European Foundation, Palma de Mallorca, March 11-13, 1994.

Safety Critical Computer Systems

There is an increasing number of situations where we depend on computer-based technology to control and manage the functions of complex and safety critical systems. The term dependability encompasses more specific notions like:

- safety where we protect human life, property and the environment;
- reliability, availability where we need to ensure the continuity of valuable system functions.

As a result, there is a need for theoretically sound but practical methods and tools to aid in the successful deployment of highly dependable systems with embedded computer-based components. The SCCS work performed by ISEI undertakes research related to methods for the development and assessment of such systems.

The work executed in 1994 was targeted at specific research topics and the launch of a number of related activities that will possibly form the basis of the JRC contribution to the 95/98 Framework Programme in the field of SCCS and to the support of the Information Technology line.

Since safety-critical uses of computer systems are embedded in multi-disciplinary engineering systems, it is essential to take a broad "systems approach" to the analysis of specific SCCS issues. The work performed builds on the Institute's existing strengths in systems and safety engineering and combines this expertise with software engineering aspects.

The first activity's primary aim is to gain an understanding of the complete lifecycle process of engineering highly dependable computer-based systems, from requirements analysis and design through construction to implementation and testing. In addition we tried to achieve an understanding of the failure mechanisms of software-based systems. Modelling these issues eventually allows to analyse and compare the dependability properties of different development methods. This is supported by the following sub-activities:

Data collection and analysis of system incidents related to computer software/hardware failures. This work resulted in the development of a measurement framework and the definition of software failure concepts. Field studies on a limited set of currently available data was undertaken to validate the framework /4/;

- A case study aimed at gaining experience in the application of particular software engineering standards and techniques and at evaluating their appropriateness. The case study is related to the in-house development of the safety critical control software for a robot system (ROBERTINO). The work also allowed the study of particular safety aspects related to Robotics/5.6.7.8/.
- Requirements engineering or the identification of methods for capturing, specifying and analysing requirements for computer-bosed systems, in particular dependability requirements. In a first phase, a theoretical study investigates the possibilities of using goal-based modelling approaches for capturing and representing dependability requirements /6/.

A second activity involves developing of methods and tools for allowing safety assessment of industrial systems with embedded software components. The system integration aspects are explicitly considered and will take into account possible system malfunctions originating from software and hardware and will analyse the impact of these malfunctions on the safety of the global system. Classical system safety analysis techniques like fault-tree analysis or FMEA, and their adaptation to the assessment of software systems and integrated systems, will be considered and evaluated. Tools that support such analysis will also be considered, taking into account knowledge-based approaches /2/. The work includes state-of-the-art exploration in the field of software assessment methods.

Finally, a contribution is made to the solution of an important problem related to the engineering of knowledge-based systems (KBS) deployed in safety critical applications /1/. Indeed, a pre-requisite to the successful industrial deployment of such software systems is the assurance of their quality aspects. This work capitalises on the internal expertise in KBS development to respond to a specific technological need. In a first phase, the state-of-the-art was studied. The main problems together with approaches for verification and validation of software systems based on knowledge-based technologies were identified. This pointed out the direction for future action in this field /3/.

A working relationship was set up with the customer DG (Directorate General for Industry, Directorate F: Information Technologies, DG III/F) of the European Commission in the framework of the Institutional Support to be provided under the framework programme 1995-1998. This support work will provide services and assistance to DG III related to the dependability aspects of Information Technologies.

References

- /1/ Software Quality Assessment: Some advantages with knowledge-based systems. J.P. Laurent, M. Wilikens. The Journal of Knowledge Engineering. Volume 7, Number 2, 1994, pp 85-91. The Systemware Corporation.
- /2/ Using knowledge based systems for RAMS analysis and on-line operator support of nuclear power plants. S.Scheer, M.Wilikens. In IAEA -TECDOC-769, Current practices and future trends in expert system developments for use in the nuclear industry. International Atomic Energy Agency, October 1994.
- /3/ Specific Aspects of Knowledge Based Systems related to Software Quality Assessment. J.P. Laurent (Visiting Scientist), M. Wilikens. Technical Note No. 1.94.131, ISEI/IE 2785/94. Joint Research Centre, Ispra Site. Commission of the European Communities. August 1994
- /4/ Dependability Measurement of Safety Critical Computer Systems. T. Jackson, J. McDermid, I.Wand (University of York), M. Wilikens. Technical Note No. 1.94.116, ISEI/IE 2776/ 94. Joint Research Centre, Ispra Site. Commission of the European Communities. August 1994.
- /5/ Reliability and Safety of Robotics: Aspects related to Remote handling. Part1: System Safety Analysis and Software Safety Requirements for a Remote Handling Device. T. Maier, M. Wilikens. Technical Note No. 1.94.130, ISEI/IE 2784/94. Joint Research Centre, Ispra Site. Commission of the European Communities. August 1994.
- /6/ User Requirements Document for the Robertino Control System Software. E.Ruiz Morales. Technical Note No. 1.94.159, ISEI/IE 2828/94. Joint Research Centre, Ispra Site. Commission of the European Communities. December 1994.
- /7/ Software Requirements Document for the Robertino Control System Software. E.Ruiz Morales. Technical Note No. I.94.161, ISEI/IE 2826/94. Joint Research Centre, Ispra Site. Commission of the European Communities. December 1994.
- /8/ Acceptance Test Specification for the NAC-RCS Software developed by ERXA. E.Ruiz Morales. Technical Note No. I.94.162, ISEI/IE 2825/94. Joint Research Centre, Ispra Site. Commission of the European Communities. December 1994.

FISSION REACTOR SAFETY

The 1994 effort was focused on the launching of a project for the development of a set of integrated software programmes for Nuclear Power Plant (NPP) probabilistic safety assessment and management, based on the STARS structure and living PSA concepts (set named PSA-STARS). The goal has been to develop a tool for the performance of a PSA of an NPP in an integrated and computer assisted way and for assisting the operator in safety monitoring and control over plant life.

PSA STARS project should also take benefit from other advanced techniques such as dynamic event trees and man-machine interaction modelling which could be incorporated in it as a long-term result. The PSA-STARS project was intended to be carried out on a multi-annual scale, in co-operation with national safety authorities, research institutes and nuclear industry, with the aim of creating a consensus by safety authorities, research institutes and nuclear industry on its recognition as a PSA standard at the European level.

As a result of the approval of the 1995-1998 framework programme, the ISEI activity on PSA has been reoriented towards the severe accident-probabilistic studies, aiming at harmonising risk assessment methods by benchmarking different approaches and by networking national researches on critical PSA issues. As a result of this re-orientation, the PSA-STARS project will be, in 1995, no longer funded as direct research.

The research activities developed in 1994, together with the collaborations and study contracts established, are detailed in the following sections:

- PSA-STARS project;
- Man-Machine Interaction and Dynamic Reliability Studies;
- Feedback from Operating Experience and Data Analysis;
- Structural Reliability.

PSA/STARS

The Software Tool for the Analysis of Reliability and Safety, STARS, is an informatic environment for the automatic generation of Fault Trees and their qualitative and quantitative analysis. STARS exploits the leading characteristic of a KB system: it keeps a sharp separation between the KB, containing facts and rules, and the control strategy expressed in an inferential engine. As it was conceived, STARS main field of application was that of chemical process plants, and its adaptation to the nuclear domain was attempted in preliminary applications during 1993. In 1994 the STARS tool was extensively applied in the analysis of nuclear safety systems to constitute the basis for the development of the PSA/STARS project aiming at extending STARS capabilities beyond the Fault Tree analysis.

A number of international collaborations were activated or foreseen to carry out the project. In particular, an ongoing collaboration with TÜV (Technischer Überwachungs-Verein) has been established to assess STARS capabilities for treating nuclear systems, with the aim to first validate the STARS fault tree analyser and then the fault tree builder. Collaborations have also been established with Politecnico di Torino and Universita di Bologna.

The in-house research concentrated on the problem of handling, within STARS, dependencies and Common Cause of Failures. Indeed, nuclear safety systems are typically redundant: proper treatment of dependencies is at the basis of a correct system analysis and, if not correctly performed, can invalidate a whole PSA study.

The proper treatment of dependencies arising in an NPP is seen in the frame of a suitable modelling of the components. A preliminary methodology for the identification of implicit and explicit dependencies and their modelling at the component level has been developed and applied as a framework to build component models for the STARS KB. The information concerning the function of a component, its boundaries, its states and its failure modes is synthesised in a set of tables from which the rules used in STARS to model de-

pendencies can be simply derived. In this way it was possible to derive a knowledge-base of components suitable for modelling the main dependencies arising in NPP.

In *Figure 2.38* the model of one of the four redundant trains of the Grohnde PWR NPP is reported. The model is obtained with the new KB permitting the treatment of dependencies, indicated as connections among components represented by a dashed line. The Grohnde plant was selected for the study, being in the past the subject of a number of Reliability Benchmark Exercises organised by ISEI.

The generalisation of the concept of dependence also permits the covering, to a certain extent, the case of CCF: in this case the different combinations of failed components are coupled to a dependency generator responsible for the simultaneous failing of all the components belonging to the same common cause component group (*Fig. 2.39*).

Man-Machine Interaction and Dynamic Reliability Studies

The activity on dynamic reliability studies and Man-Machine Interaction in general has been performed in synergy with corresponding activities in Working Environment research. The code DYLAM-TRETA, jointly developed by JRC-ISEI and Consejo de Seguridad Nuclear, has been applied to a dynamic reliability analysis of a PWR in the case of a Steam Generator Tube Rupture initiating event /3/. The study has included the implementation of emergency and operational procedures. A number of deterministic dynamic event trees (*Figure*

Figure 2.38. STARS model of the Grohnde AFWS with the new Knowledge Base. Dashed lines indicate connections due to physical and spatial dependencies.

Figure 2.39. STARS model of a system with three parallel identical components subject to Common Cause Failures (CCF). CCF generators are associated to all combinations of component failure. Dashed lines indicate connections due to common cause of failures.

2.40) have been obtained, describing the effects of the component failures as trajectories in the risk plane, in which consequences are plotted versus the probability of the sequence.

The DYLAM approach has been interpreted in the frame of a MonteCarlo simulation: it has been shown that DYLAMs way of handling stochastic transitions can be regarded as an extremely biased MonteCarlo in which instead of the true failure probability density functions, proper Dirac delta functions are used; this implies that the cumulative distributions turn out to be step functions. In this way, the so-called forced collision variance reduction technique is applied in a very strong manner. Indeed the stochastic feature of MonteCarlo is practically lost at this point, with the advantage of a consistent reduction of the number of histories.

Figure 2.40. Deterministic Dynamic Event Tree (DDET) for the first 30 minutes of Transient in the case of a SGTR initiating event (Izquierdo et. al. 1994). RAM=Radiation Alarm Monitor, SDCS=Steam Dump Control System, PZR=Pressurizer.

The Human Error Reliability Methodology for Event Sequences (HERMES), especially designed for dynamic reliability analysis of man-machine systems, has been further worked out and described in a comprehensive document. The study first outlines the relations existing between safety and human factors. HERMES is then described in detail, together with its practical application to the human reliability analysis of the operation of the AFWS system of a 1300 MWe of French type. An extensive dynamic reliability analysis, performed with DYLAM, according to HERMES methodology, has then been compared with an analysis performed using the classic THERP method.

References

- /1/ Cacciabue P.C., (1994), Affidabilita Dinamica e Fattari Umani in Sistemi Nucleari, European Commission, JRC, EUR 15988 IT.
- /2/ Cojazzi G., Sardella R., Trambetti T., Vestrucci P., (1994), Assessing DYLAM Methodology in the Frame of Montecarlo Simulation, Proc. Probabilistic Safety Assessment and Management Conference, PSAM II, March 20-24 1994, San Diego, Ca, USA. ISEI/IE 2578/93.
- /3/ Izquierdo Rocha J.M, Sanchez-Perea M., Cojazzi G., (1994), IV Topical Meeting on Nuclear Technology Operations and Safety. April 5-8, 1994, Hsin-Hua, Taiwan.
- /4/ Mauri G., (1994), Le Dipendenze e i Guasti da Causa Comune nella Analisi di Affidabilita di un Impianto Complesso: Applicazione ad un Sistema di Sicurezza di un PWR. Graduation thesis in Nuclear Engineering, Politecnico di Milano, AA 1193-1994.

Data Analysis of Operational Experience

Data Analysis

Research and application work for the data analysis requirements of the Reactor Safety Program has continued throughout 1994 and focused on three problems:

- estimation for data books;
- updating estimated failure rates from operating experience;
- sampling from large reliability databases for estimation and testing.

The two estimation problems above have been addressed in the context of the model of population heterogeneity which allows components to have different failure rates. The assessment of our work on the first problem above has developed in a bottom-up collaboration with researchers of the DER/REME group of EdF. This collaboration produced /1/, an updated joint publication which is anticipated to serve the needs of the European industry in safety and availability studies. A repertoire of prior (population) distributions for failure rates have been used for the estimation of population failure rates for components operating in petrochemical plants /2/. Work on a non-parametric empirical Bayes estimation for living PSAs accounting for model uncertainty in the distribution of component failure rates has been presented in /3/.

Data book taxonomies and validation of data stored in large databases have been proposed and implemented by "Intelligent Selections". Their automation via information theory concepts has been a graduation thesis topic /4/.

Seed research in stochastic modelling for system availability and reliability solving systems of integral equations based on the renewal argument has been presented to a wide audience of researchers in industry /5/. It was well received and it is the topic of a starting collaboration with the department of statistical sciences of the University of Padova (I).

Development of an Improved Version of CEDB for PCs In the framework of a collaboration contract with ENEL/CRAM (the Research Centre for Environment and Materials of ENEL, the Italian Company for electricity production and distribution), a CEDB version of CEDB for PCs has been developed. The CEDB is the Component Event Data Bank developed by the JRC for an Amdahl main frame which operated at the JRC until 1992. The first version of CEDB running on a PC was developed in DB III/CLIPPER. It has the same features as the CEDB operated for Amdahl. The study of the improved version has been started. The envisaged improvements consist of:

- a more complete description of the failure event, and of the repair action;
- a more ample description of the operational characteristics of the component observed
- the insertion of a maintenance report form, to enable the description of preventive maintenance actions.

Maintenance of Various Databases Related to NPP Safety and Reliability

The following databases are available and can be interrogated by the members of JRC staff:

- Incident Reporting System (IRS by OECD);
- Power Reactor Information System (MicroPRIS by IAEA).

References

- /1/ Procaccia, H. Aufort, P. and Arsenis, S. P. (1995), "European Industry Reliability Data Bank Data EIREDA", preface by G. Volta, SFER, Paris.
- /2/ Arsenis, S. P., Bevilacqua, M., and Giacchetta, G. (1994). "Analisi Statistica dei Dati di Affidabilita' di Componenti di Impianti di Raffineria," in Atti di XXI Convegno ANIMP, Milano.
- /3/ Arsenis, S. P. (1994), "On the Estimation of Failure Rates for Living PSA's and in the Presence of Model Uncertainty," in Model Uncertainty: Its Characterizatian and Quantification, eds. A.

Mosleh, N. Siu, C. Smidts and C. Lui, NUREG/CP-0138.

- /4/ De Amicis, F. (1994). "Uso dell' entropia per il trattamento della multidimentionalità con particolare riferimento alle banche dati di affidabilita", ISEI/IE 2758/94.
- /5/ Arsenis, S. P. (1994), "On the Reliability and Availability of Systems of Parallel Components Active, Standby and in Corrective or Preventive Mointenance," in Proceedings of the ESRe DA-EdF Seminar on Maintenance and System Effectiveness, ed.J. Flamm, S.P.I.93.13.

Structural Reliability

Pressurized Thermal Shock experimentation on a 1/5 scale model of a PVVR pressure vessel has been completed with the destructive examination of the vessel and the experimental corroboration of theoretical prediction.

The analytical tools for fatigue damage estimation, failure probability and structural reliability evaluation have been subjected to further testing and given a more userfriendly shape.

A complete review and reporting on the activities carried out at JRC in the field of structural reliability assessment and life-time prediction of the components of the Primary Circuit of PWRs has been performed by an independent body (MPA-Stuttgart) /1/. The relevant report pinpoints the synergistic effect obtained by:

- coupling of the two bench-mark exercises (on Structural Reliability and on Non Destructive Inspection methods);
- matching of results of destructive and non-destructive testing;
- matching of results of destructive testing and prediction models;
- combination of probabilistic FCG model results and experimental evidence.

Among the different topics dealt with and the suggestions given in the conclusion, the report highlights the adequacy of the existing experimental installation (PV long running tests and Pressurised Thermal Shocks) for studies on ageing of structures and corrosion or corrosion-related cracking.

References

/1/ Jovanovic, A.S. Review of JRC activities in the area of structural reliability and life-time prediction of the primary circuit of PWRs, Contract No. 10071-94-02 F1ED ISP D, Final Report.

FISSION SAFEGUARDS

Mobile Robotics for the Remote Verification of Fissile Materials

The objective of this project is to apply mobile robotics technologies to the remote verification of advanced storage areas of difficult access to inspectors. The system consists of two main components: a vehicle carrying a manipulator arm and sensors on board, and the system operator console. Considering the application area, particular emphasis has been given to nuclear safeguard considerations as well as to the user interface.

The system hardware architecture was already thoroughly tested in 1993 /1/. The kernel of the software architecture is the communications server /2/ providing modularity at the system level, rationalising data traffic between the system operator console and the remote platform, and ensuring embedded security and safety. Major modifications were introduced in the communications server to improve its modularity and flexibility. It is now possible to change without much effort the communications server and have it tailored to a specific hardware configuration.

Figure 2.41 shows the mobile robot configured for a remote surveillance application with on-board sensors (TV cameras, laser range finder and ultrasonic sensors), and associated equipment, i.e. computer controlled pan-and-tilt-units and motorised zoom and focus lenses.

Manipulator Arm Control

A six degrees of freedom manipulator arm can be installed on top of the mobile platform. Its role is to assist the system operator in remote verification tasks. The human-computer interface for the manipulator arm was developed in previous work /3/. Recent work aimed at the investigation of semi-autonomous aids to relieve the operator from continuous manual control. Semi-autonomous operation is necessarily based on the interpretation of data from the on-board sensors, in this case, visual data from the TV cameras. The specific problem being studied is whether it is possible to use the visual data to make the manipulator arm touch a particular point, say, a switch specified by the operator.

Figure 2.41. Remote verification robot equipped with TV cameras (with motorised zoom and focus lenses), laser range finder, ultrasonic sensors and computer controlled pan-and-tilt units.

The system operator looks at the live display of video images from a surveillance camera, and selects the switch to be pressed by clicking its image on the screen. A projective geometry analysis of the switch image provides a first estimate of the distance to the switch (typically less than 3 m), as well as its pose, i.e. the orientation angle in respect to the robot. The mobile robot then manoeuvres so that the manipulator arm faces the switch. A second image is analysed, and a new distance and pose are computed. The mobile robot starts a second manoeuvre and gets the manipulator arm close to the switch, i.e., less than 15 cm. At this point, the vision servo control switches to a docking camera installed on the manipulator arm near the end-effector. The arm (and camera) initiates a circular motion in order to "see" the switch from different po-

Figure 2.42. Vision-Based Control of the Manipulator Arm: The endeffector autonomously approaches a switch with its wrist already in position to press.

sitions, and consequently compute more accurate distance and pose estimates. Once this procedure ends, the arm's wrist rotates in order to be perpendicular to the switch. The arm then moves and the switch is pressed. *Figure 2.42* shows the manipulator arm getting closer to the switch with the wrist already in position. tive remote surveillance system. This system is composed of:

- TV cameras, equipped with
- computer controlled motorised zoom and focus lenses, mounted on
- computer controlled pan-and-tilt units;
- human-computer interface.

The system was designed either to be part of a fixed surveillance installation, or to be aboard a mobile robot for remote verification purposes. Most of the system's capabilities stem from the human-computer interface, which allows the operator to have full control over the remote equipment. The human-computer interface integrates /4/ different functionalities onto the workstation screen:

- gaze control (i.e. pan-and-tilt orientation, and zoom and focus settings);
- camera control (i.e. image size, brightness, contrast, etc.) and
- display of live images from the surveillance cameras.

Interactive Remote Surveillance

The mobile robot can be configured as an interac-

Figure 2.43 shows the interactive human-computer interface for controlling the remote surveillance system.

Figure 2.43. Remote Surveillance System: Human-Computer Interface allowing for full interactive control of TV cameras, pan-and-tilt units and motorised lenses.

Vehicle Navigation

In previous work several graphical tools were developed for steering and manoeuvring the mobile robot /5/. Those tools served the purpose of steering the robot under operator control, but did not constitute a complete architecture for navigation. To achieve this navigational architecture, the following functions, as well as the corresponding execution times, should to be considered:

- Path Planning, i.e., defines globally the path to take;
- Path Follower, i.e., makes sure that the robot follows a pre-defined path;
- Local Navigation, i.e., steers the robot taking into account its position, its next goal, and the free space around the vehicle;
- Robot Localisation, i.e., determines the robot's position and orientation in respect to an external co-ordinate framework.

Figure 2.44 shows a proposal for the navigational architecture to be implemented. This architecture is modular and can be used in different operation modes,

i.e. fully manual, semi-automated and autonomous. Low level reactive (behavioural) modules can be easily incorporated into the architecture.

Such a behavioural module is the local navigator. This module is based on the real-time computation of perception maps (updated 3 times per second) /6/ of the free space around the vehicle. A neural network is used to exploit the spatial redundancy of the ultrasonic sensors around the vehicle and to map range data into the perception maps.

The local navigator analyses the perception map according to a given strategy (programmed by the path follower module) and generates the low level motion commands to steer the vehicle. *Figure 2.45* shows

Figure 2.44. Proposed Architecture for Vehicle Navigation.

the simulated trajectory taken by the mobile robot when programmed to move in a direction where more free space (as measured by the perception maps) was available.

References

- /1/ Gonçalves J.G.M., Campos G., Santos V., Sequeira V., Silva F. - "Mobile Robotics for the Surveillance of Fissile Materials Storage Areas: Sensors and Data Fusion", in "Data Fusion Applications" (S.Pfleger, J.G.M.Gonçalves, D.Vernon eds.), pp. 214-245, Springer Verlag, 1993.
- /2/ Sequeira V.A., Gonçalves J.G.M. "Communications Server for a Mobile Robotic System", JRC Technical Note No. 1.93.131, October 1993.
- /3/ Silva F., Gonçalves J.G.M. "Human Computer Interface for the Tele-Operation of a Manipulator Arm", JRC Technical Note No. 1.93.129, September 1993.

event. The intelligent camera can execute this function locally and transmit the digital video picture to the host computer. This year the work focused on the development of the communication software between the intelligent camera and host computer, the image acquisition triggered by an external digital sensor and the storing of a sequence of images in the camera framestore. The software development is carried out on a PC-based development system and down-loaded to the camera microprocessor.

Sealing and Identification Techniques

The effort, started in 1993, for the rationalization of the software used for the identification of ultrasonic sealing-bolts has been con-

Figure 2.45. Simulated trajectory of a mobile robot when moving in the direction of available free space.

- /4/ Nunes J.J., Gonçalves J.G.M. "An Interactive Mobile Surveillance System", JRC Technical Note No. I.94.164, December 1994.
- /5/ Sequeira V.A., Gonçalves J.G.M. "Control and Navigation of a Mobile Robo", JRC Technical Note No. 1.93. 137, September 1993.
- /6/ Santos V., Gonçalves J.G.M., Vaz F. "Perception Maps for the Local Navigation of a Mobile Robot: a Neural Network Approach", Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation, vol. 3, pp.2193-2198, San Diego, May 8-13, 1994.

Intelligent surveillance Camera

A new family of miniature vision systems is commercially available for machine vision inspection. Such a system contains an image sensor, framestore, microprocessor and external input/output. For time-critical applications a digital signal processing (DSP) card can be added. The integrated architecture enables a small size, similar to a conventional surveillance camera. The project consists in developing the application software for surveillance requirements in safeguards and testing the performances.

One function required in unattended surveillance is the capture of video pictures during a safeguards relevant

tinued. This work implied taking into account the experience gained on sites such as the BNFL facility of Sellafield (UK) with spent fuel containers (MEB) and updating the software associated with the actual operating equipment. In the longer term, this development has been planned in four phases: i) updating the existing software without changing the operating hardware; ii) upgrading the software towards more modern language; iii) replacing the current ultrasonic reading instrument by making use of a more compact and recent technology; iv) developing a database system allowing the correct handling of data to prepare and store all inspection related information necessary to HQ and inspectors.

The main effort has been focussed on the software development and on the ultrasonic hardware evaluation, so that by the end of 1994 phases i) and ii) were completed and phases iii) and iv) were at about 60%.

In 1994, an important work topic was the development of systematic methods and relative software to verify the interchangeability of various elements in our technology, in order to assure the continuity of the measurement and verification of all existing sealing-bolts signatures when the reading equipment is or will be upgraded. Such comparison methods were successfully applied to check the interchangeability of new ultrasonic boards and to verify software, new transducers and new reading heads.

The general study launched on a sealing-bolt system suitable for dry transport/storage containers has been continued. JRC-lspra has been approached by IAEA, EDF and EURATOM Safeguards Directorate for a preliminary evaluation of the suitability of such a system for several kinds of storages.

A support has been given to DG XII in order to prepare and to man a stand at the International ENC 94 exhibition in Lyons in October 1994. Interest for the JRC ultrasonic sealing system was expressed by several companies, among which EDF for a possible adoption in its future spent fuel storages.

References

/1/ B.C. d'Agraives, J. Toornvliet, P. Tebaldi, B. Silber, E. Mascetti (JRC-Ispra); K. Flamm, S.Pradella (NOS Company): "Ultrasonic Sealing Techniques developed by JRC-Ispro and their applications to the Safeguards of Nuclear Fuel.", 15th Annual Meeting of INMM Japan Chapter, Tokyo, 24-25 October 1994.

Performance Assessment of Containment and Surveillance Devices and Systems

The thermal and mechanical testing facilities available in the Laboratory for Surveillance and Containment (LaSCo) were described in detail in the 1993 ISEI Annual Report. Some more equipment now complete the facility:

- a third climatic chamber was installed at the end of 1994, with an inner volume of 1m³ operating in a temperature range of -65C to 150C. This new chamber permits the testing of large systems at very low temperatures;
- a fast transient burst generator was also installed in order to start electromagnetic compatibility tests on equipment. This is a first step in the initiation of a new activity in the LaSCo laboratory, which will continue with the development of a specific test zone for qualification of devices and systems under conducted and radiated electromagnetic fields. All the tests will be conducted under the actual official tests standards such as those of IEC, or as requested by the customer.

During 1994, tests protocols have been defined and specific tests on items have been performed on:

- the Compact Surveillance Monitoring System COS-MOS, developed by JAERI (Japan), for which various thermal, humidity and mechanical tests were conducted in order to verify its characteristics and to study its performances under various environmental conditions;
- the Logitec Fotoman camera used in the Gemini surveillance system. After the acknowledgment of 'the test protocol by the Euratom Safeguards Directorate in Luxembourg, various thermal, humidity and mechanical tests were conducted on the cameras in order to verify their characteristics under various environmental conditions.

The test programme foreseen for 1995 is the following:

- thermal and mechanical qualification of a new parabolic surveillance system based on heat flow transfer developed in the LaSCo laboratory;
- study of the performances under thermal and mechanical stresses of a Multi Channel Acquisition system by Nos-National Instruments for which a detailed test protocol was prepared and submitted to both companies;
- study of the performance of Gemini and EMOS surveillance systems under various environmental stresses;
- study of the performance of the MIVS system under electromagnetic perturbations;
- study of the behaviour of a multi-sensor surveillance system developed in the LaSCo laboratory (Ho.M.M project).

Some of the above activities are performed in support to the Euratom Safeguards Directorate and IAEA.

Demonstration and Development of Containment and Surveillance Devices in Specific Applications.

The activities performed in the Advanced Storage Area installed in LaSCo were described in the 1992 and 1993 Progress Reports of ISEI. After the first results we have optimised the position of some sensors inside of the cell. Different softwares to study the effects of these sensors were developped.

A Horizontal Multisensors Module (Ho.M.M.) has been developed, which is designed for the monitoring of the horizontal storage of plutonium cans. The module is constituted of four different sensors based on different physical principles and its function is to survey the weight and the presence of the cans and the opening of the storage cell door. The first prototype (Ho.M.M. I) is AC powered and two prototypes with different combinations of sensors are under test. The second generation of Ho.M.M. is battery powered. Alarms, state of health of the module are recorded on a memory block inside the module. Alarms could be interrogated by connecting a portable PC to the module.

This last version of the module (Ho.M.M. II) has to be tested and implemented in the Advanced Storage Area demonstration cells.

Software has been designed and implemented on a portable unit for the calibration and routine surveillance of the Ho.M.M. I modules. Calibration data and alarms are recorded and then printed in the Surveillance Report.

Figure 2.46. View of Ho.M.M 1.

Integration of Safeguards Techniques

This activity comprises four main chapters, respectively dealing with: I) the Analysis of the Safeguards characteristics of the Nuclear Fuel Cycle and of the R&D Safeguards Activities in the EC, ii) the management of the ESARDA Association, iii) the development of statistical tools for Nuclear Material Balance Analysis and iv) studies on volume and mass determination in liquids.

Fuel Cycle and R&D Safeguards Activities Analysis

The enlargement of the EU and the increasing contacts with the East European and the Former Soviet Union Countries have raised the need to analyse the development of the Fuel Cycles of those Countries. The existing databases have been updated as appropriate. A study has been made of the amount of nuclear materials needed for feeding the power reactors of the EU and of the FSU during the next 25 years, and also of the amounts of irradiated assemblies to be safeguarded or reprocessed in the same period. It will be published in 1995.

Management of ESARDA

A revision of the ESARDA Blue Book, containing the forecast of Safeguards needs in the EU, has been initiated in collaboration with ESARDA; forecasts will cover the next 15 years. The databases on Safeguards R&D activities in the EU are being updated as necessary. ESARDA day to day management has been continued, including the organisation of its Annual Meetings, the publication of the Bulletin of the Association, the Secretariat of the Steering Committee, of the Scientific Council and Co-ordinating Board, and of the Executive Committee.

In 1994, the JRC held the Chair of the Association. A complete review of the objectives and of the activities of ESARDA was made, and new targets were defined for its future activities. Also, a revision of the structure of the Association was completed and implemented.

In May 1994 an Internal Meeting was organised in Gent, Belgium, in collaboration with the CEN/SCK Belgium. The Proceedings were published in the ESAR-DA Bulletin. Two issues of the ESARDA Bulletin were published in 1994.

Statistical Tools

Modification of an existing software for Statistical Analysis of Nuclear Material Balances has been intiated, in view of transferring this software to the Russian Training Centre of Obninsk (for Inspectors and Operators of Nuclear Facilities). The new software will have an improved User-System Interface and will be tailored to the needs of teaching and training.

Mass and Volume Measurements

This activity, performed in collaboration with the TAME laboratory of IST, consists in defining an R&D programme apt to solve problems faced by Operators and Inspectors, designing the needed experiments, developing models for the interpretation of the results and performing their interpretation and evaluation. In 1994, models were developed for the thermal effects and the aerostatic effects in volume measurement; a number of experiments related to these effects were performed and interpreted. Results were published at the 1994 INMM Meeting. Contacts have been established with Operators and R&D Organisations in the U.S. and Japan, and IAEA for performing joint studies.

CONTROLLED THERMONUCLEAR FUSION/FUSION TECHNOLOGY AND SAFETY

The Fusion activities at the ISEI concern the safety aspects of fusion plants, with the objective of evaluating feasibility and acceptability of fusion energy.

- These activities pertain to the following critical areas:
- Operational safety and reliability during Remote Handling maintenance.
- Structural integrity during plasma disruptions off-normal events.
- Passive safety and environmental impact of Fusion Energy.

Operational Safety and Reliability During Remote Handling Maintenance

The engineering support to the Remote Handling problems is provided by Computer Simulation, Experimental Validation on mock-ups in scale and Reliability Analysis. TELEMAC Laboratory, by using the ROBERTINO facility, allows validation tests to be performed on mock-ups of whole complex systems in a scale big enough to give, at an acceptable cost, significant indications of the behaviour of the full-scale systems and prototype equipments.

Simulation of Blanket Handling Operations

- Blanket Handling Device (BHD) Testing
- Maintenance Tests on Mock-Ups of In-Vessel Components - EC Task RHI 1

(Activity carried out in collaboration with ENEA-Fusion Sector)

Experimental Validation Activity

The final report of the tests campaign carried out during '93, for the ITER Emergency Task EC-RHI.1, was published in January '94 /1/.

Moreover, important feedback indications on the concepts of the Blanket Handling Device (BHD) and the design of the grippers tested so far, as well as on the most appropriate sensors and the control systems to be used for the BHD prototype, results include /5/:

 the definition of some additional tests, on the modified grippers and by using an appropriate load cell with 6 degrees of freedom_(d o f) force sensors the proposal for the upgrading of ROBERTINO, concerning the drive units and the related control system, in order to improve the mechanical behaviour and the safety conditions of the facility.

On the basis of these indications, the activities carried out during 1994 can be considered as subdivided into two parts; one has been the continuation of the '93 test campaign for the BHD with related preparatory works and the other has concerned the upgrading of the RO-BERTINO facility and its control system.

Preparatory Works on Sensors and an Additional Test Campaign on the BHD Concept. These activities included:

 The setting-up and calibration of a load cell with 6 degrees of freedom (d o f) force sensors: The experience of the tests campaigns carried out during '93 indicated the importance of having on the gripper, for safety reasons, sufficiently precise and reliable indications of force used. The main difficulties are due to the fact that the gripper supports are usually too stiff for being instrumented with normal straingauges. In collaboration with ENEA, a first load cell of a new type, adopting semi-conductors straingauges has been realised. This cell constitutes highly sensitive 6 d o f force sensors system, to be installed between the facility and the arippers during the test campaign on the modified grippers. The calibration of the cell was performed in time for the '94 test campaign.

The application of viewing systems and optical sensors: The monitoring of the Remote Handling operations at the ROBERTINO facility is usually done by using TV cameras. An image processing concept for the real position identification of the blanket segments has been developed, as a graduation thesis, in collaboration with the Politecnico of Milano. Another graduation thesis has concerned the use of an optical sensor for the correct grasping of the blanket segments, in order to allow an "intelligent" forcefree matching between gripper and segment. The systems developed will be used in the new Control System, and can be considered as contributions to the definition of a Supervision System for the Remote Handling Workstation.

- The additional tests for the BHD concept: These tests are completions of tests carried out in 1993, concerning the procedures, systems and sensors for guiding, gripping and transporting the blanket segments inside and outside the vacuum vessel, according to the "top loading" concept, where whole first wall/ blanket segments are removed from the top of the vacuum vessel, through vertical access ports, with reference to the ITER CDA design. These tests, as those previously performed, were carried out in the ROBER-TINO facility on reduced scale (1/3) mock-ups, after modification of the gripping tools and integration of new sensor systems. The new test campaign was mainly focused on sensor-based operation control, on handling sequences with the improved gripping systems, on preliminary timing and on procedures assessment of the real operations expected in the reactor. A set of handling experiments have been done on both inboard and outboard Blanket segments and related grippers; the results analysed in depth constitute an important contribution to the maintenance strategy of the first wall and Blanket.

Up-Grading of the ROBERTINO Facility This activity included:

- The ROBERTINO mechanical upgrading. The specifications for a mechanical upgrading of the facility were compiled and a contract was established with an external company for such upgrading which will concern the substitution of new driving screws with ball circling nuts for the present screws with bronze nuts, and the related drive units, in order to improve the dynamic behaviour of the facility during trajectories. The mechanical upgrading, undertaken in November '94, after the conclusion of the '94 test campaign, is now in progress in order to have the upgraded facility operative from the beginning of 1995.
- The new ROBERTINO Control System (RCS). The mechanical upgrading represents an opportunity for developing a new Control System, more appropriate for the experimental requirements of the facility and, at the same time, in conformity with the most updated standards, ensuring high reliability and safety conditions. The new RCS will be based on a VXI bus

with the operative system VX Works. The User Requirements and the Software Requirements Documents /3,4/ have been prepared and are being used as specifications for the software, which is being developed at JRC with the contribution of a Software Company. The development of the software will be followed as a test case in the framework of the studies for the Safety Critical Computer Systems (SCCS), foreseen inside the Information Technology Programme. The new RCS will be ready for commissioning at the beginning of 1995 in accordance with the time schedule for the mechanical upgrading of the facility.

Figure 2.47. Simulation of withdrawal of Blanket segments from one sector of the vacuum vessel of ITER.

Computer Simulation Studies

As result of the tests on various commercial 3D Cinematic Simulators, an appropriate package has been selected (TELEGRIP). This system will be adopted as a reference system by the Fusion Community for all numerical simulation activities. An appropriate hardware environment has been prepared in order to have the 3D-Cinematic Simulator operational from the beginning of the next year, starting from CATIA CAD models, for simulation studies on design proposals (see Fig. 2.47) and, as Synthetic Viewing Master System, for Remote Handling Workstation (RHW) development.

Reliability Studies

The results of the Reliability Analysis carried out on different design concepts for the Blanket Handling Device (BHD) have been published /2/.This study has given the opportunity to identify specific reliability aspects related to Remote Handling in Fusion Machines /6/.The Safety Requirements of the Control Systems, and of the related software have been established. The reliability studies are now oriented mainly towards considering the software for robotics control, as Safety Critical Computer Systems in the framework of the JRC Information Technology Programme.

Setting up of a Remote Handling Workstation (RHW) Application at the RHW to the ROBERTINO facility -EC Task RHT.1

(Activity carried out in collaboration with KfK-Karlsruhe)

This activity is oriented to define and test an European concept of RHW for Fusion Reactors, on the basis of requirements and specifications jointly established with KfK-Karlsruhe.

A RHW prototype will be applied to the ROBERTINO facility at JRC, in parallel to the similar development carried out at KfK Karlsruhe for the RHW of the articulated boom EDITH.

The first version of the Direct Operation Interface (DOIF) has been concluded.

The development of the protocol plus communications channels between DOIF and the new ROBERTINO Control System (RCS) have been established.

?tpt=6dd>The first tests using one of the required control messages has been carried out. During the next period, the linkage between the RHVV and the real time control subsystem will be accomplished.

The effectiveness of the designed man-machine interface will be checked through its daily based operation at the ROBERTINO facility. It is expected to assess and partially correct the lacks and misfeatures eventually detected during this first stage of the operation.

References

- /1/ C.Damiani (ENEA), F.Farfaletti-Casali (JRC, ISEI) et al., Final Report of ITER Emergency Task EC-RH. 1, Remote Handling of the Blanket segments: Testing on Reduced Scale Mock-ups, technical Note No I.94.08, Commission of the European Communities, Joint Research Centre, Ispra, January 1994.
- /2/ T.Maier, Comparative Reliability Analysis of Two Mechanical Concepts for a Blanket Handling Device, technical Note No 1.93.167, Commission of The European Communities, Joint Research Centre.
- /3/ E.Ruiz, User Requirements Document for the ROBERTINO Control System Software. Technical Note to be published.
- /4/ E.Ruiz, Software Requirements Document for the ROBERTINO Control System. Technical Nate to be published.
- /5/ D. Maisonnier et al "Remote Handling of the Blanket Segments: Testing of 1/3 Scale Mock-ups an the Robertino facility". Proceedings of ISFNT-3, Los Angeles (USA), June-July'94.
- /6/ G.Volta, T.Maier, M.Wilikens, "Reliability of Rabotics: an averview with identification of specific aspects related to Remote Handling in Fusion Machines" Proceedings of ISFNT-3-Los Angeles (USA), June '94.

Structural Integrity Assessment During Plasma Disruption Off-Normal Events

The study of electromagnetic (EM) forces caused by offnormal variations of magnetic fields in the conducting structures surrounding the plasma remains one of major items in fusion with magnetic confinement. The design of the plasma-facing components (PFCs), the related vessel interfaces and the vacuum vessel itself are strongly affected by the necessity of maintaining within acceptable limits the stresses caused by rapid and abnormal magnetic field variations, that occur, for example, during disruptions, in order to avoid damages (e.g. permanent deformations and vacuum losses). ISEI is working, both theoretically and experimentally, in this field.

ISEI has developed the tools (an integrated computeraided-engineering-CAE system and a validation laboratory-TESLA) for ensuring the support to the design, analysis and combined validation in the context of the Tokamak Structural Integrity Assessment.

Definition of the Dynamic Loading Test Facility & Testing Programme (EUROPEAN CO-ORDINATION) ITER ETA Task EC-BLR-7

The task objective was the definition of the Operating Parameters required to confirm the performance of the ITER first wall/blanket/shield design solutions and their respective reinforcement systems against off-normal events. The discussions were based on the ITER components design solutions available at that time (1994). Priority was given to the mechanical dynamic testing of ITER components models using the available European test-rigs.

Step-by-step investigations on mock-ups were envisaged in order to measure the expected performance of the first wall, shield-blanket, blanket attachment and vacuum vessel during off-normal and excursion conditions.

The major deliverables have been:

- summary of available dynamic analysis results in the field of off-normal operating conditions (plasma disruptions) /1/;
- identification of the testing conditions needed for the definition of mock-ups /2/;
- description of testing facilities considering the available European test-rigs /3/;
- identification of the testing programme layout based on a step-by-step investigation on mock-ups /4/.

The conclusions for each deliverable are included in the related Technical Notes. In the Final Report, more space is dedicated to the identification of the testing programme layout based on the following step-by-step investigation on mock-ups:

Stage 1: 3D Computer Simulations Stage 2: Vacuum Vessel (VV) Stage 3: First Wall (FVV) Stage 4: Blanket Segment (BS) Stage 5: Blanket Attachment

Dynamic Mechanical Simulation Testing of Vacuum Vessel Models (EUROPEAN CO-ORDINATION) ITER CTA Task EC-T15

This task was related to the simulation by dynamic testing of the expected performance of the vacuum vessel during disruption and vertical displacment event (VDE). The main objective was to assess the dynamic structural integrity of partial vessel models and to improve the safety features of the ITER design.

This task was anticipated by the ETA Task BLR-7 and was launched just before the ISFNT-3 Conference. During the 2nd half of 1994, the first stage of the task dealt with the first computer simulation needed to confirm the operating parameters in agreement with the last ITER design proposal. The testing conditions did mainly reproduce the off-normal operating situations encountered during plasma instability events.

A 3D CATIA model of the vacuum vessel was prepared by JCT and was transferred (Sept. 22, 1994). It represented the starting point for the development of 3D finite element models necessary for the required transient dynamic simulations in 3D electro-magneto-mechanics /5/ (see Fig. 2.48).

Fig. 2.48. ITER vacuum vessel mechanical model.

The dynamic electromagnetic (EM) forces induced and transferred to the vacuum vessel were investigated first on simple models and then on more complex shapes. In complement, the contents of the next stages of the present task (called T2O9 in 1995/1996) were prepared and discussed in collaboration with ENEA/ ISMES and the Home Central Team. It has been proposed to start the experimental campaign on the basis of the following mock-ups of the vacuum vessel /6/: – Basic models;

- Global torus model;
- Specific region model.
Reinforcement Systems of Segmented Blanket Concepts Satisfying Disruption Problematic - SEAFP TASK M6-1

The main objective was to improve the safety features of the blanket design concepts satisfying the disruption problematic. In Tokamaks, the hostile operating environment originated by plasma disruption events requires that the in-vessel components sustain the large induced electromagnetic (EM) forces without significant structural deformation and within allowable material stresses.

Therefore, the analyses of blanket reinforcement systems have been proposed to improve the first-wall/ blanket/shield design concepts. In the present subtask, investigations were made on 3D CAD models of the inboard and outboard blanket regions and the related magnetomechanical simulations were illustrated.

As structural materials, stainless steel and vanadium have been considered. After the electromagnetic (EM) simulations by eddy current codes, the mechanical response of the blanket segment against the EM forces was simulated, considering different solutions of internal reinforcement systems for the segmented blanket boxes /7/:

- radial/poloidal ribs defined as vertical plates extending from the first wall to the back plate;
- toroidal ribs defined as horizontal plates connecting first wall, side walls and back plate together.
- toroidal ribs defined as vertical plates connecting the side walls and playing the additional role of shielding from the first wall to the back plate.

In general, it has been observed that the addition of internal ribs or diaphragms, for example in toroidal planes, positively affects the global deformation behaviour of the blanket segment and improves the strengthening of the first wall and blanket box. In the case of vanadium, the benefits of the electrical connection of the first wall and/or the back plate region of the blanket segments has been examined (reduction of the vertical EM resultant forces in the side walls) /8/.

As a general guideline for designers, the following conclusions were drawn:

- the combination of horizontal/vertical toroidal reinforcement ribs (second and third solutions) should be recommended;
- the ribs should be placed between the upper/lower support positions with adapted intermediate dis-

tances between them and with varying thickness from the equatorial plane towards the extremities of the blanket segment box;

- in addition, in order to withstand the local peaks of magnetic pressure that could be originated by "halo currents" in the first wall region, a specific reinforcement, e.g. horizontal and/or vertical ribs, should be required;
- finally, particular attention should be paid to the choice of the electro-insulating breaks and/or connections in order to relax the predominant box-type current loop (e.g. first wall and/or back plate continuity).

References

- /1/ Y.Crutzen et al., ITER Task EC BLR 7, "Available Dynamic Analysis Results", First Intermediate Report, EC JRC Technical Note I.94.48, March 1994.
- /2/ Y.Crutzen et al., ITER Task EC BLR 7, "Definiton of the Testing Conditions and Related Mock Ups", Second Intermediate Report, EC JRC Technical Note I.94.64, May Y.Crutzen et al., ITER Task EC BLR 7, "Description of the Testing Facilities Available in Europe", Third Intermediate Report, EC JRC Technical Note I.94.65, May 1994.
- /3/ Y.Crutzen et al., ITER Task EC BLR 7, "Definition of Dynamic Loading Test Facility and Test Programme", Final Report, EC JRC Technical Note I.94.80, June 1994.
- /4/ Y.Crutzen et al., ITER Task CTA T15, "Numerical Models needed for the 3D Electro Magneto Mechanical Simulations", First Intermediate Report, presented at the ITER Vacuum Vessel Meeting on R&D and Design Tasks, Garching, Nov. 1994.
- /5/ Y.Crutzen, ITER Task T209 Preparation, Working Document, EC JRC Ispra, S.P., Sept. 1994
- /6/ Y. R. Crutzen, S. Fantechi, F. Farfaletti Casali, A. Inzaghi, E. Rochez, I. Sakellaris, "Reinforcement Systems Satisfying Disruption Problematics of Segmented Blanket Concepts", Final Report SEAFP Task M6 1, EC JRC Technical Note 1.94.94, June 1994.
- /7/ Y. R. Crutzen, F. Farfaletti Casali, A. Inzaghi, E. Rochez, I. Sakellaris, "Disruption Problematics of Segmented Blanket Concepts", Oral paper at the ISFNT 3 Symposium, First Wall & Blanket Design & Analysis Session, UCLA, Los Angeles, June 1994
- /8/ S. Fantechi , "Plasma Vertical Displacement Events (VDE) in Next Tokamaks", EMF '94 Workshop Proceedings, EC JRC Ispra, 1994
- /9/ Y. Crutzen, S.Fantechi, F. Farfaletti Casali, et al:"Dynamic Loading Test Programme to Confirm ITER Components Performance" EMF '94 Workshop Proceedings, EC JRC Ispra, 1994
- /10/ Y.Crutzen, F. Farfaletti Casali, F. Van Paemel, "Magneto Mechanical Coupling Validation: Needed for an European Integrated Action", EMF '94 Workshop Proceedings, EC JRC Ispra, 1994
- pra, 1994 /11/ Y.Crutzen, S. Fantechi, F. Farfaletti Casali, A. Inzaghi, E. Rochez, I. Sakellaris, "Structural Reinforcement Needed in SEAFP Segmented Blanket Concept", EMF '94 Workshop Proceedings, EC JRC Ispra, 1994.

Passive Safety Environmental Impact of Fusion Energy

During the normal operation of a fusion reactor structural materials (especially those near the plasma) are subjected to a high energy neutron flux and are thus activated. One of the consequences of the activation is the volumetric production of heat, called decay heat (or after heat). Due to the very efficient thermal isolation of the reactor, in conditions of absence of active cooling the redistribution of the initial temperatures (in the short term) and the decay heat (in the medium and long-term) can cause a substantial increase of the temperature of some components, leading even to their structural failure.

The demonstration that no significant thermally induced damage can be done to the containment, even in these "envelope" conditions (i.e. instantaneous, completed and permanent loss of all active cooling), is a significant contribution to demonstrating the possive safety of a fusion reactor. Moreover, a reliable prediction of such an "envelope" temperature history is important because many safety related processes (such as oxidation rates, tritium release rates, etc.) are temperature dependent.

Envelope Post Accidental Temperature Transient in a Commercial Fusion Reactor - SEAPF TASK A 3.2

For the purpose of predicting as reliably as possible the envelope post accidental temperature transient a bi-dimensional model of a complete sector of the reactor midplane (including both inboard and outboard components) has been developed. The geometric effects along the toroidal direction have been thus taken into account. The effects of heat propagation along the poloidal direction (i.e. through the toroidal magnets and the vacuum vessel) have been accounted for by means of additional resistors linking the inboard to the respective outboard components. The only mechanism of heat transport is that of conduction and radiation. At the external part of the cryostat natural convection to the environment is assumed. The latest operating temperatures are assumed as initial conditions.

The transient process, in general, can be divided in three distinct time scales (short, medium and long-term) in each of which the process is dominated by different phenomena. The temperature peak that is associated with the long time scale (i.e. till several weeks after the accident) is by far the most dangerous one, although it cannot compromise the structural stability of the containment. The results obtained were reported in /1-4/ for a variety of reactor configurations, including some parametric studies.

The result of this work caused a modification of the standard SEAFP cryostat by introducing ventilation by natural convection at the space between the steel liner and the concrete /3/. In such a way temperatures always remain at more or less acceptable levels for both the reference and the alternative SEAFP designs. Also, during 1994, various parametric studies have been done, mainly to study the effect of the surface emissivity on the reference and alternative SEAFP designs /1,2/.

Stability of the Be - Air/Steam reaction - ITER Task NID7a - EC task SEA 3.4

(Part of the Comprehensive 1994 ITER Task Agreement of Safety Design Tasks with the EC)

Temperature transients can influence the mechanical integrity of structural materials and significantly enhance chemical reaction rates. Both would lead to release of radioactive isotopes in off-normal events. Temperature increases due to chemical reactions (e.g. Be/Water) is another concern. This task's objective is to favourably resolve these concerns sufficient for the ESECS.

Subjects of this task are the analysis of loss of coolant accidents including Be-water and C-water reactions and the analysis of air ingress into the vacuum vessel, including Be-air and C-air reactions.

In particular, the task of investigating the ignition conditions for hot Be-air or Be-water spots will be undertaken. Close interaction with the JCT is required to ensure maximum realistic and useful results. The task does not depend on design detail but should be coherent with the current orientation of the design. Where necessary, parametric studies will be performed to capture design alternatives/uncertainties. Expected results for chemical reactions will be the determination of tolerable hot spots (size and temperature) to avoid ignition (see Fig. 2.49).

During the reporting period the chemical kinetics of the interaction between Beryllium PFCs of ITER and steam have been investigated and a review of the functional dependencies of the oxidation reaction rate and parameters such as temperature and steam pressure have



and significantly enhance chemical reaction rates. Both would lead to release of radioactive isotopes in off-normal events. This task's objective is to favourably resolve these concerns sufficient for the ESECS.

The general task is the analysis of post accidental thermal transients for the whole Tokamak under various loss of coolant accidents. In particular, global calculations for reference and postulated LOCA and LOFA scenarios for ITER-EDA water/316SS/Cu option will be performed. The analysis focuses on (a) showing what combination of vacuum vessel, cryostat or in-cryostat natural circulation and surface emissivities is adequate for various LOCAs,

Fig. 2.49. Colour representation of the temperature spatial distribution in the area around the assumed "hot spot" after 1 min from the plasma disruption, taking into account both the volumetric decay heat and the heat of the Be-steam chemical reaction at the PFC surface.

been concluded. An integrated scheme describing the effective reaction rate and the consequent heat production as a function of temperature has been drawn /5/. The initial conditions of the transient oxidation phenomenon after a plasma disruption and a LOCA/LOVA have been investigated. A first, worst case, 1-D calculation was performed. Following a disruptive plasma thermal quench a more or less uniform energy deposition to the first wall is assumed, causing high temperatures all over the first wall. This leaves radial conduction as the only heat removal mechanism. A 2-D model of the whole vacuum chamber has being developed to study in more details the "hot spot" phenomenon and its dependencies. The results from this detailed modelling activity were reported in /6/ and /7/ (see Fig. 2.50). The short-term temperature transient and the associated hydrogen production were very low while Be-ignition was foreseen only under particular in-vessel LOCA conditions without immediate plasma shut-down.

Thermal Transient Analysis for Design Guidelines and Assessments - ITER Task NID7a - EC task SEA 3.5 (Part of the Comprehensive 1994 Task Agreement of Safety Design Tasks with the EC)

The safe removal of decay heat is a key issue in all nuclear facilities. Temperature transients can influence the mechanical integrity of the structural materials such as how many cooling loops must be intact, as a function of maximum allowed accident temperature (500-700C), (b) showing what fraction of normal vacuum vessel and in-vessel components cooling is required for decay heat removal as a function of maximum allowed accident temperature (500-700C), (c) passive heat transfer from vacuum vessel to cryostat and environment. The analysis will provide design guidelines concerning, for instance, emissivity, "global" heat transfer, by considering uncertainties in de-



Fig. 2.50. Temperature transient of beryllium coating assuming 1 atm steam pressure, initial Be melting temperature at the surface and initial temperature profile across the first wall corresponding to 25 (5.5) MJ/m2 initial heat load on the FW due to plasma disruption. The 5.5 MJ/m2 curve remains the same even when we assume a tenfold increase of the chemical reaction rate.

cay heat and assessing gas circulation within the cryostat and vacuum vessel. Where necessary, parametric studies will be performed to capture design alternatives/uncertainties.

Expected results are the temperature histories of the first wall/blanket/vacuum vessel/cryostat for the various scenarios such as complete loss of coolant and partial cooling (vacuum vessel cooling only or natural cooling for LOFA) driven by the decay heat and chemical reactions. For the decay heat the time scale should be either several months or the time for establishing a new steady state. For chemical reactions the goal is the determination of tolerable hot spots (size and temperature) to avoid ignition.

During the reporting period the zones to be used for neutronic, activation and thermal transient calculation have been specified /8/. Neutronic and activation calculations have been completed and reported /8, 9/.

The thermal model was set up and the calculations were performed. Unfortunately, the model was too complicated and the results produced were not satisfactory. Consequently, a new 15° model was set up, which produced realistic results (see Fig. 2.51). Meanwhile, a different modelling approach integrating the last reactor



Fig. 2.51. Post-LOCA temperature transients at different parts of the ITER first wall, the blanket, and vacuum vessel (calculations done for a 1.5 degrees sector of the reactor, decay and Be-steam reaction heat included).

design changes was agreed upon. This approach involves the detail modelling of only one ITER equatorial sector, the modelling of an equivalent simplified sector calibrated on the detailed one and, finally, the building of a complete 180° model out of the simplified sectors. This also makes up one part of the 1995 EU & ITER tasks and the first results are expected by May 1995.

Water-cooled Pb-17Li DEMO blanket line EU Reference conceptual design and performance presentation

The demonstration plant for a thermonuclear fusion reactor, DEMO, is presently defined as the unique step between ITER and the prototype commercial reactor. Thus, DEMO should contain the full technology of a fusion power plant and significant tests of DEMO components can only be performed in ITER.

Four breeder blanket design concepts have been elaborated and analysed in order to guide and integrate the results of the experimental R&D activities and to provide a framework for the comparative assessment of the potential performance of these blanket lines. This activity was headed by the CEA (Centre d'Etudes de Saclay).

The JRC-ISEI contribution to this activity included the calculation of the tritium control requirements and the preliminary design of the water-coolant detritiation system for all four of the blanket types considered. The critical parameters for system dimensioning and optimisation have been identified, and the available state-of-the-art processing technologies have been put in evidence and documented in /10/.

In the context of in-depth understanding of tritium control mechanisms and characterising the relevant processing technologies with regard to their impact on safety and the environmental burden of fusion power plants, numerically efficient models of hydrogen isotope separation processes have also been developed and documented /11/. Such models combine fundamental (quantum-mechanical) characteristics of hydrogen isotope phase equilibria with numerical short-cuts, allowing thus maximisation of the computational efficiency of hydrogen isotope distillation modelling (i.e. dramatic reduction of computation time and increased accuracy of results).

Systems Aspects of Safety and Environmental Characteristics of Fusion Power

An integrated analysis of the safety and environmental considerations characterising fusion power reactor systems has been undertaken in an attempt to provide a holistic perspective of fusion as a future energy source.

This has lead to new developments in two directions:

- construction of a comprehensive methodological framework for the incorporation of environmental and safety concerns of novel energy and process systems into design and development activities /12, 13/;
- identification of systemic characteristics of fusion with regard to its safety and environmental risk performance /14/, and exemplification of its considerable passive safety aspects /15/.

The results of the above analyses were well documented and communicated to the relevant scientific community in a series of contributions to a book /12/ and invited lectures to Conferences in Italy /14/ and Greece /13, 15/.

- /8/ D.G.Cepraga, G.Cambi, M.Zucchetti, F.Andritsos, "ITER EDA, Geometrical & material zone specifications & neutronic calculations for activation & thermal transient analysis" report ENEA FUS S+E TR 3/94, June 1994
- /9/ M.Zucchetti, D.G.Cepraga, G.Cambi, F.Andritsos, "Activation calculations for ITER EDA, 1st interim report" DENER PT DE 358/IN, June 1994.
- /10/ L.Giancarli, Y.Severi, J.Quintric Bossy, F.Barbier, D.Leger, T.Sample, A.Terlian, C.Dellis, F.Moret, L.Baraer, B.Bielak, M.Eid, M.Fuetterer, E.Proust, X.Raepsaet, /11/ J.F.Sąlavy, L.Sedano, J.Sczepanski, G.Benamati, C.Nardi, L.Petrizzi, G.Casini, C.Malara, A.Perujo, D.A.Sarigiannis, Water cooled Pb 17Li DEMO Blanket Line: EU Reference Conceptual Design and Performance Presentation, report DMAT 94/538 (1994)CEA, Gif sur Yvette, France.
- /11/ D.A. Sarigiannis, "On order reduction in hydrogen isotope distillation models", Fus.Eng.Des. (forthcoming)
- /12/ D.A.Sarigiannis, "On the incorporation of environmental and safety concerns in the computer aided synthesis of novel process systems", chapter in Environmental Informatics Methodology and Applications of Environmental Information Processing, N.Avouris, B.Page (eds.), Euro courses series, EC (1994), Kluwer Academic Publ.
- /13/ D.A. Sarigiannis, "Safety Optimization of Complex Process Systems", Invited lecture at the NCSR Democritos (1994), Athens, Greece.
- /14/ Volta and D.A. Sarigiannis, "Evaluation of the Risk from Fusion Energy: A Systems Perspective", Invited paper at the LXXX Nat. Conf. of the Italian Physical Society (1994), Lecce, Italy.
- /15/ F. Andritsos, "Passive Safety Aspects of Fusion Energy", Invited lecture at the NCSR Democritos (1994), Athens, Greece.

References

- /1/ F.Andritsos, M.Zucchetti, "The Effect of Material Selection on the Passive Safety of Fusion Reactors", Journal of Nuclear Materials, Elsevier Science BV, 212 215 (1994) pp. 662 666. Also presented at the 6th International Conference of Fusion Reactor Materials, Sept. 27 to Oct. 1, 1993, Stresa, Italy.
- /2/ F.Andritsos, "Fusion Reactor Design Parameters Relevant to the Passive Removal of the Decay Heat", presented at the 3rd International Symposium an Fusion Nuclear Technology, Los Angeles, USA, June 27 to July 1, 1994, accepted for publication in: Fusion Engineering and Design, Elsevier Science Publisher.
- /3/ F.Andritsos, A.Angelini, H.W.Bartels, W.Daenner, M.Zucchetti, "Passive Removal of Decay Heat in SEAFP Power Reactor", presented at the 3rd International Symposium on Fusion Nuclear Technology, Los Angeles, USA.
- /4/ F.Andritsos, M.Zucchetti, "Post Accident Afterheat Dissipation in Fusion Reactors", Fusion Technology, American Nuclear Society, vol. 26, N 3, part2 pp. 973 977; also presented at the A.N.S. 11th Topical Meeting on the theonology of Fusion Energy, New Orleans, USA, June 19 to 23, 1994.
- /5/ D.A.Sarigiannis, F.Andritsos, "The Reaction between Beryllium and Steam on the PFCs Coating of ITER", EU JRC Ispra, Technical Note No 1.94.104, August 1994.
- /6/ F.Andritsos, D.A.Sorigiannis, "Short Term Transient of the Reaction between Beryllium and Steam on the PFCs coating of ITER", EU JRC Ispra, Technical Note No 1.94.172 December 1994.
- /7/ D.A.Sarigiannis, F.Andritsos, "Short term transient of the reaction between beryllium and steam on the PFCs coating of ITER", Fus. Eng. Des. (forthcoming).

HUMAN CAPITAL AND MOBILITY NETWORKS

SMART (Semi-Autonomous Monitoring and Robotics Technologies)

The Human Capital and Mobility Programme SMART (Semi-Autonomous Monitoring and Robotics Technologies) Research Network was approved in November 1992 and activities started officially in June 1993. Apart from the JRC/ISEI, 10 research laboratories and 3 small/medium industries from six different countries (DK, F, I, IRL, P, UK) are involved. The network aims at the development of human resources for the technologies of monitoring and surveillance, autonomous robotics and tele-operation. This objective will be achieved by having co-ordinated projects, and by transferring technological results to industry. Several post-doc fellowships are being paid by the network.

Participating Laboratories:

- LIFIA ADR, Univ. Grenoble, France (co-ordinator);
- University of Aalborg, Aalborg, Denmark;
- Robosoft SA, Paris, France;
- Trinity College of Dublin, Dublin, Ireland;
- DIST, Univ. Genova, Genova, Italy;
- ARTS Lab, Scuola Superiore di Sant'Anna, Pisa, Italy;
- Tecnopolis-CSata, Bari, Italy;
- Altek, Genova, Italy;
- Instituto de Sistemas e Robótica, Lisboa, Portugal;
- University of Leeds, Leeds, United Kingdom;
- University of Reading, Reading, United Kingdom;
- University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, United Kingdom;
- Joint Research Centre ISEI, Ispra, Italy.

The SMART Research Network organised two workshops and co-sponsored a symposium:

- SMART Workshop, 14-15 April 1994, Ispra, Italy.
- "Autonomous Navigation and Surveillance Systems", 20-21 October 1994, Bari, Italy
- International Symposium on Intelligent Robotic Systems, 11-15 July 1994, Grenoble, France.

In 1994, SMART provided pre-doc and post-doc fellowships for a total period of more than 180 manmonths, 50% of which were used in promoting mobility between laboratories participating in the network.

Research work funded by SMART at the JRC is described under headings "Specific Programmes: Fission Safeguards - Surveillance and Remote Verification" and "Support to Community Policies: DG-I".

Design of Robust Human Machine Interaction

The objective of the network is to analyse and predict human behaviour interacting with complex and dynamic systems equipped with advanced controls. These studies will consider different work load conditions, changes in the work structure, and the impact of automation and Information Technology in the control of complex systems.

The network was formally started in September 1993, with the definition of the goals of each partner. In particular the objective of the Ispra team is to analyse and model human behaviour. As an example, the simple procedural simulation of a pilot and aircraft have been selected for flight control analyses.

The network is composed of 11 partners:

- Eurisco (F);
- ISEI (JRC);
- Bonn University (FRG);
- Delft University (NL);
- Technical University of Denmark (DK),;
- Human Reliability Associates Ltd (UK);
- University of Kassel (FRG);
- University of Reading (UK);
- University of Salford (UK);
- University of Valenciennes (F);
- University of Strathclide (UK).

The contribution of the JRC to the Network has been fully integrated in the Specific Programme "Working Environment", with particular contribution to the research on the modelling of human behaviour and on the analysis of human machine interaction processes.

Human Factors in Complex-Real Systems

The objective of the research is twofold:

- analysis of the co-operative work in the domain of Air Traffic Control;
- development of a method and a computerised tool for Human Factors studies.

The network was formally started in November 1993, with the definition of the goals of each partner. The work assigned to ISEI concerns the validation from the real world experience and the implementation into computerised tools for direct application. The domain of application will be Air Traffic Control (ATC).

With regard to the Human Factors studies, a methodology named HERMES (Human Error Method for Event Sequences) has been developed for retrospective studies of data collected from real accidents and for prospective analyses of consequences due to hypothetical accidents. This methodology will be further developed for ATC application.

The network is composed of 7 partners:

- ARAMIIHS (F);
- JRC-ISEI (I);
- Centre Etude Navigation Aerienne (F);
- University of Laughborough (UK);
- Technical University of Crete (GR);
- Centre Etudes Ergonomiques et Recherches Industrielles (F);
- Russian Centre for Space Control (Russia).

The contribution of the JRC to the Network has been fully integrated in the Specific Programme "Working Environment", with particular contribution to the research on the analysis and modelling of the effects of stress in Air Traffic Control.

OLOS - A Holistic Approach to the Dependability Analysis and Evaluation of Control Systems Involving Hardware, Software and Human Resources

OLOS was proposed by ISEI in May 1994 and approved by the Board of Governors on 7-8 June 1994. The network was formally accepted in December 1994 and a first plenary meeting will take place in Rome on 22-24 May 1995.

OLOS proposes a significant innovation in the dependability analysis and evaluation of safety-critical systems. Instead of regarding the human, hardware and software components as effectively independent, OLOS takes a holistic view which seeks to identify the component inter-dependencies and incorporate the evaluation of these aspects within a common framework. The objectives of OLOS are a) to develop interdisciplinary competencies, especially among young researchers, concerning global system dependability; b) to define and develop the concept of global system dependability in order that various dependability and reliability notions and methodologies can be seen to make a contribution to overall dependability; c} to promote the development of an integrated set of methodologies to be used for the dependability analysis and evaluation of those critical systems that require the combination of hardware, software and human resources.

The network is composed of 12 partners:

- ENEA, Roma (I);
- CSR, City University, London (UK);
- Vrij Universiteit, Amsterdam (NL);
- LAAS-CNRS, Toulouse (F);
- Texas A&M University, (USA);
- Universita di Siena (I);
- IEI-CNR, Pisa (I);
- Adelard, London (UK);
- LFCS, University of Edinburgh (UK);
- Universita di Roma "Tor Vergata", Roma (I);
- Computer Resources International, Copenhagen (DK) and
- JRC-ISEI, CEC (I).

The contribution of ISEI will concentrate on the specification of a methodology for the modelling of complex systems. This methodology will address in a single coherent framework the issues of hardware, software and human factors.

Diagnostics and Reliability of Composite Materials and Structures for Advanced Transportation Applications

The operative commencement date of this project was 1 Nov. 1993, with a duration of 24 months. Its objectives can be summarised as follows: implementation of nonstandard diagnostic techniques (laser interferometry, acoustic emission) for assessing transportation employed composite material structures and the calibration of approaches, theoretical methods and interpretation. The associated Laboratories which come from Universities, Research Centres and Industry are:

- Dept. of Mechanics and Materials, Ecole Nationale Supérieure des Mines de Saint-Etienne, FR, (coordinator: Prof. Alain Vautrin).
- Institut Supérieur de l'Automobile et des Transports, Nevers, FR.
- Università di Napoli, Dip. Ingegneria Materiali e Produzione, IT.
- Hellenic Aerospace Industry Ltd, Research and Development, Athens, GR.
- Dept. of Eng. Science, Section of Mechanics, National Technical University of Athens, GR.
- Dept. of Metallurgy and Materials Engineering, Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, B.
- Instituto de Engenharia Mecânica, Polo I.S.T., Lisbon, PT.
- Instituto de Engenharia Mecânica e Gestao Industrial, Porto, PT.
- Institute for Systems Engineering and Informatics, JRC-Ispra, I.

The ISEI/JRC has completed a big part of its commitments /1/. According to the regulations of the HCM program, a post-doctoral fellow was hosted and trained for eight months, Dec.93-July 94. Tensile and honeycomb sandwich panel specimens have been ordered and prepared. A composite system has been selected, which is composed of a thermosetting epoxy resin and carbon fibres T800. Mechanical tensile tests at room temperature have been carried out on unidirectional [0]8, [90]8, [90]16 and multidirectional laminates [90, 0, 90, 0]2S and [145, 0, 90]2S.

The work performed so far has focused on the utilisation of acoustic and thermal emission. The search has introduced the notion of a hypothetical 'yielding' of the composite material, which is difficult to determine from the classical stress/strain curve. The analogy between the dissipative phenomena which appear during the two emission processes is the so-called "knee behaviour". The results are encouraging, showing that the two techniques are capable of indicating the existence of such a yielding point.

The work regarding the non-destructive evaluation of virgin, artificially defected and impact damaged sandwich panels using optical methods (laser holographic interferometry, ESPI) has started only very recently, and no concrete results are available.

References

/1/ Marini, R.; Solomos, G., "Composites Strength Determination via Acoustic Emission", Tech. Note No.I.94.61, ISEI/IE/ 2661/94, JRC-Ispra, May 1994.

Reliability of Metal Matrix Composites

The initial list of the associated Laboratories, which come from Universities, Research Centres and Industry, is as follows:

- Chemistry of Solids Laboratory, CNRS, Bordeaux, FR (co-ordinator: Prof. M. Onillon);
- University Claude Bernard of Lyon, CNRS, FR;
- Nat. Inst. Applied Sciences, CNRS, Lyon, FR;
- National Technical University of Athens, GR;
- University "La Sapienza" of Rome, 1;
- Nat. Lab. for Engineering & Industrial Technologies LNETI, Lisbon PT;
- University of Porto, PT;
- ZFW, University of Clausthal, D;
- University of Reading, GB;
- Hi-Tec Metals R&D, Southampton, UK;
- Institute for Systems Engineering and Informatics, JRC-Ispra, I.

The initiation of the networks project has experienced several difficulties due to administrative reasons, and due to the drastic reduction of the approved budget. Nevertheless, our Diagnostics and Reliability Lab has managed to go ahead according to the present research program. Given the limited resources, a post-doctoral fellow has been hosted for six months, Aug.94-Jan.95. A first exposure to the testing capabilities of our lab was provided, and a comprehensive report of the state-of-the-art on mechanical testing and NDT of MMC has been produced /1/.

References

^{/1/} Marini, R., "Metal Matrix Composites - The State of the Art", Tech. Note No.1.95.16, ISEI/IE/2858/95, JRC-Ispra, Feb. 1995.

Interactive Image Processing and Synthesis on Innovative Computer Architectures

Co-operation with:

- CERFACS (F)
- Victoria University of Manchester (UK)
- Rutherford Appleton Laboratory (UK)
- Bilbao University (SP)
- Besançon University (F)
- Swiss Federal Institute of Technology CSCS Manno (CH)
- Institute for Systems Engineering and Informatics, JRC-Ispra (I).

The joint activity is considered to be an advanced research programme in computer vision on innovative transputer architectures. The scientific objectives of the collaboration are:

- advanced development in interactive 3D visualisation techniques;
- new image synthesis and processing techniques including holography.

These two main scientific topics are intended to develop European collaboration in the field of:

- aeronautics and space sciences;
- earth observation laboratory.

As a final result three main topics have been realised: fast transforms libraries, image & hologram dynamic compression software, and holographic synthesis soft-. ware.

All this software has been implemented on European SPIRIT working stations and on European parallel computers based on transputer microprocessors as well as on the CONCERTO CS1. For this latter point, it has been foreseen to extend the CS1 software on the CS2 machine located at CERFACS and/or at CERN.

The detailed results and activities have been implemented on the international network WWW (World Wide Web) under TCP / IP and IS available using MOSAIC protocol, the access reference is :

http: cube.sm.dsi.unimi.it / Users / imaging / HCM / home-HCM.html.



EXPLORATIRY RESEARCH

Advanced Neural Network Techniques

Neural Network for a Mobile Manipulator

Adding Values on the Workflows Model by Using Multimedia Groupware

Advanced Visualisation of Dinamic Scientific Data

Numerical Stereophotogrammetry and 3D Graphical Animation

Quantitative Evaluation of Local Correlation of Laser Speckle

Safety Study of High-Velocity Transports in Off Normal Conditions

Safety Features Improvement of Energy Storage in Superconducting Windings

Environmental Impact and Diseconomies Arising from Renewable Energy Cycles

. -



EXPLORATORY RESEARCH

Advanced Neural Network Techniques

The objective of this 1994 Exploratory Research was twofold:

- to take full advantage of the rising trend towards statistics/connectionism cross-fertilisation: study and development of the emerging techniques, then implementation and benchmarking on demanding data sets (e.g. remote sensing data);
- to perform a small parallel implementation of some connectionist models.

The second objective could not be addressed because of an unreasonably large delivery delay for the requested transputer configuration, which is now expected by March 1995.

For the first objective, work on mixed statistical/connectionist techniques has been performed on two hot topics, namely "Bayesian model comparison" and "Bootstrapping":

- Bayesian model comparison: Within this complex theoretical framework it is possible to have learning machines which adapt their parameters and tune their hyperparameters (e.g. smoothing constants) simultaneously during the learning phase - an important issue for connectionist models. The implementation for Neural Networks proved to be awkward, as expected, but the main obstacles have been overcome recently and the algorithm is now operational and documented. However, testing on complex data has not been done yet.
- Bootstrapping: This is a computer-intensive approach for making statistical inference on neural models. The method has been extensively applied to neural networks which classify pixels from satellite images into true land-cover classes. Inference was carried out on the generalisation performance. The experiments strongly suggest that the bootstrap method may successfully spare additional validation data sets, which is quite promising from an operational point of view because provision of field surveys data is by far the main resource-consuming phase for this kind of supervised classification task.

Reference

Neural Networks for a Mobile Manipulator

The objective of this work was to use neural networks to control an integrated arm/vehicle system in the absence of a priori models of the environment. By "controlling in real time" it is meant that the neural controller processes information at high speed and that the robot learns on-line and in a few trials.

Before dealing with the integrated arm/vehicle system, this activity addressed some issues on each separate component. Concerning the vehicle, it now moves continuously and smoothly in order to reduce the amount of energy consumption. To achieve this, the neural controller processes information and learns at high speed. This work concluded our exploratory research on reinforcement connectionist approaches to rapid, safe and incremental learning of efficient navigation strategies for autonomous mobile robots /1-5/. As a result, the robot TESEO is one of the few reinforcement-learning robots in the world. TESEO is operational from the very start and improves its performance rapidly and incrementally as it safely explores the environment. To achieve this, TESEO learns on top of built-in reflexes. Also, the neural controller is a modular network which is built automatically. Each module codifies a consistent set of reaction rules. The basic reflexes are preprogrammed as simple reactive behaviour. They are used every time the connectionist network cannot generalize its previous experience to the current sensory situation. The connectionist controller associates the selected reflex with the sensory situation in one step. The sensory situation is represented by a new unit of the network and the selected reflex is codified into the weights of the controller. This new reaction rule is tuned subsequently through reinforcement learning. In this way, the connectionist network gets control (and thus suppresses the activation of the basic reflexes) more often as the robot explores the environment. Experimental results with the real mobile robot demonstrate the appropriateness of our approach to designing practical autonomous learning robots.

Regarding the robotic arm, we have adapted the architecture of the neural controller of the vehicle to control autonomously an arm robot in the case of cluttered workspaces that cannot be modeled a priori. First simulation results have been obtained on how to control the arm in the presence of dynamic configurations of obsta-

^{/1/} Perrota D., Maximum Entropy Principles in Backpropagation, Proceedings Neuro-Nimes 1994.

cles. At present, no classical planning-based technique can solve this kind of task. In addition, a sensing skin has been designed for the real arm. This skin is an array of range sensors attached around the arm's links, which detect obstacles in the vicinity. This sensing skin is still under development. The arm equipped with the sensing skin is one of the few existing examples of a robot arm able to sense autonomously its surroundings. An autonomous arm like this opens up new avenues for service and industrial robotics.

References

- /1/ Millan, J. del R. "Learning Efficient Reactive Behavioral Sequences from Basic Reflexes in a Goal-Directed Autonomous Rabot", In D. Cliff, P. Husbonds, J.-A. Meyer, and S.W. Wilson (eds.), "Fram Animals to Animats III: Third International Conference on Simulation of Adaptive Behavior", 266-274. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. 1994
- /2/ Millan, J. del R. and Torras, C. "Efficient Reinforcement Learning of Navigation Strategies in an Autonomous Robot", Proc. of the IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems, Special Session on "Learning and Mobile Robotics", pp. 15-22. Munich, Germany. 1994. Invited paper. (Also in V. Graefe (ed.), Intelligent Robots and Systems 1994. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Elsevier Science Publishers.)
- /3/ Millan, J. del R. "Reinforcement Learning of Goal-Directed Obstacle-Avoiding Reaction Strategies in an Autonomous Mobile Robot", Robotics and Autonomous Systems, Vol. 15, No. 3. 1995. Special Issue on "Reinforcement Learning in Robotics". Invited article.
- /4/ Kaiser, M., Klingspar, V., Millan, J. del R., Accame, M., Wallner, F., and Dillman, R. - "Achiving Intelligence in Mobility: Incorporating Learning Capabilities in Real-World Mobile Robots", IEEE Expert. 1995. Special Track on "Intelligent Robotics Systems".
- /5/ Millan, J. del R. "Ropid, Safe, and Incremental Learning of Navigation Strategies", IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man and Cybernetics. 1995. Special Issue on "Learning Approaches to Autonomous Robots Control".

Adding Values on the Workflows Model by Using Multimedia Groupware

The main input of this project was provided by the PCs based groupware laboratory which implemented different groupware systems for supparting and analyzing the cooperation within the work processes team. The main focus of this project is on a specific class of groupware: workflow systems (e.g. Action Workflow System /1/ (AVVS). These systems are characterised by both steps of modelling and consistency checking before running, in real time, the processes that have been modelled. It is well known that workflow systems focus on the coordination between different members of pro-

cess teams. It is also well known that workflow systems are asynchronous in general.

The project aimed to "suggest a pluridisciplinary methodology first for identifying and then distributing the added-values by using multimedia groupware. This new methodology will improve the workflows technology because it extends its use to the re-engineering step" /2/. Note that by re-engineering, it is intended to "augment the added values on the workflows model in order to augment the co-evolution both between the participants themselves and between the participants and the business process (i.e. the dynamic shared knowledge about the business process itself)".

In the following, the three main outputs of this project are described; the main requirements for the multimedia groupware were adding both voice and video media to the regular textual based workflow systems. Three packages which are LAN /3/ based were integrated within the laboratory for this purpase:

- Fujitsu's DeskTop Conferencing (DTC) version 1.4 for sharing, one N-to-M basis, applications;
- VocalChat (VC) version 2.0 for sharing, on a one-to-N basis, voices;
- Personal ViewPoint (PVP) version 1.4 for sharing, on a point-to-point basis, video.

Then, these independent packages were regrouped within one Video Conferencing System (VDS) in order to integrate a flexible management of text, voice and video. However, no synchronization between voice and video is insured using VDS except by using the regular telephone.

A paint-to-point videophony system has been integrated within the laboratory. The system results from two consecutive ESPRIT projects in which both British Telecom (BT) and Olivetti were involved. The hardware and software parts are commercialized by BT and by Olivetti, respectively. The system entitled Personal Communication Computer (PCC) is under version 2.1. PCC is ISDN /4/ based and it integrates text, voice and video media. The merging between both desktop videoconferencing synchronous systems (like VDS and PCC) and workflow asynchronous systems (like AVVS) has allowed the methodology to suppart:

 the design and the redesign (in the case of re-engineering, for example) phases of our methodology, in participatory mode; the reviewing process, recommended by ISO /5/ 9000 standards, of the results both designing and redesigning the phases, in both participatory (when both reviewers and reviewees are active) and active/passive (when only the reviewers are active while the reviewees are watching) modes.

VDS is based on constructors standards while PCC is based on H.320 and T.120 standards of the ITU /6/. However, VDS and PCC are incompatible because of the conflictual video boards and protocols. H.320 standards used in PCC should allow its compatibility with a studio video-conferencing system. Because of studio video-conferencing unavailability within our organization, this action has not been tested yet.

An infrastructure for teleworking which augments the capability of the participatory mode over the PSTN /7/ is under testing.

The result of this project will be used within the "Designing the Information Cooperative for Sharing and Analyzing the Earth Observation Data {ICSA}" project which aims to deliver a demonstrator of a methodology supporting the analysis and the re-engineering of business processes from different application domains of the Earth observation field.

References

- /1/ ActionWorkflow is o TradeMark of Action Technologies, Inc
- /2/ This part is extracted from the 1994, Annual WorkSchedule that was proposed in December 17th 1993.
- /3/ LAN stands for Local Area Network
- /4/ LAN stands for Local Area Network
- /5/ ISO stands for International standards Organization.
- /6/ ITU stands for International Telecommunication Union. It substitutes the previous Consultative Committee in International Telegraphy and Telephony (CCITT).
- /7/ PSTN stands for Public Switched Telephone Network

Advanced Visualisation of Dynamic Scientific Data

The objective of this project is to develop techniques for representing and animating multi-dimensional time dependent data. Digital video based on image compression is used. Various scientific visualisation techniques are being used to represent multi-dimensional data. The methods are being applied to remote sensing data, oceanographic modelling and computational fluid dynamics. During 1994 a digital video animation system /1/ was developed based on the JPEG and MPEG compression systems. A system for preparing and editing sequences of images for video production was developed /2/. This system allows for the production of Video titles and includes special effects like fades and zooms. It has a multi-track facility which allows several movies to be played together.

The production of single frames uses the above mentioned techniques of scientific data visualisation. To visualise the results of computational fluid dynamics and oceanographic modelling special purpose graphics programs have been developed. These interact with a database containing the model results and allow automatic frame generation of colour representations of scalar and vector fields in 2 and 3 dimensions.

Ray-tracing software has been applied to realistically render remote sensing and geographic data.

Animation videos have been produced for the following applications:

- 10 years of vegetation index for Africa, MTV unit IRSA;
- Sea surface temperature data, ME unit IRSA;
- Ocean colour (phytoplankton activity), ME unit IRSA;
- Oceanographic modelling results, STI;
- Computational fluid dynamics, STI;
- 10 years of world meteorological data, ECMWF.

Several video presentations of the work have been shown at international meetings. MPEG versions of the animation have been placed on the World Wide Web for public access. These have proved extremely popular, and during 1994 about 10,000 different users connected to view these movies.

References

- /1/ A Digital Video Animation System for Scientific Data Visuolisation, C. Best, C. Macmillan, JRC Technical Note No. 1.94.03
- /2/ VEDIT, a Digital Video Editing System, C. Macmillan, JRC Tech. Note No. 1.94.151.



Figure 3.1. A ray-traced 3-d rendering of AVHRR/GAC Normalised Difference Vegetation Index data draped over a digital terrain model of Africa. The data were processed by the Monitoring Tropical Vegetation (MTV) unit of IRSA. A computer generated fly-over of Africa showing dynamic vegetation growth over a 6 year period has been produced. The photograph shows 'Netscape' viewing the image acquired on the World Wide Web.

Numerical Stereophotogrammetry and 3D Graphical Animation

The activity has been aimed at the achievement of the following results:

- creation of a 3D CAD model from a set of point coordinates or a DTM (Digital Terrain Model) supplied by a digital stereophotogrammetric system or a laser scanning system;
- fusion of two or more 3D CAD models into a global, realistic model of the inspected monument or building;
- virtual reconstruction of lacking parts of the monument.

The first two objectives have been achieved with the numerical programme MODCAD /1/, able to create a complete 3D model from two or more partial models and starting from databases of points in orthogonal, cy-lindrical or spherical co-ordinates.

The third objective has been reached with the development of the TRASMOD /2/ numerical programme, which is now in an advanced phase of testing.

References

- /1/ Rochez, E.P. "Programma per la generazione di modelli 3D CATIA da un database di coordinate di punti" Techn. Note No.1.94.95, ISEI/IE 2745/94
- /2/ Rochez, E.P. "Programma per la modificazione e la elaborazione dei modelli 3D CATIA generati da MODCAD" (Technical Note in preparation)

Quantitative Evaluation of Local Correlation of Laser Speckle

When the surface of an object is illuminated by laser light, its image shows a granular appearance known as speckle. Micro alterations of the surface induce modifications of the speckle image and consequently a decorrelation between the speckle images taken before and after modification took place. We have experimentally proved that the quantitative estimation of local speckle decorrelation can be used to detect and measure surface alterations of the same order of magnitude as the wavelength of the laser light. The technique proved to be portable and more sensitive than traditional methods /1/.

In our experiments we concentrated on stone materials employed in an ancient building whose conservation and protection is conditioned by early detection of salt efflorescence. Two kinds of stone were considered: *Biocalcarenite di Noto* (Sicily-Italy) and *Pietra di Angera* (Lombardy-Italy), both of which have been widely used in the past centuries.

A decorrelation parameter δ (equal to the complement to 1 of the local speckle correlation value p) has been found to be proportional to the surface changes and can be taken as the indicator of the efflorescence rate. It is interesting to note that the study of speckle decorrelation allows for following the alteration of the surface in real time and over its whole extension. Furthermore, the correlation technique is able to detect salt formation before any other technique and, when the stone surface is completely covered with salt and it is impossible to detect the new crystallisation front using classic techniques, it is still able to detect it.

Fig. 3.2 shows a plot of δ as a function of the drying time for the *Biocalcarenite di Noto* sample. In the first hour the high values of δ are caused by the evaporation of the relatively large amount of water present in the surface layers of the stone following absorption.





Figure 3.2. Decorrelation parameter δ as a function of the drying time for the Biocalcarenite di Noto sample. Correlation images after b) 5 hours, c) 13 hours (Collaboration with Centro G.Bozza - CNR - Milano - I)

After two hours surface changes occur which can be attributed to salt formation. The correlation method is able to follow the evolution of the process: during this initial phase, maximum salt activity is located at the edge of the sample, and the salt crystals are not yet visible on the surface. The salt formation proceeds towards the centre in a concentric way, reaching its maximum after 11 hours. As the front of the salt development approaches the centre, the rate of formation decreases and the process recommences from the edge. After 13 hours the stone surface is completely covered with salt and only the correlation method still has the capability of measuring further salt increase.

The following conclusions can be drawn:

- the formation of salt crystals on the surface of porous stone materials has been successfully monitored and measured by measuring the local decorrelation of laser speckle;
- information can be obtained not only about the morphology of the surfaces and the presence of micro

fissures and other discontinuities, but also on some characteristics of the internal structure which interfere with the evaporation process;

- as well as allowing the study of efflorescence process, this method provides useful information for restoration work;
- the method is much less sensitive to external vibrations or temperature transients than other interferometric methods: this means that it could be readily applied for in-situ measurements;
- corrosion and erosion processes could be detected in their very early stage using this technique.

References

/1/ Lucia,A.C.; Zanetta,P.; Albrecht,D.; Facchini,M.; Realini,M. Study of salt efflorescence on stone surfaces by evaluation of laser speckle decorrelation, in Optical Methods in Biomedical and Environmental Sciences, H.Ohzu and S. Komatsu editors, Elsevier 1994

Safety Study of High-Velocity Transports in Off-Normal Conditions

The objective of this work was the development and application of predictive computer-based modelling, analysis and animation techniques for accident prevention. The investigations were focused on the understanding and use of recent numerical modelling techniques. The application to High-Velocity Trains (HVT) in the presence of critical operating conditions has been investigated.

The computer-based three-dimensional modelling and analysis techniques are even more useful for validation and prediction purposes, in particular, when alternative experimental tests on prototypes are too expensive or impossible.

The aim of this exploratory research was to verify the possibility of realising correct numerical models involving critical operating conditions encountered by HVT /1/, e.g. the derailment simulation of the TGV (Dec. 93). During the present study, two numerical methods have been investigated /2/:

- the finite element method (ABAQUS code with the explicit integration scheme);
- the multi-body formulation (VEDYAC programme for vehicle dynamics & crash).

The investigation has permitted the identification of the specific characteristics of these methods, including advantages/limitations. Of particular importance was the use of non-linear boundary algorithms simulating the contact between train and rail. A numerical test series has been performed considering different velocities (from 200 to 360 km/h) and off-normal conditions of the train-rail interface (specific car suspension and varying rail support length). Simulating the HVT transient dynamic response and vibration effects on the vehicle body, excellent results have been obtained with both numerical methods. In addition, some animation techniques have been applied to visualise the coupled railtrain behaviours.

On the basis of the excellent results achieved, it has been decided to propose the continuation of the activity in a more general way, by extending the methodologies used for the High-Velocity Trains to other cases of Transport Systems by means of predictive computerbased modelling and analysis techniques. This proposal will include, in particular, the study of safety equipment and safety road barriers by numerical simulation of car crash conditions.

References

- /1/ G. Pileri, W.Riccardi "Metodi di simulazione numerica per lo studio del comportamento di trasporti ferroviari ad alta velocitò durante situazioni anomale" Technical Note 1.94.96 e 1.94.143 ISEI JRC Ispra.
- /2/ G. Pileri, W. Riccardi "Confronto tra metodo agli elementi finiti e metodo multicorpo per lo studio del comportamento di trasporti ferriviari ad alta velocità durante situazioni accidnetali" Technical Note 1.95.27 ISEI JRC Ispra.

Safety Features Improvement of Energy Storage in Superconducting Windings

The objective of this work was to contribute to safety and environmental protection features of new energy storage systems using superconducting magnets (SC), by investigating possible accident scenarios generated by off-normal operating conditions and by examining their consequences by means of computer simulations.

In two preliminary notes the author highlighted the problematic of superconductor technology. The first one was general, whereas the scope of the second one was more specific/1,2/.

The technological aspects were considered only as applied to Superconducting Magnet Energy Storage (SMES) systems. More precisely, the difficulties in handling SMES technology were cited, solutions to the problems arising from these obstacles were proposed and a through investigation of the tools available was performed.

The research has concerned a simulation of the mechanisms of the transition of a coil from the superconducting state to the normal one by using the P-THER-MAL code. As the complexity of the geometry is considerable and the characteristic physical proprieties of the materials depend strongly and non linearly on temperature, a simplification of the model was considered by assuming a structure composed of periodic repetitions of a basic cell. The results achieved on the basis of such modelling are now available /3/.

References

- /1/ I.Sakellaris "Superconducting Magnets: from Modern Technological Applications toward Energy Storage Systems" Technical Note I.93. 168 ISEI-JRC Ispra.
- /2/ I.Sakellaris "A proposal of Strategy and investigation of Tools within the Conceptual Studies Sector for handling problems concerning SMES" Technical Note 1.94.57 ISEHRC Ispra.
- /3/ I.Sakellaris "Safety features improvement of Energy Storage in Superconducting windings Technical Note 1.95.15 ISEI, JRC Ispra.

Environmental Impact and Diseconomies Arising from Renewable Energy Cycles

An assessment of the environmental effects of solar photovoltaic (PV) electricity generation, mainly based on a literature review, has been carried out. The study focused on thin-film PV-modules, namely those containing amorphous silicon, cadmium telluride and copper indium diselenide.

The review has included the environmental issues associated with PV systems which can arise during some phases of their life cycle, namely:

- production and installation of components and system;s
- system operation and maintenance;
- decommissioning of end-of-service system components.

The fabrication of thin-film PV-cells involves in some cases the use of large quantities of gas, some of which are toxic, substantial amounts of detergent solutions and solid wastes as by-products of the deposition processes. These waste streams and emissions cannot be predicted ab initio since they are to a large extent under the control of the plant operator, with the aid of recycling and effluent clean-up procedures. Thus environmental impact assessments of production processes will require the active participation of manufacturers in order to identify and quantify the important outputs. Even so, because of the continual improvement in processing steps, the picture at any one time represents only a 'snapshot' view of the manufacturing process that will need to be updated periodically.

The environmental impact during the operation of this photovoltaic systems concerns visual aspects and use of land and other space, but it is anticipated to be minor. In fact, roof-top arrays can be incorporated into residential and commercial buildings with almost no visual intrusion and without additional land area. Arrays integrated into the envelopes of buildings as facades also involve no additional land use. Although the land area requirements for ground-mounted PV solar plants and for fossil fuel stations of similar capacity are comparable, PV installations have much lower profiles, without the chimneys, cooling towers and large buildings. Large multi-megawatt installations may affect the local microclimate, flora and fauna, and for these an environmental site impact assessment would normally be required at the planning stage.

Various studies have examined the environmental implications of recycling, landfill disposal and incineration of PV-components. The decommissioning of siliconbased modules appears to be unproblematic and the main concern is the possibility of toxic releases from the types of module that contain cadmium compounds. The photovoltaic industry appears to favour the collection and recycling of end-of-service modules and this option would also be preferable from an ecological viewpoint. Although there is little practical experience with recycling photovoltaic modules, the necessary processes would be needed in any case to conserve resource-limited elements. Recent evidence indicates that, at least for one current production type of cadmium telluride module, uncontrolled disposal in municipal landfill sites would be acceptable and that inadvertent incineration of moderate quantities of expired modules

would not lead to environmental or public health hazards.

Several studies have noted that the energy storage systems employed in small scale autonomous PV installations account for a substantial proportion of the total cost and the overall environmental impact of the system. Larger scale systems using, for example, electrolytically-generated hydrogen and fuel cells or vanadium redox batteries as a means of energy storage offer potentially more benign environmental characteristics as well as greater flexibility in energy usage. It is emphasised that future economic and life environmental assessment should extend to the entire energy system.

Methodologies for environmental impact assessment of systems for electricity generation are currently being developed as part of the European Community project on the external costs of fuel cycles. Multi-Attribute Analysis and Monetarisation represent the two main approaches. It is suggested that the application of advanced methods such as the Multicriteria Support Systems method, to photovoltaic energy systems would help to confer a degree of robustness on the results obtained.

Reference

J. Butterworth, Environmental Impact of Photovoltaic Energy Systems, to be published.

.

SUPPORT TO COMMUNITY POLICIES

Support to the Secretariat-General of the Commission

Support to the Community Statistical Office

Support to International Co-operation (DGI)

Support to the Community Industrial Policy (DGIII)

Support to the Community Agricultural Policy (DG VI)

Support to the Community Transport Policy (DG VII)

Support to the Community Enviromental Policy (DG XI)

Support to the Community Industrial Innovation Policy (DG XIII)

Support to the Community Energy Policy (DG XVII)



SUPPORT TO COMMUNITY POLICIES

SUPPORT TO THE SECRETARIAT-GENERAL OF THE COMMISSION

Antifraud Documentation Information System

In the framework of the DAF project (the Antifraud Documentation information system), the JRC continued the development of the DAF authoring and end-user subsystems. For the authoring subsystem, the JRC completed the specifications for a new client-server, MS-Windows front-end, SGML-based solution. For the end-user subsystem, four electronic books containing antifraud descriptions for the UK, GR, SP and PO were prepared and demonstrated.

In the framework of the preparation for future JRC support actions on behalf of the UCLAF, the JRC assisted in the formulation of a number of project funding requests to the Secretary General. At the time of this writing, the JRC is preparing a problem statement for opening up subsets of the database IRENE (official communications on fraud cases) to member state authorities, is preparing a call-for-tender for doing a feasibility study for an integrated information management system for the UCLAF, is doing an exploratory statistical analysis of the IRENE data, and is also offering consultancy on the migration and redefinition of the IRENE database.

Relations with European Parliament Petitions Database

The JRC, in collaboration with the User Service, has specified and implemented a significant number of system enhancements to the Petitions Database through migration to a more powerful platform and also through the addition of several new functionalities. It is expected to install the new facilities in December 1994.

SUPPORT TO THE COMMUNITY STATISTICAL OFFICE

Statistical Applications of Artificial Neural Networks.

The work described below has been undertaken on behalf of the Statistical Office of the European Communities (EUROSTAT), as part of a study of the development of connectionist tools for various statistical applications.

Two unsupervised data analysis tasks were addressed in 1994. The connectionist Self-Organising Map (SOM) model, whose potential for unsupervised clustering is by now fully recognised, has been used in both cases. The SOM algorithm maps the typically high-dimensional feature of socio-economic data sets onto a two-dimensional lattice, while preserving and reflecting the prominent topological characteristics of the raw data distribution.

The main task deals with time series of foreign trade statistics. The data set consists of yearly import/export figures for about 200 countries, 10 product groups, and covers about 15 years. Innovative methods for addressing the following problems have been successfully developed:

- Missing data estimation. This is an important issue because missing reports are frequent in foreign trade statistics. Basically, the SOM model assigns missing values according to well-known nearest neighbour principles. However, a comparison with the more traditional K-means technique showed that the smoothing properties which characterise the SOM approach to quantitization tend to improve the missing data estimation process. And, in absolute terms, experiments on false missing data (some known values are treated as missing) resulted in average estimation errors within the prescribed range.
- Semi-parametric estimation. Assume that many series may be described with a common parametric regression model (with different regression vectors). Studies have been carried out on several implementations of connectionist models which map, in an orderly fashion, the different instances of the regression curve. A fresh comprehensive representation of the

series trends emerges as a result of this generalisation of the SOM model.

A secondary task concerned the identification of stable/unstable seasonality or trend patterns in time-series collections.

References

- /1/ Alvarez, M., Varfis, A. Decoding Functions for Kohonen Maps; Proceedings of the European Symposium on Artificial Neural Networks - ESANN'94 - Bruxelles, Belgium, April 20-21-22 1994. Edited by M. Verleysen.
- /2/ Alvarez, M., Auger, J.M., Varfis, A., On Self-Organised Regression Curves; Submitted to ICANN'95, Paris, France, 9-13 October 1995.

SUPPORT TO INTERNATIONAL CO-OPERATION (DG I)

Collaboration with IAEA on Safeguards

Design Information Verification

The activity deals with the development of dedicated systems for IAEA requirements in the field of design information verification (DIV). For complex nuclear plants, such as large reprocessing facilities, a large number of vessels and their associated pipework must be physically checked and compared to plant design drawings. Once these checks have been completed, the continuity of knowledge for verified plant structures has to be maintained. The activity in 1994 comprised the realisation of a dedicated system based on video image processing (DIVIP) and the development of techniques for a 3D representation based on laser range images.

Dedicated video system DIVIP

A possible solution for the IAEA requirements is based on the use of image processing for comparing video pictures taken at different times. A dedicated system, based on this technique, has been developed and tested /1/. The system includes a colour TV camera, a portable PC equipped with a digital image capture board and a high capacity disk for the digital storage of video pictures. The application software creates reference image files, compares images and evidences changes in the structure. The changes are shown asflashing elements in the picture. The first system was shipped to IAEA in June 94.

A successful demonstration of the DIVIP equipment was conducted by the Agency in a Japanese facility. Some suggestions for improving the system have been made by the Agency inspectors. A major system modification concerns the addition of a magneto-optical disk with a capacity of 600 uncompressed images. The optical disk will also substitute the tape streamer for image back-up. The application software for image storage and retrieval has been rewritten to integrate the optical disk unit. It is expected that the new version of DIVIP will be ready in March 95.

3D-Reconstruction

A second technique for DIV is based on the comparison of the structural CAD model of a plant and 3D data acquired locally by means of a laser range measurement system /2/. Different modules have been developed for this purpose.

Fully Programmable Range Data Acquisition

Existing hardware and software tools allow the acquisition of range views of the environment within a programmable angle of view of up to 270 degrees in the horizontal, and up to 60 degrees in the vertical. Spatial resolution (i.e. the number of samples per angular unit) is also programmable. *Figure 4.1* shows the optical head of the laser range measurement system mounted on a computer controlled pan-and-tilt unit.



Figure 4.1. Laser Range Acquisition System: optical head mounted on a computer controlled pan-and-tilt unit.

Surface Segmentation

This module takes as input a range image and outputs a description of the surfaces (planar and bi-quadratic) present in the image. The segmentation is based on a hybrid algorithm capable of putting together both edges and surface representations /7/. A 3D boundary representation of all the surfaces found is also provided.

3D Object Representation

Two different approaches have been investigated for representing an object in 3D. In the first approach a 3D Delaunay triangulation is performed for each individual image, and a single polyhedral, triangular faceted representation is obtained by fusing the individual representations /4, 5/.

The second approach uses a deformable surface for constructing a 3D representation of the scene from multiple range images /6/. The deformable surface used is a triangular piecewise planar mesh of arbitrary topology. This allows changes in the spatial density of the triangular mesh elements to fit to discontinuities found in the 3D data. *Figure 4.2* shows the results of this technique to the 3D reconstruction of an office scene.



Figure 4.2. Deformable surface fit to 3D data from an office scene. The spatial density of the triangular mesh increases near discontinuities.

Range Image Registration

This module accepts as input two range images, and an initial estimate of the relative displacement between the positions from which the two images were captured /3,5/. It outputs the 3D rigid transformation (i.e. the six degrees of freedom: 3 translation and 3 rotation) between the two viewpoints.

Fusion of 3D Surface Representations

After finding the 3D surface representation of two adjacent range images, there is the need to have a single model representation. This module accepts as input multiple adjacent range images, and outputs an integrated surface representation, as well as the corresponding 3D boundary representation. *Figure 4.3* shows different phases for the 3D reconstruction of an office scene.

References

- /1/ Bettendroffer E., Use of image processing for design information verification, progress report to IAEA, July 1993
- /2/ Gonçalves J.G.M., Sequeira V. "Application of Laser Range Images to Design Information Verification", in Proceedings of IAEA Symposium on International Safeguards, Vienna (Austria), 14-18 March 1994.
- /3/ Sequeira V., Gonçalves J.G.M, Ribeiro M.I. 3D Modelling of In-Door Scenes using Laser Range Sensing, Proc. 4th IAPR International Workshop on Machine Vision Applications, pp. 315-318, Kawasaki (Japan), December 13-15, 1994.
- /4/ Sequeira V., Gonçalves J.G.M, Ribeiro M.I. "3D Environment Modelling Using Laser Range Sensing", Proceedings of the International Symposium on Intelligent Robotic Systems'94 (IRS'94), pp.238-245, July Grenoble (F), 1994.
- /5/ Sequeira V., Gonçalves J.G.M, Ribeiro M.I. "Construction of a 3D Model of an Unknown Environment using Range Data", Proceedings of the Luso-German Workshop on Graphics and Modelling in Science and Technology, June 27-28, Coimbra (P), 1994.
- /6/ Iton A., Gonçalves J.G.M. "3D Scene Representation using a Deformable Surface", JRC Technical Note (to be published in 1995).
- /7/ Sequeira V., Gonçalves J.G.M, Ribeiro M.I. "3D Scene Modelling from Multiple Range Images" (to be published in 1995).

Sealing and Identification Techniques

Owing to a common interest in ultrasonic sealing techniques, the collaboration between JRC-Ispra and the Canadian AECL/AECB has been continued as a contribution to a possible technical harmonization of two different techniques that the IAEA wished to explore. In 1994 JRC-Ispra has devoted a large effort to developing software programs and codes based on the JRC

SUPPORT TO COMMUNITY POLICIES



Figure 4.3. 3D Reconstruction of an office scene: 3D wireframe and grey level representations, 3D edge detection and surfaces representation

technology and suitable to the AECL format. Set of equipment and related know-how were delivered to AECL by JRC-Ispra along with the results of its positive experience with newly selected ultrasonic/electronic hardware boards from the SFT company (F). The selection of a common ultrasonic hardware, and related software, for a future portable equipment is still pending and will require further and accurate evaluation from both sides before a decision is made.

In 1994, 50 sealing-bolts were ordered by IAEA and delivered in time. A larger order of 250 units was placed to JRC-Ispra before end 1994.

Training Courses on Tank Calibration

During this year, in collaboration with the IAEA, a test of the training course on mass and volume determination of liquids in tanks was conducted at the MiniTAME laboratory. The first tank calibrations course was held in April 1994 with the participation of three IAEA inspectors, and a second one in October.

Based on the experience gained, some instrumentation used for dip tube measurements has been replaced with three new pressure portable gauges (PPG). A new concept for the continuous recalibration of tanks has been developed and implemented on the 200 l tank.

A software has been designed and developed in Lab-View. This software is to be considered as an operator tool and is able to present a plant set-up, to perform data acquisition, traditional calibration or continuous recalibration and to perform data analysis.

The advantage to having the plant set-up option is that mistakes are avoided (valve positions, tanks not empty, etc.). Every action, except one, is carried out from the PC (environmental data acquisition, weights, electrovalves, etc.).

The only manual operation carried out by the trainee is to transfer the desired increment of liquid to the main tank.

In the near future a new continuous recalibration technique should be implemented in the MiniTAME laboratory. An Inspector Unit, consistent of a dual sensors PPG and a portable PC with special software should be ready for the next course scheduled for 1995.

SUPPORT TO THE COMMUNITY INDUSTRIAL POLICY (DG III)

Parallel Computing Applications

The main task of this activity is to contribute to the valorisation of ESPRIT results with particular reference to the European SUPERNODE massive parallel transputer systems and to the new European parallel computers such as the CS-1 (CONCERTO) machines, MULTICLUSTER and MEGAFRAME. Participation within the "Network of Centers of Competence" aims at advancing European industrial and commercial awareness and use of parallel high performance computing and networking systems.

The activity for parallel computing applications has been pursued and the following achievements have been accomplished:

- implementation of an upgrading for the CS-1 CON-CERTO parallel machine with 12 nodes and with special peripherical devices;
- development, testing and implementation of special

algorithmic tools for designing parallel network applications;

implementation of parallelised fast transforms techniques, based on the theory of orthogonal polynomials, on CONCERTO and evaluation of the speed factor with respect to standard sequential machines.

In collaboration with the VALUE Programme, many new enhancements of the 3D image ray-tracing and radiosity software have now been pursued.

The specialised TRI-DYN hardware and software systems have been connected to the parallel CONCERTO and TWS 88 SPIRIT machines, and as a consequence, the 3D comp compression software has been implemented on the full parallel TRI-DYN CONCERTO system.

The implementation of a new parallel machine, TN-330 based on a T.9000 Transputer microprocessor



Figure 4.4. TWS (| SPIRIT and CONCERTO CS-1 Parallel Systems.



has been studied. This parallel machine is intended to replace the old SUPERNODE system. All the previous software developed by the "3D Image Processing & Synthesis" Laboratory will be implemented and tested on this new parallel machine.

References

- /1/ A. Pinti, J.C. Grossetie, BENCHMARKING MONOPROCES-SOR AND MULTI-PROCESSOR SYSTEMS USING NEURO-NAL TECHNIQUES, Supercomputing 1994, Washington USA 1994
- /2/ A. Pinti, J.C. Grossetie, A METHODOLOGY FOR DIMEN-SIONING SPMD DISTRIBUTED SYSTEMS APPLIED TO INDUS-TRIAL APPLICATIONS, International Conference and Exhibition on High Performance Computing and Networking, Münich 18-20 Avril 1994
- /3/ A. Pinti, J.C. Grossetie, MULTHAYER NEURAL NETWORKS ON A PIPELINE OF TRANSPUTERS APPLICATION TO AUTO-MATIC ALL-NIGHT SLEEP STAGES QUOTING, 2nd International Conference on Softwore for Multiprocessors and Supercomputers, Moscow, 21-23 Septembre 1994
- /4/ A. Pinti, J.C. Grossetie, ART 2-Å ON T-NODE MACHINE AP-PLICATION TO AUTOMATIC CLASSIFICATION OF ALL-NIGHT SLEEP STAGES, 2nd African Conference on Research in Computer Science, ORSTOM-INRIA, Ouagadougou, 12-18 Octobre 1994
- /5/ R.F. Gloden, PROPRIETES GENERALES DES POLYNOMES ORTHOGONAUX, Technical Note no. 195.05, ISEI/IE 2836/1995.

SUPPORT TO THE COMMUNITY AGRICULTURAL POLICY (DG VI)

Electronic Identification of Farm Animals Using Implantable Transponders

This research project was assigned by the Directorate General for Agriculture (DG VI) FEOGA Unit VI-G-4 in order to prevent fraud and to respond to the specific problems that the registration and identification of individual livestock present.

The project was carried by three teams: Universidad Autonoma de Barcelona (Spain), Instituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale della Lombardia e dellEmilia (Italy), and Universidade de Evora (Portugal). The LaSCo laboratory was also involved in this project as neutral partner for the study and the qualification of the system chosen, which consists of subcutaneously implanted transponders (*Fig. 4.5*) read by an antenna connected to a radio frequency module (*Figs. 4.6 and 4.7*). The readings are stored in a portable computer with a specially developed software, and can be processed in a headquarters which has to be defined.



Figure 4.5. View of the transponders used in animal tagging

During 1994, tests were conducted in the LaSCo laboratory on:

- 10 read-only transponders used for animal tagging. The transponders, developed by Texas Instruments, were tested under various thermal, humidity and mechanical stresses in order to study their capability to be used in animal tagging and the behaviour of such. an equipment during the lifetime of the animals concerned within this project: goats, ewes and cattle;
- two radio frequency modules, also developed by Texas Instruments, that were used to read and program the transponders in animal tagging. The first

thermal tests were conducted end of 1994 and will continue in 1995. The various tests the equipments was submitted to were picked from among international standards and also from in-field studies in order to study their performance under various thermal and mechanical stresses which can occur in field utilisation.

Various technical meetings took place in Barcelona (June, September), Milano (October), and Evora (December 1994), with the participation of JRC staff, in order to evaluate and to control the progress and the correct operation of the selected equipment on the various animal types, to evaluate the practical problems of such a technology (transponder implantation time, reading time, reading efficiency, loss, transponder recovery in the slaughterhouse) and to provide technical



Figure 4.6. View of a farm demonstration in Evora (Portugal)

SUPPORT TO COMMUNITY POLICIES



Figure 4.7. View of the complete reading system (reader, computer etc...)

assistance to DG VI Feoga. The demonstrations took place at an experimental farm, at a normal farm and also in a field trial.

The test programme foreseen for 1995 in this framework is the following:

- continuation of the thermal and mechanical tests on the radio frequency modules;
- study of the behaviour under thermal and mechanical stresses of new programmable transponders;
- study under thermal and mechanical stresses all the available transponders which can be used in animal tagging;
- study of the performances of a portable transponder reader under thermal, mechanical and electromagnetic stresses;
- study of the influence of electromagnetic perturbation on the radio frequency reading capability of the readers; in-field electromagnetic perturbation measurements.

SUPPORT TO THE COMMUNITY TRANSPORT POLICY (DG VII)

Aircraft Incident Database

In 1992 DG VII and the JRC signed an agreement to start the pilot project for the development of the European Co-ordination Centre for Aircraft Incident Reporting Systems (ECC-AIRS). During 1992 and 1993 the hardware and software environment was purchased and set-up, the architecture of the database system was defined and implemented, prototypes of various front-end components were produced and tested and design documentation was created.

In 1994 the database server was put into production. During the year several hundreds of test occurrences, originating from the German reporting system, have been loaded. Using this preliminary data and after an evaluation of the 1993 prototypes, the components for data entry and data retrieval were designed and implemented. Data import libraries have been created for German, British and Scandinavian aviation incidents and the first formal imports for each of these datasources (total of approximately 50.000 incidents) started at the end of the year. The design of a simple graphical data analysis tool has been completed and is to be implemented. A raw translations of thousands of aviation-related words and definitions have been produced in six languages (French, Dutch, German, Spanish, Danish and Italian). It will be possible to use the front-ends of the database in any of the supported languages.

It is foreseen that the ECC-AIRS project will take until July 1995 to finish. By that time the last software components will be implemented, all available data from Germany, England and Scandinavian countries will be imported and all involved partners (DG VII and



Figure 4.8. ECC-AIRS: Main architecture

SUPPORT TO COMMUNITY POLICIES

the member-states) will have evaluated the pilot implementation of ECC-AIRS.

If the projects steering committee decides that the ECC-AIRS solution approach is feasible and that the system shall be placed in production, then an additional follow-up project will have to be started to 'industrialise' the system. This will include resolving the bugs and problems found during evaluation, defining the time scale and methodology to introduce the system in local organisations, deciding on which organisation will run the central production system and, if required, updating the ECC-AIRS system to the latest ICAO (International Civil Aviation Organisation) standards for aircraft accident/incident reporting systems (ADREP manual).

For more details on the achievements and the state of the project, see /1 to 7/.

References

- /1/ Post, W. ECC-AIRS: Project Manual, JRC-ISEI-PIM, Technical Note I.94.31
- /2/ Post, W. ECC-AIRS: User Requirements Document, JRC-ISEI-URD, Technical Note I.94.32
- /3/ Post, W. ECC-AIRS: Softwore requirements Document , JRC-ISEI-SRD, Technicol Note 1.94.33
- /4/ Post, W.; Powell, J. ECC-AIRS: Architectural Design Document, JRC-ISEI-ADD, Technicol Note I.94.63
- /5/ Post, W. ECC-AIRS: Project Progress Report (1), JRC-ISEI-PRR-1, Technical Note 1.94.34
- /6/ Post, W. ECC-AIRS: Project Progress Report (2), JRC-ISEI-PRR-2, Technical Note 1.94.35
- /7/ Post, W. European Co-ordination Centre for Aircraft Incident Reporting Systems, 11th Internatianal Data Exchange on Aviation Safety (IDEAS), August 1994, Stockholm, Sweden

SUPPORT TO THE COMMUNITY ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY (DG XI)

Major Accident Hazards Connected with Industrial Activities Involving Dangerous Chemicals (implementation of Directive: 82/501 and its revisions).

Support to the implementation of the "Seveso" directive (82/501/EEC) concerns the Major Accident Reporting System (MARS), the Community Documentation Centre on Industrial Risk (CDCIR) and the co-ordination of a technical working group for providing guidance on selected topics implied by the Directive. A memorandum of understanding between DG XI and the JRC for the set-up and operation of the Major Accident Hazards Bureau was signed in January 1994 (Fig. 4.9).

The Community Documentation Centre on Industrial Risk (CDCIR)

The Community Documentation Centre on Industrial Risk (CDCIR) has been regularly operated by increasing the collection of documents, and by diffusing information on safety regulations, on codes of good practice and on accident investigations to authorities, industry and research organisations.

At the same time the CDCIR publication series has been enriched by four new volumes on control of major accident hazards:

- Vol. 18 C. Hamilton, R. De Cort & K. O' Donnell: Report on land use planning controls for major hazards installations in the European Union, EUR 15700 EN (1994)
- Vol. 19 P.C. Cacciabue, I. Gerbaulet & N. Mitchison (eds.): Safety Management Systems in the Process Industry (Proceedings of the Seminar in Ravello (I) on October 7-8, 1993), EUR 15743 EN (1994)
- Vol. 20 B. De Marchi & S. Funtowicz: General Guidelines for Content of Information to the Public (Directive 82/501/EEC - Annex VII) EUR 15946 EN (1994)
- Vol. 21 I.C. Ziomas, PN Tzoumaka, C Fiorentini, A. Romano and M. Locatelli: Lessons Learnt from Emergencies after Accidents in Greece and in Italy Involving Dangerous Substances, EUR 15767 EN (1994).



Figure 4.9. Community Documentation Centre on Industrial Risk (CDCIR)

The latter report follows the previous publications on chemical emergencies and lessons learnt in UK, France, Germany, the Netherlands, Ireland and Denmark. Similar studies for Belgium, Luxembourg, Portugal and Spain have been completed and are being edited for publication in the same series.

The Major Accident Reporting System (MARS)

The Major Accident Reporting System (MARS) has continued to operate by recording, analysing and diffusing information on accidents notified (a total of about 200 accidents have been inserted in MARS in 1994). The lessons learnt for preventive policy have been the subject of regular reporting to the Committee of Competent Authorities, and the subject of open publications /1/. After a first book on lessons learnt /2/, a report including the experience gained by ten years operation of the system has been prepared. Its publication is expected by mid 1995.

Technical Working Groups

The objective of the technical working groups (TWGs) established by the Commission (DG XI) is to produce guidance on various aspects of implementation of the Directive. Such groups are co-ordinated by ISEI as far as both the organisation of the meetings and the achievement of the expected results are concerned. As such groups consist both of representatives of authorities and control organisations and of representatives of industrial parties (CEFIC, CONCAWE, EP FORUM, AEGPL, EPSC), ISEI is becoming a focal point for a constructive dialogue between authorities and industry towards common views on the technical aspects of the control of major accident hazards. In 1994 significant progress was achieved by the technical working groups for the "Safety Reports" and for the "Safety Management Systems" /5/ in collecting, analysing and comparing information on national guidelines, industrial codes of practice and recommendations.

In connection with the works or TWG "Safety Reports" a Seminar on Runaway Reactions was organised in Frankfurt-am-Main (7-8 Nov. 1994) with the objectives of sharing information and lessons from accidents occurred, as well as on methods for preventing, controlling and mitigating related accidents. The resulting recommendations will be included within the hazard identification chapter of the guidelines in preparation.

Furthermore, ISEI received the mandate for producing draft guidelines as a basis of discussions within the TWGs. The guidelines have then to be discussed by the Committee of the Competent Authorities before being adopted by the Commission. The Guidelines for Content of Information to the Public /6/ constitute the first guidance published by the Commission for the implementation of the Directive.

References

- /1/ K. Rasmussen: The database of the Major Accident Reporting System (MARS); A. Amendola, F. Francocci, M. Chaugny: Gravity Scales for Classifying Chemical Accidents. Proceedings of ESReDA Seminar on Accident Analysis. Ispra. October 13-14, 1994. S.P.I.94.66
- /2/ G. Drogaris: Learning from Major Accidents Involving Dangerous Substances. in Safety Science, 16 (1993) 89-113
- /3/ K. Rasmussen: Natural Events and Accidents with Hazardous Materials. Jaurnal of Hazardous Materials, Vol.40, Issue 1 (1995) 43-54
- /4/ P. Haastrup and K. Rasmussen: A Study of FN Curves for Accidents Involving Highly Flammable Gases, Process Safety and Environmental Protection, Vol.72, B4 (1994) 205-210
- /5/ PC Cacciabue, I. Gerbaulet & N. Mitchison (eds.): Safety Management Systems in the Process Industry (Proceedings of the Seminar in Ravello (I) on October 7-8, 1993), EUR 15743 EN (1994)
- /6/ B. De Marchi & S. Funtowicz: General Guidelines for Content of Information to the Public (Directive 82/501/EEC - Annex VII) EUR 15946 EN (1994)

Scientific-Technical Support to the Biotechnology Directives

The activities in the area of biotechnology involve a close co-operation with the Directorate General for Environment, Nuclear Safety and Civil Protection - DG XI who has the responsibility for the work on the implementation of the biotechnology Directives 90/2.19/ EEC and 90/220/EEC.

BIOSAFE is a Documentation Centre that collects relevant information on safety issues and on regulatory aspects of biotechnology. It reviews the regulatory developments in the European Commission as well as in the Member States. Whereas documents on new legal developments occupy a special place in the bulletin, equally importance is given to the background documents produced by or on behalf of the Commission and Member States. A section is also devoted to pertinent books and articles published in the field and to results of risk assessments carried out prior to field releases.

In addition, appropriate applications of biotechnology inventions submitted to the European Patent Office or to the World Intellectual Property Organisation are surveyed. The reason is because they contain very detailed descriptions of the inventions, which are in some cases relevant for the risk assessment carried out by the Competent Authorities and which sometimes give a global indication of the developments in the sector.

All documents are held in Ispra at the disposal of the interested reader and photocopies can be made available if not protected by copyright.

BIOSAFE has produced and published a new issue of a bulletin of publications with abstracts, a keyword index and an index of all documents. This bulletin was circulated to all Competent Authorities responsible for the implementation of the Biotechnology Directives, and to any other interested party, free of charge. The BIOSAFE mailing list contains about 1,000 addresses. In the course of 1995 a project has been initiated that endeavours the electronic publication of the bulletin.

ISEI has also provided direct scientific-technical information to the Committees of Competent Authorities. Substantial information has been found by exploiting the numerous connections to on-line databases that the JRC has established over the last few years. It should be noted here that the biotechnology group has built up a well-appreciated reputation in the area of informatics, and especially in the area of development and management of databases.

ISEI has contributed strongly in various DG XI activities. Regular discussions with the Committee of Competent Authorities and the activities in the Working Group on risk assessment in connection with the release of transgenic organisms should be mentioned. A substantial period has been spent at the DG XI headquarters in Brussels to digest the data and to produce reports on the deliberate release of transgenic organisms in the EU.

ISEI presents its activities on a regular basis at international meetings and symposia. For 1995, an international EC-US Symposium on the deliberate release of transgenic plants will be organised at the JRC site. Previous editions have demonstrated that these workshops, co-chaired by the European Commission (DG XI), the US Department of Agriculture (APHIS) and by the US Environmental Protection Agency (OPTS) pro-



Comparative Study on the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) of Installations for the Disposal of Toxic and Dangerous Waste

A review of the implementation of the EIA Directive /1/ adopted in 1985 was undertaken by the Commission in 1993, in accordance with Article 11, which provided for an assessment of its application and effectiveness. The Commission's Report covers the period up to March 1992. One of its conclusions was: /2, page 65/: "... the review reveals that, in a number of Member States, only a minority of EISs are of satisfactory quality". DG XI requested ISEI to undertake a study to identify the common approaches and the main differences in the indicators, impact prediction methods and terminology used in Member States when carrying out environmental impact assessment. The projects consid-



Figure 4.10. The Biosafe Scheme

ered are waste disposal installations (incinerators, chemical treatment installations and landfills) for the treatment of toxic and dangerous waste listed in Annex 1, paragraph 9, of the EIA Directive. The main aim of the study is to contribute to the improvement of the quality of the Environmental Impact Studies (EISs) produced in the Member States. The study also aims to contribute to the effective consultation in the case of projects with transboundary impacts considered both in the EIA Directive and in the Espoo Convention /3/.

EISs Collected, Identification Form and Report on Each EIS

The total number of EISs collected is 28 and they concern 35 installations (some plants include more than one installation). They have been supplied by developers
and/or consultants, via contact persons at the competent authority of each Member State, and are written in the nine official languages of the Union.

From each EIS, an "Identification Form", that summarises the main "general information" about the EIS and a "Report", that analyses the main "technical information" of interest are produced. All these documents are written in English. Data concerning the identity of the developer, and other confidential data, are reported only in the identification form, which is an internal document and will not be included in the final report.

The main information contained in each identification form is as follows: reference code; background (context in which the plant has been presented and authorised); title of the study; short description of the plant and type of installation(s) located in the plant; type of waste treated; location, area and capacity of the plant; cost of the project and cost of the EIS; addresses of developer, competent authority and consultant; submission and authorisation dates; status of the plant; EIS arrival date at JRC Ispra and list of the material received.

The report on each EIS is structured in five sections: Background, Description of the Plant, Indicators, Impact Prediction Methods, Uncertainty Analysis Methods and Evaluation Criteria, Risk Assessment Methods and Overall Comments on the EIS. The report also includes two appendices: List of the Documents Received and Main Scientific/Technical Terms used in the EIS.

A list of environmental (natural and human) factors is used as a reference in analysing each EIS. It has been compiled taking into account the factors explicitly mentioned in the EIA Directive as well as factors mentioned in national legislation and/or considered relevant in technical and scientific publications (see, e.g. /4,5/). Thus the list includes the following factors: human beings, air, climate, surface water, soil and ground water, landscape, land use, flora and fauna, ecosystems (interactions), noise and vibration, material assets, cultural heritage, economic system, social system, traffic, other factors.

Preliminary Results and Final Report

One EIS analysed in the study concerns a plant which treats waste from an industry producing antibiotics by a fermentation process. The plant includes two installations: an installation for biological treatment of waste water and an incinerator to treat the micro-organisms used in the fermentation process together with those produced as an excess in the biological treatment. The incinerator treats toxic and dangerous waste. The table next page summarises, for each environmental factor, the indicators, the impact prediction methods and the uncertainty analysis methods considered in the part of the EIS that concerns the incinerator. The factors most affected by the proposed project, and which were analysed in more detail, are air and noise.

The preliminary results indicate that prediction methods used within EISs of this category are often not stated. Where prediction methods are stated in most cases they are poorly explained (e.g. data used, application of models, numerical or graphical results obtained). Some environmental factors (e.g. climate, flora and fauna) are often not considered while uncertainty analysis is rarely undertaken.

The study is expected to be completed by the end of 1995. One foreseen development is the production of guidelines to assist in the choice of methods for impact prediction and evaluation used in the environmental impact assessment of waste disposal installations.

References

- /1/ Commission of the European Communities: Council Directive of 27 June 1985 on the assessment of the effects of certain public and private projects on the environment. [Directive 85/337/ EEC]. Official Journol of the European Communities No L 175/4048, 5.7.1985.
- /2/ Commission of the European Communities: Report from the Commission of the implementation of Directive 85/337/ EEC on the assessment of the effects of certain public and private projects on the environment. (COM(93) 28 final - Vol. 12). Brussels, 2 April 1993.
- /3/ United Nations: Canvention on Environmental Impoct Assessment in a Transboundary Context. Report E/ECE/1250 (1991).
- /4/ A.G. Colombo (ed): Environmental Impact Assessment. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1992.
- /5/ A.G. Colombo and G. Premazzi (eds): Proceedings of the Workshop ''Indicators and Indices for Environmental Impact Assessment and Risk Analysis''. Ispra, 15-16 May 1990. Report EUR 13060 EN (1990).

INCINERATION INSTALLATION. INDICATORS, IMPACT PREDICTION METHODS AND UNCERTAINTY ANALYSIS METHODS CONSIDERED FOR EACH ENVIRONMENTAL FACTOR.

Environmental Factor	Environmental Indicators	Impact Prediction Methods	Uncertainty Analysis Methods
Air	Temperature, dust, organic carbon, CO, HCl, HF, SO ₂ +SO ₃ , NO _x and odour	Gaussian model to estimate dispersion of pollutants. Method proposed by German law TA-Luft 86 for the optimisation of the height of the stack	Worst case analysis both in the dispersion model and in the optimisation of the stack height
Climate	Amount of energy exchanged and contaminants composition in output flow	Subjective judgement based on the chosen indicators	-
Soil	Area of the plant	-	-
Landscape	Visual impact	Normal visual techniques	-
Flora and fauna	Presence of uncommon or protected species in the zone affected	-	_
Noise and vibration	Noise intensity	Iterative calculation of noise intensity at the perimeter of the plant based on addition of mitigation measures to meet legislative thresholds	Noise intensity estimation based on the worst case situation (no air attenuation)
Economic system	Number of new employees required for the plant	Management and planning of the industry (creation of employment)	-
Social system	Press articles and complaints by the public involved	-	-

Safety of Nuclear Installations

ISEI has given scientific and technical support to DG XI during 1994 for the second year. In particular support to specific actions of DG XI-F in the safety of nuclear installations has been given, for the activities hereafter described. Moreover ISEI attends regularly the meetings of the two advisory expert groups of DGXI, for the reactor safety: the Nuclear Regulators Working Group and the Reactor Safety Working Group.

Monitoring, or Assessment of the Results, of Study ContractsGgiven by DG XI.

During 1994 a number of technical reports has been received from DG XI for a technical evaluation.

The results of a study contract reviewing EUROPEAN NATIONAL PSA PRACTICES, with a view of possibly deriving a general EUROPEAN PSA PRACTICES having the consensus of European practitioners, have been assessed.

As a basis for the assessment, the EUR Report 15720, Regulatory Action Related to Probabilistic Safety Assessment Studies, was also taken into account as an additional source of information.

During 1994, the Report National and Community Research Policies and Programmes on Reactor Safety was issued as a EURATOM report (EUR 15618), compiled by E. Della Loggia, on the basis of national contributions and the support of IST and ISEI.

Monitoring the Activities of the Joint CEC/USNRC Project on the Uncertainty Analysis of the AccidentCcodes COSYMA and MAACS for the Probabilistic Assessment of the Consequences Following a Radioactive Release from a Nuclear Power Plant

This project is based on a wide use of Expert Judgement (EJ) Techniques and is relevant to PSA level 3. The project is funded by DG XII (Research on Radioprotection) and DG XI (Safety of Nuclear Installation Unit and Radioprotection Unit). A procedure guide for the application of EJ techniques will be produced by the Technical University of Delft. We recall that EJ techniques are being widely used for PSA level 2 and, to a lesser extent, for PSA level 1 (see, for instance, NUR-EG 1150) and may have an important impact on PSA results. ISEI attended a three-day meeting in Brussels and devoted a seminar on EJ and the organisation of a panel of experts to be elicited.

Participation in IAEA Expert Group Meetings or Specialist Meetings on Behalf of DG XI

During 1994, ISEI participated in:

- the last meeting of an IAEA working group for the Development of Safety Principles for the Design of Future Nuclear Power Plants. The final version of a Technical Note (to be issued as IAEA TECDOC) has been produced by the group;
- a specialist meeting in Halden on Advanced Information Methods and Artificial Intelligence in NPP Control Rooms.

Issuing Catalogues of Historical Earthquakes Data

ISEI has conducted a study on the representation by a Geographic Information System (GIS) of data on historical earthquakes that have occurred in some European Union countries. A spatial analysis of these data has also been performed. This activity had the purpose of:

- demonstrating the potentiality and possibilities of using GIS for storing and interrogating the Catalogue of European Earthquakes (Van Gils J. M. and Leydecker G. 1991);
- investigating possible correlations among earthquake events, population and location of nuclear facilities;
- identifying a suitable data format with a view to the future publication of an updated version of the European catalogue or catalogues covering other geographic areas.

A report on the activity, entitled Spatial Analysis and Earthquake Risk Assessment, has been presented to the Reactor Safety Working Group, one of the two DG XI advisory group of experts from the various European Union countries.

The installation of the European Earthquake catalogue on the Geographical Information System has demonstrated significant improvements in the possibilities for viewing, interrogating and analysing the events in the catalogue. The possibilities for selecting and displaying events according to position, time, intensity or other database attributes are found to be highly useful for those working with such data. The GIS facilities also provide useful ways for investigating some of the acknowledged weaknesses of the present catalogue with respect to duplications of events and homogeneity across countries. Furthermore the possibility to use the multimedia approach to retain links to historical records, by including scanned photographs and text in the database, has been shown to be feasible and practical for future improved catalogues.

SUPPORT TO THE COMMUNITY INDUSTRIAL INNOVATION POLICY (DG XIII)

Image Processing and Synthesis and Holographic Processing and Synthesis

Image Processing and Synthesis techniques are applied to the synthesis of holograms in such a way that one can reconstruct real three dimensional scenes. The developments are based on optical phenomena that were discovered in the JRC 3-D Image Processing Laboratory. The main objectives of the work are to develop visualization on advanced parallel computers and new color holographic flat screen for industrial applications.

There are two main objectives. First, the applications of new signals and images compression techniques based on advanced photonic technologies and on present available mathematical tools like fractals and wavelets. Second, miniaturization of optical systems by substituting classical optical components like lenses and mirrors with holographic diffractive gratings.

Within the framework of the previous VALUE Programmes, theoretical studies involving the enhancement of classical diffraction theory and the realisation of diffraction grating have been done during the last three years. As a result, mathematical synthesis of monochromatic volume holograms has been achieved. Seven patents have been obtained including optoelectronic peripherical devices.

Marketing studies, performed under the responsibility of DG XIII Direction C Innovation, demonstrated that applications of the JRC European patents have to be developed.

Starting from the results obtained in 1993 and following the final report from NODAL International Consulting , the valorisation of the achievements in the following areas have been recommended.

 holographic compression techniques associated with fractals and wavelets;

- realisation of holographic diffractive gratings:
 - demonstration of the present JRC compression technologies to various industries which are mainly interested in the field of satellite images, medical images and information signal compression technologies for telecommunications;
 - development of a holographic diffractive grating prototype based on mathematical hologram synthesis, in order to demonstrate the applicability of this technology to 3D holographic color screens and to high resolution digital television.

The following achievements have been accomplished:

- theoretical developments on basic ray-tracing and radiosity techniques, initiated four years ago, have been pursued;
- concerning the holographic synthesis, theoretical developments have also been pursued and comparisons with experimental data have been demonstrated;
- experimental setups for holograms in true colours have been accomplished and associated holographic diffractive gratings have been realised;
- furthermore, demonstrations of the present JRC holographic synthesis and compression technologies have been presented to various industries which are mainly interested in the field of satellite images and information signal compression technologies for telecommunications.

References

- /1/ P. Noirard, J.C. Grossetie, PHOTOCHROMIE INTERFEREN-TIELLE LIPPMANN, EUR Report 16249 FR , 1995
- /2/ R.F. Gloden, APPLICATION D'UNE METHODE DE GALERKIN GENERALISEE A L'EQUATION DE PROPAGATION DES ONDES, International Congress of Mathematicians, Zurich, 3-11 Août 1994 ORA 38764.



Figure 4.11. JRC Holographic Synthesis and Image Compression Techniques

Ultra High Sensitivity Interferometric Sensors

During 1994, co-ordinated testing campaigns have been designed and carried out in Ispra (Laser and Applied Optics Laboratory) and in Strasbourg (GOA/ CRN). These tests allowed the quantitative characterisation of the three following interferometric devices /1, 2, 3/:

- interferometric sensor for the detection of radiation flux transient;
- all-optical interferometric modulator;
- interferometric device for the detection of micro-vibrations and gravitational interactions.

The performances of the devices were further enhanced especially with regard to their stability and calibration. A clear distinction was obtained between thermal and optical effects (i.e. radiation pressure). Distinct response times were registered for radiation pressure (fast response) and thermal effects (slow response).

These results were achieved, in collaboration with CRN/GOA - Strasbourg, by evaluating the temporal and spatial variation of the interferometric fringes. This required the development of special image processing correlation hardware and software. Clear correlations between input stimuli and output device responses were found. Experiments, at CRN/GOA and JRC Ispra as well, regarding all of the sensors, proved the repeatability of their performances.

During this work the sensitivity of the devices, in particular the fully optical switch, was further improved using excitation of less than 0.01 mW.

Extensive work has been performed on the optomechanical detector, which is a device for detecting weak low frequency (0.1-20 Hz) mechanical vibrations. This detector is essentially a dynamic interferometer coupled to an air floated optical table. Critically bolanced vertical plates produce between them a Fabry-Perot type interferometer. The resulting dynamic fringe pattern produced by the two inner vibrating surfaces can then be examined. The mechanical properties of the plates and of the gas membrane between them produces a system which is sensitive to weak, low frequency mechanical excitation. Holographic gratings recorded on the plates increases the observable changes in the interference pattern. The device operates at room temperature and pressure is robust and has been shown to give reproducible results. Sensitivity has been shown to increase with decreased temperature.

Further development of the sensor has required the modelling and examination of the behaviour of optical tables (vibration isolating platforms) at frequencies outside their design range. The mechanical properties of the sensor have been modelled using various approximate methods. A full model (which is still under development) requires the inclusion of mechanical effects due, for example, to surface tension effects, electrostatic charges, contact forces, thermal and mechanical properties of the plates and fluid flow between the plates

Comparisons of our laboratory prototype (which has not been optimised) with commercially available accelerometers show that our device gives better performances and is potentially less expensive to manufacture. Work to produce an industrial prototype is currently being pursued.

Further details on the work performed and the results achieved can be found in /4,5,6,7/.

References

- /1/ Coutsomitros C. Th. Modulateur Optique, Patent#.88184, Luxembourg 28/10/1992, and also International Patent#.PCTPE93/02977, 27/10/93.
- /2/ Coutsomitros C. Th., Franchi M. Détecteur de variations d'une grondeur physique, Patent#. 88197, Luxembourg 3/11/ 1992, and also International Patent#. PCTPE93/02978, 27/10/93.
- /3/ Coutsomitros C. Th. Dispositif de détection de microvibrations de très faible amplitudes, Patent#.P/2390, Luxembourg, 15/1/1993, and also International Patent# PCTEP94/ 00050, 10/1/94.
- /4/ Coutsomitros C. Th. Compact hypersensitive interferometric sensor for gravitation measurements, First Edoardo Amaldi Conference on Gravitation Wave Experiments, Frascoti, Rome, June 1994.
- /5/ Coutsomitros C. Th., Lucia A., Volta G. All optical interferametric modulator, Frontiers in Information Optics, Kyoto, April 1994, International Commission for Optics.
- /6/ Coutsomitros C. Th., Lucia A., Volta G. Hypersensitive interferometric sensor for radiations flux measurements, Optical Methods in Bio-Medical and Environmental Sciences, Tokyo, April 1994, International Society of Optics Within Life Sciences, OWLS III.
- /7/ Miehe G. Caroctérisation d'un détecteur d'interaction de gravitation, Mémoire No. 791/94, Groupe D'Optique Appliquée, CRN Strosbourg, Université Louis Pasteur.

Industrial Production of Ultrasonic Sealing Systems

In view of the possible demand to produce larger quantities of sealing-bolts developed in the Nuclear Safeguards Programme, JRC-Ispra has commissioned the NODAL company, in agreement with DG XIII, to perform a study on the optimization of production of the mechanical parts composing the seals in case of hypothetical series of more than thousand units. The study has indicated ways to subcontract the various phases of the production, and has shown that orders on more than 2,000 units at one time, would benefit from a manufacturing cost reduction.

SUPPORT TO THE COMMUNITY ENERGY POLICY (DG XVII)

Support to Euratom Safeguards Directorate/ Surveillance Techniques

The objective of the work is the development of equipment and software in the field of surveillance and monitoring for applications of the Euratom Safeguards Directorate. The main tasks are:

Video Review Station (CARES II)

Video surveillance generates a large amount of recorded images that have to be reviewed for detecting safeguards relevant events. The new CARES II station allows both manual video reviewing by an inspector and automatic, unattended, video reviewing. The hardware consists mainly of a video recorder, video demultiplexer and a PC based computer with an image grabbing board. The image memory is used as a cyclic buffer for real-time storage of a sequence of video pictures /1/.

In manual mode the inspector can stop the tape playback at any moment and browse through the last images stored in the buffer.

In automatic, unattended mode the polyline method for scene change detection has been used. The software development mainly dealt with the extension of the polyline method to several video channels and the high speed storage of alarm pictures on the computers hard disk. A new software structure had to be developed for the frame synchronous processing of the video images.

Three existing CARES systems installed in UK have been upgraded with the new features for the manual operation mode.

Identification of Fuel Elements

This development is a part of an integrated system for unattended measurement of fresh LVVR fuel elements. The system integrates the radiation measurement system, developed by the Institute for Safety Technology, and the identification system of fuel assemblies developed by ISEI.

The identification system comprises a personal computer connected to a video camera and an illuminator.



Figure 4.12. Review station for video surveillance.

The identification procedure starts by having a video camera read a unique number engraved on the element's assembly head. The image is first stored for archiving purposes, and then processed to enhance the characters constituting the identification number. Pattern recognition techniques are then used for character identification. *Figures 4.13a and 4.13b* show a grey level image with sample plates similar to those found in a fuel element, and the result of character enhancement and segmentation. Preliminary results indicate that good recognition rates can be obtained with the approach followed.

Remote Monitoring Link

The objective of this task is to set up a link between Euratom Luxembourg and Ispra for testing the technical features of remote monitoring. The transmission of data from several surveillance cameras and digital sensors is foreseen. The system will perform image compression and data encryption before transmitting data over public networks. A technical proposal with the system configuration has been prepared. The configuration comprises a data cryptor based on DES algorithm, a video storage and compression unit and a universal modem. Ten video channels and ten digital alarm inputs can be connected to this system. The tests will be carried out in 1995.



Figure 4.13. Grey level image of sample metal plates containing engraved characters (a), and the result of image enhancement and segmentation (b).

Integrated System BUD-CAVIS

The scope of this project is to combine the system BUD (Burn Up Device), developed by CEA, with the system CAVIS (Computer Aided Surveillance System) developed by JRC /2/. BUD is installed in the plant at La Hague to verify in unattended mode the number of spent fuel assemblies transferred from a storage pond to a shearing cell. It measures the gamma and neutron activity. CAVIS performs the data recording on 16 video, 16 analogue and 48 digital channels.

The development work on integration deals mainly with the following aspects:

- merging of alarm detection from both systems
- control of the sampling rate of the acquisition process
- correlated review of data

The CAVIS computer will act as the data concentrator of the integrated system. The BUD alarm will be transferred over digital channels to CAVIS and integrated in the alarm history table. The installation of the integrated system BUD-CAVIS in the La Hague plant is planned for April 1995.

Sealing and Identification Techniques

Based on the experience acquired in field since 1991, ISEI has continued its support to EURATOM inspectors on duty at Sellafield in order to timely deliver the quantities of sealing-bolts required for the sealing of a large number of Multi Element Bottles (MEB) stored in the ponds, and to provide still safer and efficient equipmemt on site. The Transfer Bay location for installing and verifying sealing-bolts has been replaced by a working station in the modern THORP storage pond to which ISEI has adapted its handling equipment.

Several installation/verification campaigns took place in 1994 a few of which were attended by ISEI staff. On an approximate monthly basis the last 200 sealing -bolts provided by ISEI could be installed and verified by the end of 1994.

A new order of 500 sealing-bolts was placed in September 1994 by DG XVII, requiring that ISEI organize a new production schedule and produce 50 units per month. The first delivery of 100 units took place in November 1994, two months in advance with respect to the schedule.

In addition to the above, ISEI has been involved since 1993 in the development of both a new operating software for site inspections and a modern data bank necessary for handling sealing-bolt data at the headquarters in Luxembourg and at the ESD office in Sellafield. The new site software anticipates the installation of new hardware planned for 1995, whereas the database has become a necessity in view of the large amount of sealing-bolts to be installed and checked in the coming years.

Nuclear Material Accountancy

In connection with the development of a new database for inspection data, made by the Euratom Safeguards Directorate, a number of software packages had to be re-designed or transferred to a different environment (UNIX + ORACLE). ISEI supported the Commercial Safeguards Directorate by providing consultancy on how to carry out some of the work needed, and also by providing through software houses completely new software packages for the following areas: i) execution of manual data entry to the main database, ii) creation of - and access to - the Nuclear Installations database, iii) tracing and verification of consistency of data coming from different sources, iv) re-design of the software MADES, used for statistical analysis of the data, according to the new environment and the new needs recently emerged.

Work has been completed for points i), ii) and iii). Point iv) will mainly be developed in 1995.

Data Processing

The Euratom Safeguards Directorate (ESD) of Luxembourg requested to develop an Electronic Clipboard for Inspectors. Inspectors currently use clipboards for consultation of listings and working popers which are often uneasy to handle when moving around the plant on inspection. The task objective is to explore the market of available notebooks and palm-top computers to identify a candidate machine showing features which correspond sufficiently to the ESD requirements.

Market research was performed for ESD and a palmtop computer with 8 hours autonomous functioning and weighing 900 g. was choosen. The procedures for data transfer from/to a PC were implemented. Some examples of applications were demonstrated to the ESD staff. According to the favourable results obtained, the ESD will decide the priority list of real applications to be treated by the palm-top computer.

References

- /1/ Bettendroffer E., Colzani S., Mol M., CARES Computer Aided Review System for CAVIS-2 video tapes, version with Frame Grabber as Circular Image Buffer, Technical note no. 1.94.78, June 1994.
- /2/ Daniel G., Sannie G., Tola F., CEA/Saclay, Mol M., Sorel F., JRC Ispra - Integrated System BUD-CAVIS, ESARDA Meeting , Gent , Moy 1994.

Support to the SAVE Programme

Least Cost Planning

The collaboration with Lawrence Berkeley Labs on the development of an international database for the exchange of information on Integrated Resource Planning (IRP) projects continued during 1994. The U.S. governments decision to provide this information exchange within the framework of a new Implementing Agreement (IA) of the International Energy Agency has led to the participation of the European Commission in Annex 1 of the IA on DSM (Demand Side Management).

The JRC has been asked to follow the IEA work in order to ensure that the database under development (called INDEEP), incorporates information suitable for European needs, bearing in mind that the level of implementation of IRP is at a very preliminary stage in many Member States.

The JRC has also been asked to develop common guidelines and reporting formats for the SAVE/DSM projects.

The 1994 activities of the JRC in this field were the following:

- conclusion of a preliminary critical review of the American database DEEP with particular emphasis on the viability of the Data Collection Instrument proposed by LBL;
- presentation of the INDEEP concept proposal to CENELEC (European Committee for Eletrotechnical Standardisation) and determination of the interest of European utilities;
- report for the DG XVII Magazine ENERGY IN EUR-OPE /1/;
- participation in the IEA Annex 1 Experts Meetings held in Madrid and Washington D.C, on behalf of DG XVII;
- participation in the Executive Committee of the DSM IA held in Washington D.C, on behalf of the DG XVII;
- attendance at the Conference on DA/DSM, Paris, November 1994;
- S & T Contribution to the Annex 1 activities.

ISEI is contributing to the Annex work by means of

- direct theoretical support for all conceptual items;

- investigation, reporting and establishing links with utilities of EU Member States not participating in the Annex and, in particular, with those that have SAVE/DSM contracts with the EC. A limited scale market survey for assessing INDEEP acceptance is underway;
- co-operation in the preparation of a workshop to be held in Vienna at the end of January 1995.

The development of final standard reporting formats for the SAVE/DSM projects has been delayed to 1995. In fact, until a clear agreement on many theoretical concepts has been reached within the IEA Annex 1, it was considered premature to decide on the choice of a common European evaluation methodology and, consequently, of the reporting formats.

Building Energy Certification

A second request to the JRC for technical support involved checking progress in the implementation of Building Energy Certification in the EU Member States (MS). To this end, the ISEI organised a Seminar on the topic, combining the event with a SAVE Contractors meeting. The Seminar was organised together with the French agency ADEME, which is the leading organisation for SAVE events, and was held in Sophia - Antipolis, FRANCE, June 27-29, 1994.

ISEI took care of the main conceptual and technical aspects of the Seminar, whereas ADEME looked after the organisational efforts. The meeting was sponsored by the European Insulation Materials Association (EURI-MA).

ISEI gave a technical contribution at the meeting /2/ and reported the main outcome of the Seminar. The conclusions and suggestions were also reported and discussed at a SAVE Conference, organised by the European Commission (DG. XVII), (Florence, October, 26-28, 1994), in order to determine preferences and gather new ideas for the forthcoming SAVE-2 programme.

Main problems needing further effort in the field of Building Energy Certification are the following:

 certification should not be an additional bureaucratic burden but an effective tool to foster investment decisions. Every Certification scheme should, therefore, include the energy conservation measures to be implemented;

- Audit Requirements: simplified and user-friendly audit tools should be made available. Standardisation of auditing procedures, databases of building typologies, meteo-data and reference values should be set up, possibly on a European basis;
- information to consumers should be improved;
- present Building Energy Certification schemes should be marketed by professional teams in a positive perspective (higher building quality, more comfort, etc.) rather than in a reductive view (lower consumption, savings, etc.);
- give priority to corporate actions, looking for sponsoring from construction and manufacturing industries;
- link Certification to building quality and environmental aspects, on the one hand, and on the other to building related activities, such as purchasing, financing and insurance audits.

During 1994, the development of advanced building audit and certification tools and in particular of the BEAMES (Building Energy Auditing Management Expert System) package, continued at ISEI. This prototype was presented at various meetings (a dedicated Workshop was organised at Ispra in January 94), and its usefulness and viability discussed with many scientists and building research and management organisations. The application of BEAMES as a Building Certification and decision aid was discussed with DG XVII in Brussels and a report on this issue was prepared for the Florence SAVE Conference, in which the advantages of linking BEAMES with Building Energy Certification computational models were described /4/.

References

- /1/ F. Conti, The Importance of International Cooperative Information Exchange in the Field of Integrated Resource Planning. EN-ERGY IN EUROPE No. 23, 1994
- /2/ F. Conti, H. Despretz, Different Approaches to Building Energy Certification in EU Member Countries, SAVE Seminar Sophia Antipolis (France, June 27-29, 1994
- /3/ F. Conti, H. Despretz, A. Leroy, Summary and Conclusion of a Seminar on the State of Building Energy Certification in EU Member Countries. SAVE Seminar Sophia Antipolis (France, June 27-29, 1994
- /4/ F. Conti, The Improvement of Energy Certification by Means of Advanced Expert Systems for Building Auditing. The SAVE Programme: Overview and Future, Florence, October 26-28, 1994.



INFORMATICS SERVICES

Corporate Informatics Services

.

Distributed Informatics and Communication Services . .



INFORMATICS SERVICES

CORPORATE INFORMATICS SERVICES

The Plan of Actions

In September 1993 a report was addressed to the Board of Governors with the description of a JRC multi-annual plan for the modernisation of its administrative information systems. This plan aims at the improvement of internal work-practices through the accelerated penetration of office tools and the revision of information systems. The plan asks for a total of 2.27 MECU development/migration investments over the 94-96 period. The plan received favourable comments from the ISEI Visiting Group and its specific chapter devoted to the Informatics Services.

The Steering Idea

In large service-oriented organisations, the adoption of modern ICT tools and methods is reported to produce some 15% reduction in service costs devoted to no-value-added tasks. Other important advantages are obtained in terms of image, accountability, transparency, service quality, customer satisfaction, staff mobility and empowerment. One additional key factor is that ICT facilitates the process of change in the organisation and the introduction of new adminis-

trative and management practices.

The Approach

The modernisation project involves the solution of 41 business problems as identified by an audit exercise extended to all our administrative, operational and managerial processes. In order to capture the experience gained by other organisations in terms of procedure optimisation, process re-engineering, work flow management and associated informatics support tools, a world-wide call for tender exercise has been activated. This has led to the selection of a short list of suppliers of informatics support services which help our internal analysts in the deployment of adequate information and office systems. In addition to ICT expertise, the modernisation effort requires the re-organisation of many aspects of internal work-practices. This can only be achieved through the active and enthusiastic participation of end-users in all phases and aspects of the project.

The Developments

Essentially, the modernisation project develops along four major axis of actions (see Fig. 5.1):

- the migration of all existing information systems from the old-fashioned mainframe server towards decentralised platforms;
- the construction of new tools for the management of corporate data;
- the installation of advanced back-office systems in support of the work carried out by the various service Units;
- the provision of advanced front-office systems that facilitate the interaction between service providers and end-customers.



Figure 5.1 The modernisation of Administrative information systems.

The migration takes place either through the full integration with the equivalent systems in force at the Commission (typical cases are the finance, staff, health insurance systems) or through the installation of new adhoc systems (typical cases are the geographical information system for the management of the Ispra site facilities, contracts, library, publications and inventory). From 97 and beyond this migration effort will produce a 0.5 MECU/year reduction of running costs due to the removal of the old software/hardware platforms.

Data extracted from the regulatory/operational information systems such as those listed above are collected into a data pool and made available to complex aggregation and correlation procedures as required by managers in their strategic, planning, accounting and speculative tasks. This information warehouse complemented by adequate document archives, multimedia archives and sophisticated information navigation/discovery tools becomes the reference library of information about JRC facts and activities.

Many administrative steps that are necessary in order to request, produce and deliver services that involve multiple functional units and multiple verification/ authorisation decisions imply the physical manipulation and the exchange of paper documents. Electronically stored work in progress allows processes to include parallelism in tasks, to make steps visible and measurable and to increase interactions and communication between actors. Moreover, immediate snapshots about the status of individual dossiers, bottlenecks and flaws in the procedures can be identified and the optimisation of work can be facilitated. Procedures such as orders, contracts, visitors, transport and business trips are presented to the end-customer in the form of friendly prompters that support the journey of his request across the organisation until the final delivery and acceptance of the requested service item. Electronic procedures are based on workgroup and work flow management systems co-ordinating activities in the back-offices of administrative service Units and in the front-office workstations of the users.

The Achievements

The *GIS* project for the management of the lspra-site infrastructures/facilities has reached its final delivery step. The operational version of the system will be demonstrated to a wide audience in Feb. 95. On top of the basic topographic maps, thematic aggregates are produced with alphanumeric data relevant to the management of buildings, offices, allocated staff, telephone/fax/photocopier devices, cleaning, maintenance interventions and other services.

The new*Library* system has been installed and loaded with the historical catalogues derived from the old system. It provides query and application functions to the end-user, loan management, inter-library consultation and loan facilities, accounting and service follow-up. The capabilities of the new service will be demonstrated to the community of users in Feb. 95. This will be followed by intense training and customisation sessions.

The new *Publications* database is now loaded with the historical bibliographic data and is ready to collect the new submissions. As a by-product, the Bulletin of JRC Publications in its version for final distribution is produced.

The new *Contacts* database for use by our Public Relations service is in its acceptance phase. It is meant to collect relevant information about meetings, events, interest groups and mailing lists according to the specifications required for the management of JRC contacts with Member States authorities, visiting and control Bodies, Scientific and Industrial circles.

The *staff and salaries* information systems have been successfully migrated to independent and cheap platforms. During 95, the parallel operation of both the new and the old system is foreseen. This verification allows for checking the consistency of results across complex procedures such as promotions, changes in salary levels and indemnities.

The *contracts, business trips and staff allocation* information systems have been migrated to independent and cheap platforms. The performance of those new systems will be checked against the old ones and if the verification proves successful, the replacement will take place.

The new *telephone and transport requests* databoses are also in an advanced phase of development and are likely to enter operation by mid 95. A new car transport reservation, management and accounting system has been designed that eliminates a great deal of paper work and human interventions. The end-users and the operators of the transport service are supported by a work flow manager that supervises the circulation of the requests and their follow-up.

The information system of the Ispra site *Security Service* has been redesigned in order to improve the overall efficiency as perceived by our visitors. In particular, the new system includes new logistic arrangements at the reception desk integrated with the databases on badges, cars and movements. The security-check function is best served by an electronic information base. The system has its own work flow manager for the production and the follow-up of the visitor request.

The New Financial & Accounting Information System

A joint project with membership from DG XIX, DG XX and JRC has been set-up for the production of SIN-COM2, the new financial & accounting information system in force at all Commission services.

The JRC contribution has been considered essential in the light of the experience gained in the design and operation of the existing Sibeca system. The project has entered the detailed specifications phase which will be followed by the development phase and demonstrator phase planned for mid 96. The demonstrator operated at the JRC will serve as a test bed before the delivery of the final version of the system to all other Commission services takes place.

As regards the JRC installations, this would conclude the migration of the existing information systems from the expensive mainframe server. The mainframe server itself is expected to be dismantled at the end of 96.

The Orders Work Flow

One major effort has been undertaken in order to introduce modern work flow management techniques in the order process for the procurement of goods and services.

This is the most complex and pervasive in-house administrative procedure in the house. In order to check the technical feasibility of the approach, a fully paperless and machine-assisted prototype has been demonstrated to our administrators. The project now requires the analysis of the details of the procedure as executed by the various actors (requester, authoriser, financial controller, accountant, inventory, customs, warehouse) in the spirit of a newly re-engineered process. For this purpose, a task force has to be set-up with the mandate of devising new work-practices, test environments and the final deployment of the system. The ISEI and ITU Institutes volunteered to act as leaders of this experience.

DISTRIBUTED INFORMATICS AND COMMUNICATION SERVICES

The services provided in 1994 were those that had been negotiated with our customers during 1993. Moreover, these services and the activities of the DICS Unit were evaluated during 1994 by the same "Visiting Group" of international experts that had performed a similar evaluation in 1993. The negotiation process was continued during 1994 in order to define services and resources for 1995.

Network Services

At the beginning of the year the 64 Kbps connection of Karlsruhe to the German research network was installed and activated, thus completing the connection of all JRC research sites to a network infrastructure at 64Kbps . This connection was managed by the Megapac node that had been sent from Ispra some months earlier and put into service. Once the necessary addressing modifications had been performed, the new connection was used to provide all of the data communications connections between Karlsruhe and the rest of the JRC. The most noticeable improvement was the response times for SIBECA users, although the connection also improved the speed of Xerox communications. Discussions have also begun in order to ensure the connection of the Seville establishment to the research network in Spain at 64Kbps (which interfaces to Europa-Net), thereby adding the recently moved Institute to the "JRCNet" at 64Kbps.

During 1994 it became apparent that the 64 Kbps connection to SWITCH that provided access to the Super computer at Manno, and also IP access to the World-Wide Internet was frequently becoming saturated. Negotiations took place with SIP (the provider of the physical connection) and SWITCH in order to increase the speed of the connection to 512Kbps. This increase in speed was implemented in September 1994.

A limited round of extensions to the Ispra FDDI backbone network has taken place, as no additional FDDI nodes were installed. Improvements in network efficiency were made in several buildings by the installation of modern cabling subsystems based in the use of twisted pair cables which replaced the traditional ethernet yellow cable or thin cable.

A new software version was installed on the bridges in the network that allow filtering of the traffic to be carried out. A new software product for the management of the tables on which the filtering is based was also installed. It is hoped that the use of this mechanism will substantially reduce the unnecessary traffic on the backbone.

First trials were carried out with the installation of ISDN circuits. An initial group of 3 primary rates (2Mb) and 30 basic rates (144Kbps) was made specifically for data and video transmission applications.

Distributed Systems Management (DSM)

During this period some presentations have been made to Institute representatives on the DSM service and progress made in 1994, in an attempt to give more publicity to what is available through this service. Also individual contacts with some user groups have been made for the same purposes. These have increased the amount of use made of the DSM facilities.

There have been more substantial changes in the hardware components of the DSM service. First the "dicscs4" SUN Sparc 1000 has been put into operation as the principal DSM service machine. It is a multiprocessor system that is currently running with 4 CPUs, and is connected to the FDDI concentrator that gives it full 10MB access to the backbone network. This action should greatly simplify the systems management problem for the service providers (there will be a smaller number of system configurations to manage).

A new aspect of the service was launched; the availability on a server of the Usenet Network News. This set of news conferences can be read by any client that can handle NNTP (Network News Transfer Protocol), so no specific reader programs are necessary. Public domain tools such as Netscape that are already being used for accessing the World Wide Web, can also be used for accessing this information. A scan was made of the security of all systems on the Ispra site using the ISS tool. The results, which made interesting reading, were given to those responsible for the management of the systems. Repeating the exercise in the near future is intended to ascertain what actions have been taken to tighten up the security of the individual systems.

An evaluation of the Novell Networking software (Netware 3.11) for the PC environment was completed. The conclusions were very positive, particularly in relation to its use in the administrative environment where some units had already decided on implementation. A limited number of scientific groups had also decided to use Novell, and DICS has co-ordinated these various implementations and provided some support during the installation phases.

Electronic Mail

Many important changes took place in 1994. The Bull DPX systems that were used to provide the mail service and which were nearing obsolescence were replaced in 1994 by a set of Unix MTAs (Message Transfer Agents), and a new SMTP server introduced. The mail broadcast service that has been so successful for advertising meetings and seminars was automated and the rules for its use were published.

The X.400 and SMTP mail services with the outside world continued throughout this period without any apparent modification, even though the servers providing this service had been replaced.

The ISOCOR X.400 product was installed on many PC systems, and several MTAs installed. The overall level of use has grown tremendously and is extremely encouraging. The use of X.400 allows document exchange to take place rather than just message passing.

An installation of these products was made in the JRC Institute newly installed in Seville to provide the X.400 e-mail service for both PC and Macintosh users. Limited developments were done in the use of e-mail, together with EDI (Electronic Data Interchange) and work flow, to automate some of the procedures used by the Financial Control in remotely managing the other JRC sites. Several versions of the prototype were demonstrated during the year. An operational version should be ready for early 1995.

Office Automation

Testing and evaluation was carried out on new versions of Xerox GlobalView for open platforms. These were specifically GVWin for PCs with MS-Windows, and GVX for UNIX systems with X-Windows. As a result of these tests it was decided to recommend the general use of GVX, but the first version of GVWin was considered not suitable for general use.

The version of GVWin that arrived later in the year was considered much better than the first, and it was decided not only to recommend it for general use, but to recommend that all Xerox users migrate towards the PC platform with GVWin. This will also bring the JRC more into line with the Commissions informatics strategy for office systems.

An installation of the XNS software was made in Seville, allowing the Institute to communicate with the rest of the JRC. The DG in Brussels was connected directly to the EMPB network, thus reducing the costs for intersite connections while maintaining the same level of service.

Computer-Aided Design

Steps were taken to complete the migration of this service from a central one to a distributed one, in that additional workstations were installed so that by the end of 1994 no users were left on the central system, which was then closed down.

The central service will be discontinued.





The Euro-Quebec Hydro-Hydrogen Pilot Project (HQHHPP)

The Ispra Ecocentre Project





OTHER PROJECTS

THE EURO-QUEBEC HYDRO-HYDROGEN PILOT PROJECT (HQHHPP)

An important project being developed in the frame of renewable energies, is the one bound to the generation, transport and use of hydrogen.

The initial 100 MW pilot project was intended as a DEMO, to demonstrate the feasibility and the advantages of converting through electrolysis, Quebecian hydropower into hydrogen to be shipped and used where energy sources are scarce.

The project is based on a concept conceived by the JRC and is carried out by a group of industrial firms/institutions. The JRC /ISEI co-ordinates the project.

Milestones of the Project

- Phase I: Assessment, completed;
- Phase II: detailed system definition (completed) and supplementary tasks (postponed);
- Phase III.O.: hydrogen applications demonstrating projects (under way);
- Phase III: detailed engineering and specifications;
- Phase IV: construction.

Present Status of the Project

The project is now oriented towards its present phase. III.0, i.e. demonstration projects for the application of hydrogen.

New contracts have started in 1994 for

- the operations of a passenger boat;
- certification of testing of containers, including a scientific and experimental programme;
- safety tests of a composite material vehicle tank investigation of cryo/pressure adsorption of hydrogen.

Results

In July 1994 the first of the three hydrogen buses that Hydrogen Systems, Belgium, constructed under Phase III.0-2 have been presented to the Commission and the public. All other projects are duly under way, some of them with acceptable delays.

ISEI activities in 1994

The co-ordination of the project done by ISEI consisted in contract supervision, i.e. technical supervision of ongoing works including visits to the construction sites and in-house verification of contractual and financial matters. Furthermore the technical annexes for future contracts have been prepared.

THE ISPRA ECOCENTRE PROJECT

Low Energy Retrofitting of Elderly Buildings

1994 was the second full year of the ECOCENTRE Ispra Project. The aim of this project, funded by the European Parliament, is to demonstrate how the environmental impact of an ageing research centre, such as the JRC's Ispra Establishment, can be reduced by a series of carefully chosen, cost-effective measures. The eco in ECOCENTRE stands for both ecological and economic.

The Energy/Environment Interaction unit has taken an active part in this project since its inception, making a number of important contributions in the current year. These were:

Building Retrofitting

As described in the 1993 Annual Report, an international competition was organised for the innovative low-energy retrofitting of a number of elderly buildings. The winners were awarded contracts to develop their designs into fully-detailed engineering projects, in close collaboration with the JRC. So far, retrofitting work has actually commenced on one building, a large experimental hall, and the design of the most complex project, that of the cafeteria or Mensa, has been finalised.

The Ispra Mensa is actually a conglomeration of buildings comprising 2 cafeterias; the Old Mensa on the north side and the New Mensa on the south, with a kitchen situated between them and a guest dining room



Figure 6.1. Cross Section of Retrofitted Mensa Showing the Pergola and a Skylight.

to the east. The winning retrofit project, designed by the Paris based Italian architect, Mario Cucinella, proposes to give visual unity to these buildings by covering them with a wood and steel pergola (*Figure 6.1*).

This structure will, however, have a number of important practical functions:

- to provide shading for the whole roof, thus reducing the cooling load, prolonging the life of the waterproof membrane and more than tripling the shaded outdoor eating area;
- to provide a platform for solar water heaters for dishwashing, replacing the electrical heaters which are used in the summer months when the superheated water supply is turned off;
- to provide a structural support for large ventilating and daylighting skylights which will be inserted in the roof of the New Mensa (Figure 6.1).

The ceiling of the New Mensa will be rebuilt with sound proofing and low energy lighting, and the whole building will be given double glazed windows and external insulation. The overall energy saving for heating, cooling and electricity is predicted to be about 70% of the present total or almost 90 TOE (tonnes of oil equivalent) per year in primary energy terms. This corresponds to a reduction in CO2 emissions of around 200 tonnes per year. Simple pay-back time is predicted to be within the 20 years set by the completion.

A sensitive aspect of the Mensa retrofit is the proposal to minimise summer use of the existing air conditioning system by providing greatly improved natural ventilation. This will be achieved through air buoyancy promoted by the chimney like shape of the above mentioned skylights and many more opening windows. The aim is to achieve pleasant indoor conditions similar to those experienced by someone sitting out-of-doors, in a shady spot with a gentle breeze. In physical terms, this involves extending the Thermal Comfort Zone (TCZ) of the psychometric chart (*Figure 6.2*) to areas of higher temperature and relative humidity by the introduction of a third parameter, air speed.



Figure 6.2. Psychometric Chart showing hourly weather data for Ispra and Human Thermal Comfort Zone.

There is, however, no commonly agreed boundary to the TCZ in these conditions. Initially, therefore, a trial boundary will be programmed into an intelligent building management system which will keep internal conditions within a moderately extended TCZ, as much as possible, by controlling the air speed. This will be achieved by automatically opening or closing upper windows and ventilation grills in the skylights. If the in-

ternal conditions cross the boundary of the TCZ, the existing airconditioning plant will come on. The initial boundary will be modified according to the results of opinion surveys carried out among Mensa users. This 3 parameter control is a totally new concept, in keeping with the ECOCENTRE principle of applying innovative techniques for energy conservation.

As a first step, questionnaires were distributed on one day during the summer of 1994 to find out what clients thought of the pre-retrofit conditions. Analysis of the 300 replies showed (Figures 6.3) very distinct differences between sexes and age groups. The clients most satisfied with the indoor conditions were men over 50 years old, whilst the largest proportion of dissatisfied clients was found in the "women over 50" age group! Moreover, the younger the person, the greater the preference for eating out-ofdoors and the older, the greater the preference for eating indoors. Much of the divergence of opinion, naturally, centres on the individuals definition of a comfortable indoor temperature in air conditioned spaces. Indications are that allowing the temperature to rise slightly would please many (although displeasing others) and would, of course, reduce energy consumption significantly.

Building Monitoring

In order to evaluate the energy savings achieved, the buildings to be retrofitted have been equipped with detailed monitoring systems. These measure indoor air temperatures (to within 0.10) and relative humidities at a number of points, together with all energy flows. Since heating and cooling on the Ispra site is provided by a district network, these include super heated water,



Figure 6.3. Results of Survey of Cafeteria Users Opinion of Indoor Climate on a Summer Day.

refrigerated water and lake water, in addition to electricity. All temperatures and flows are recorded at 1 minute intervals and averaged over 15 minute periods.

The monitoring system in each building is controlled by a local computer (PC) which carries out the averaging and stores the data for daily transmission to a central PC. When fully operational, the specially developed software, resident in this PC, will provide automated data analysis and reporting facilities.

Building Rules

Apart from the ECOCENTRE building retrofit competition, there is a continual demand for the construction of new buildings and the renovation of existing ones on the lspra site. To ensure that this work respects the principles of the ECOCENTRE project, a set of Building Rules has been drawn up. These specify construction standards designed to produce buildings with significantly lower energy requirements than those built to current Italian norms. They also restrict the use of materials which could have a negative impact on the environment. Once approved, all constructors on the lspra site will be obliged to observe them.

Building Integration of an Amorphous Silicon Photovoltaic Facade

The ECOCENTRE project aims to demonstrate the application of available technologies for the modernisation of ageing premises of research centres under ecological and economical aspects. The results are intended to be transferable to other sites. Among other projects, the demonstration of photovoltaic technology in its application to a building facade was chosen as an example of future renewable energy technologies.

Objectives

The objectives for the project were set out as follows:

- demonstrate to architects that the application of photovoltaic solar energy on facades provides for a new and additional design element;
- make use of existing building engineering to reduce the area-related costs of a photovoltaic array;
- take into account a future extension to a hybrid system which also harnesses thermal solar energy;
- improve the overall appearance of the building;

 demonstrate a turn-key system feeding reliably the electricity grid.

Technical Details

Given the objectives of the ECOCENTRE project main emphasis was put on visibility and design features, rather than maximising the power output with high-efficiency photovoltaic modules.

The building chosen houses experimental facilities for earthquake simulation (ELSA: European Laboratory for Structural Assessment); its southern face has the dimensions 65 m (wide) by 25 m (high). Not all of this surface could be covered, as an adjacent office complex limits the unobstructed area to the top 12m of the building

As the amount of financial resources was limited, the main design constraint was the lowest possible cost per unit area. Only amorphous silicon technology was considered feasible under this condition without sacrificing the goal of covering the whole available area of the southern building facade.

The total area available is therefore 720 sqm. Taking into account framing losses, non-optimal distribution of modules, initial degradation of amorphous silicon and an minimum efficiency of 3.5 %, the designed peak power was 21 kW. Accordingly, the grid-connected inverters were designed for this input power, in four blocks of 5 kW AC each.

These consist of a-Si substrates manufactured by Advanced Photovoltaic Systems (Princeton, NJ, USA) which were laminated by the German Flachglas Solar GmbH (FlagSol) in a double-glass compound utilising a proprietary process. A total of 420 modules, size 0.84 x 1.50 sqm were delivered. Aluminium profiles from a building facade industry were attached to the internal structure of the building and provided the mounting support and cable trays for the PV-modules. As the total weight of the retrofit is approximately 20 tons, additional reinforcement of the building was necessary.

The generated electricity is fed in the local distribution grid by means of four electronic inverters. These inverters are cascaded in a "master-slave" mode and are tracking the maximum power operating point of the ar-



Figure 6.4. Outside View of the Facade on Building 48.

ray. This concept guarantees highest transforming efficiency even at very low sunshine levels.

A dedicated data monitoring and visualisation system was installed to measure the relevant parameters of the photovoltaic facade. Apart from the capability to remotely control and monitor the system, special emphasis was put on an interactive visualisation of the operation of the plant, in order to make the functioning of the photovoltaic facade understandable and visible to a wider audience.

An acceptance test was performed to verify the installed power. The 7 main strings, operating at approximately 300 Volts were measured to deliver 30 kW under Standard Test Conditions. This initial performance exceeds the design value by 40%. The monitoring systems reveals the major meteorological and electrical parameters in five-minute intervals, which are transmitted at night to a remote computer server. Major interest in analysing the data lies in the determination of the initial degradation, the possible loss due to vertical mounting and a preliminary assessment of the potential of thermal heat recovery.

Conclusions

The goal to demonstrate a-Si technology as a design element for industrial building complexes has been achieved. The problem of retrofit and the related necessity of enforcing existing structures was underestimated at the beginning of the project. The experience with thin-film technology is so far positive, both from the aesthetics and the performance point of view.

Technical data

Total Facade Area	771.1	sqm
Module Area	1.3	sqm
Covered with 420 Modules	543.8	sqm
Active area	505.2	sqm
Design Power	21000	W
STC Power	30000	W

Modul Dat A056001	en OPTISOL		
	Module	Facade	
Voc	58.5	468	V
lsc	2.05	107	A
Imp	1.74	90.6	A
Vmp	41.3	330.3	V
Pmax	72.0	30000	W



SHARED COST ACTIONS

Copernicus Programme

Renewable Energies Programme

.

.



SHARED COST ACTIONS

COPERNICUS PROGRAMME

Two projects have been approved in the course of 1994. For both of them the beginning of the activity is planned for the first months of 1995.

TINCA: Enhancing Technological Awareness and Technology Transfer in the Area of Advanced Intelligent Computer System for the assessment of the Remaining Life, Reliability and Safety of Power Plant Components

Date of start: March 1995

Duration: 3 years

Partners:

MPA, Stuttgart Germany ISQ, Lisbon Portugal JRC, Ispra, EC Korona, Ljubljiana Slovenia DME, Miskolc Hungary EROKAR, Budapest Hungary LENENERGOREMONT, St.Petersburg Russia

Small Punch Test Method Assessment for the Determination of the Residual Creep Life of Service Exposed Components

Date of start: March 95

Duration: 3 years

Partners:

MPA, Stuttgart , Germany CISE, Milano , Italy JRC, Ispra, EC IRM, Brno , Czech.Rep. IMT, Ljubljiana, Slovenia IMTM, Cracow, Poland

RENEWABLE ENERGIES PROGRAMME

Photovoltaic Integration in Developing Countries

Start of Contract: 1.Jan.1995

Duration: 18 months

Proposer: EUREC Agency

Coordinator: Wirtschafts und Infrastruktur Planungs GmbH, Muenchen (DE)

Partners: IT Power (UK) GENEC (FR) Uni Karlsruhe (DE) FhG-ISE (DE) IES (ES) Uni Nova Lisboa (PT) Conphoebus (IT) JRC-ESTI (EC)

Support: UNESCO UNIDO UN-Commission for Centres of Excellence European Photovoltaic Industries Association (EPIA) EUROSOLAR

ElectricHome - Assessment of All Non-Electrified Houses in Southern Europe and Development of Standard Systems for Accelerated Large-Scale Deployment of Renewable Energies

Start of Contract: 1.Jan. 1995

Duration: 18 months

Proposer/Coordinator: Wirtschafts und Infrastruktur Planungs GmbH, Muenchen (DE)

Partners: Clean Power (GR) ETA (IT) UGC/SEMAI (ES) UNL/FCT (PT) JRC-ESTI (EC)



WORK FOR THE PARTIES

Photovoltaic Component Testing

Support to Regional Development: Sicily Project

Software for Industrial Plant Supervision

Root Cause Analysis of Human Errors Study

Software for Safety and Reliability Assessment and Management

Ultrasonic Seals for Safeguards





WORK FOR THIRD PARTIES

Photovoltaic Component Testing

During 1994, 35 quotes were prepared in response to requests from 23 clients. These quotes led to 15 contracts for third party work with a total value of 203 kecu, of which 88 kecu have been invoiced to date. Nine of these contracts, worth 187 kecu, were for photovoltaic module qualification testing work. The remaining six, worth 16 kecu, were for reference device calibrations. The calibration of cells and modules was requested increasingly due to major improvements in response time and quality of results.

74 modules of 13 different types were subjected to CEC Specification 503 module qualification tests. Two module types failed to meet the test requirements, but the remaining eleven types received qualification certificates. Note that all the modules received for testing were of crystalline silicon technology. No modules using thin-film technology have been submitted for testing. 35 reference devices (modules and cells) were calibrated. This work was carried out despite the inconveniences caused by the ECOCENTRE building modifications.



Figure 8.1 Third-Party Work Contracted 1989-1995.

Support to Regional Development: Sicily Project

Two Conventions between the Regione Siciliana and the JRC and between the Regione Siciliana and three Sicilian Universities, (Catania, Messina, Palermo) were signed on April 27, 1994, by the General Director of the JRC, the President of the Regione Siciliana and the Rectors of the Sicilian Universities /1/. The conventions have become operative, after the approval by the Sicilian Corte dei Conti, on December 14, 1994. Funding for JRC activity is assured by regional funds, while the universities are funded by EC Structural Funds. The overall budget of the Convention is of about 23 MECU, 6.5 of which are for JRC. The Convention contains six projects /2/:

Project A: Water supply management monitoring of quality and quantity of water resources and decision support.

Project B: Air pollution in industrial and urban centres; data collection on pollution, modelling and decision support.

Project C: Pollution and erosion of the soil; study and control of soil erosion and pollution.

Project D: Safety and reliability of chemical and petrochemical installations; risk identification and analysis; prevention and mitigation of consequences of accidents.

Project E: Cultural heritage; study of the degradation of monuments and stone material works of art of the Sicilian cultural heritage; development of protection and restoration methods.

Project F: Reference values of trace elements in inhabitants of Sicily Region; systematic monitoring of trace elements (Al,As,Cd,Co,Cr, etc) and relevant analysis for estimating the reference values.

The work is being performed in Ispra by four Institutes: IE, IRSA, ISEI and IST.

The work repartition among them is given in Fig. 8.2.



Figure 8.2. Effort Repartition for the Execution of the Sicily Project.

References

/1/ Convenzione tra Regione Siciliana e Comunità Europea, Toormina, April 27, 1994/2/ Progetti di ricerco presentati dalle Università degli Studi di Catania, Messina e Palermo in collaborazione con il Centro Comune di Ricerca della Commissione delle Comunità Europee, Allegato N.1 alla Convenzione tra regiane Siciliana e la Comunità Europea, 1994.

Software for Industrial Plant Supervision

In the framework of the FORMENTOR project, the first Industrial Application was started at the beginning of 1994. The objective of this application is to supervise a Catalytic Cracking unit of an oil refinery exploited by TOTAL France. The application is led by Cap Gemini.

ISEI was requested to provide the necessary methodological input for allowing the extension of the functionality of a typical FORMENTOR system in order to support plant maintenance tasks. This work will be completed in April 1995.

Root Cause Analysis of Human Errors Study

The third party work, ordered by an Italian industry, started in 1993 on the development of a methodology for root cause analysis of human error, has been completed. A general methodology for the root cause analysis of human errors has been developed based on a suitable representation of incidental sequence by means of an event time line /1,2/. Once the erroneous actions have been identified, the root cause analysis is performed with a suitable error taxonomy. The methodology has been described in a sample application taken from the aeronautical domain. In particular the Zurich accident of November 1990, in which an Alitalia DC 9-30 crashed onto the Stadelberg hill has been analysed with the proposed methodology /3/.

References

- /2/ Pedrali M., Cojazzi G., (1994), A Methodological framework for root cause analysis of human errors, 21st conference Aviation Psychology developing theory and extending practice, WEEAAP Dublin '94 Conference, 28th-31 March 1994. ISEI/IE 2698/94.
- /3/ Cojazzi G., Pedroli M., {1994b}, A Root Cause Analysis Methodology, Commission of the European Communities, Tech. Note I.94.59, ISEI/IE 2697/94.

Software for Safety and Reliability Assessment and Management

The software STARS (Software Tools for the Analysis of Reliability and Safety) methodology has been applied to a number of specific industrial cases.

In the first case, the objectives of the contract were to develop a customised version for a power generating plant of the software package able to represent specific components and systems, and to develop additional application modules for integration within STARS. In particular, a new modelling technique based on a functional decomposition of the industrial system has been developed. This functional model supports the automatic construction of Failure Modes and Effect Analyses (FMEA) tables, and is at the basis of new algorithms for the semi-automatic construction of event trees.

In other cases, the STARS methodology and software package, in particular the parts related to the modelling of industrial systems and to the semi-automatic construction of fault trees, have been the subject of contracts with different industrial companies as a contribution to the design of transport equipment. In one case, the application of STARS concentrated on the use of hierarchical descriptions of functional specifications for qualitative risk assessment during the early stages of the design process. In another case, STARS is to be interfaced with existing industrial CAD systems to take advantage of existing low-level design specifications and to automatically provide safety and reliability information on the imported designs. These two applications illustrate the flexibility of the STARS system in providing an integrated framework for safety assessment during the various stages of the design process, from high level design to low-level specifications.

^{/1/} Cajazzi G., Pinola L., [1994], Root Cause Analysis Methodologies: Trends and Needs, to be presented at the Probabilistic Safety Assessment and Management Conference, PSAM II, March 20-24 1994, San Diego, Ca, USA. ISEI/IE 2573/ 93.
Ultrasonic Seals for Safeguards

The work on the contract between JRC-Ispra and the Japanese company Power Reactor and Nuclear Fuel Development Corporation has continued. A particular effort has been devoted to developing a new ultrasonic seal, called a "clamping seal", able to be fastened on PNC owned COGEMA Pu O₂ casks (FS-47) (*Fig. 8.3*) used for transportation from France to Japan. Along with the seal the design of a new portable reading head has been achieved and a functioning prototype was terminated by the end of 1994.

In October 1994 a first demonstration was organised at the PNC facility of Tokai (J) and two MK5 clamping seals could be attached to the cover (shock absorber) of one empty cask in real conditions. One seal was then removed and later on correctly reverified back at JRC-Ispra. A dummy reading head was also tested as to its ease in operating conditions.

An evaluation study to select a portable and sturdy computer to fit the new ultrasonic boards from the Sofratest company was also completed leading to the selection of two possible instruments from U.S. and from German companies.

A second visit to Tokai is planned in Spring 1995 where a series of MK5-CL seals will be tested with a complete reading equipment in actual transportation conditions.



Figure 8.3. New Portable Ultrasonic Sealing System for Nuclear Containers.





TEST FACILITIES

ESTI, European Solar Test Installation

Telemac Laboratory

LaSCo, Laboratory for Containment and Surveillance



TEST FACILITIES (upgrading during 1994)

ESTI, European Solar Test Installation

Quality (ISO 9002 and EN 45000)

ESTI is one of the first facilities of the JRC to seek Laboratory accreditation according to the European Norm 45000. This requires not only implementation of a quality assurance system (e.g. ISO 9002), but also the full traceability of physical quantities for which the laboratory is certified. For this purpose an effort has been made to achieve accreditation for the *Calibration* of Solar Reference Devices and Type Approval of *Photovoltaic Modules*. The request for accreditation will be made during 1995, after the traceability laboratory for temperature, voltage, resistance and irradiance is set-up and the quality assurance system is fully operational.

Module Type Approval

Among the modules tested were the biggest currently in mass production (ASE Americas ASE-300 type 1.8×1.2 metres). This work required modifications to the climatic chambers and the purchase of specialised trolleys for transportation. Spectral response measurements were also performed on ASE GmbH modules with dimensions up to 1.5×1.0 metres.

With the gradual adoption of the ISO 9000 quality standards, requests for periodic reference device calibrations have been received from leading European manufacturers. This type of work will become more important in the future, and will increase device calibration revenues, especially if the ESTI laboratory achieves accredited status.

To improve the technical content of the qualification test reports, the test systems are being equipped with better data acquisition equipment to demonstrate that all devices tested attain the conditions described in the test specifications. Test-bed control systems are also being upgraded to improve reliability of operation.

The next new test bed will be a large-area UV irradiation facility using fluorescent tubes as the light source. This system shall irradiate an area of approximately 8 square metres, and is aimed at testing the large-area modules which are becoming more important in architectural PV applications.

Equipment Available

- WEISS Light Simulator + Climatic Test Chamber
- BOSCH Steady State Large Area Solar Simulator
- SPECTROLAB Large Area Pulsed Solar Simulator
- GLOBAL PHOTOVOLTAIC SPECIALISTS Large Area Pulsed Simulator
- PASA Large Area Pulsed Solar Simulator
- Mechanical Load Simulation System
- Hail Impact Simulation System
- Ultraviolet Radiation Unit
- High Temperature/High Humidity Climatic Chamber
- Thermal Cycling/Humidity Freeze Climatic Chamber
- High Voltage Test System
- Laser-Scanning Facility
- GER Spectroradiometer
- Semiconductor Spectroradiometer
- CIP PMO6 Absolute Cavity Radiometer
- Field Array Testers up to 100 kW
- Infrared Imaging System

TELEMAC Laboratory

The main equipment of the TELEMAC laboratory, dedicated to the computer simulation of heavy robotics tools and to the validation of numerical simulation results from experiments on mock-ups, was described in the ISEI Annual Report 1993.

The main facility of the laboratory, ROBERTINO, (see *Fig. 9.1*) a large gantry robot for experimental validation tests in the field of heavy robotics, has been upgraded in order to ameliorate its control system and dynamic behaviour during the movements, in particular for avoiding induced vibrations. The pay load was increased to 6 tones, resolution and repeatability were ameliorated to 0.1 mm. The vertical translation is obtained now by the synchronised movement of four brushless servo-drives, each moving one screw; the horizontal movements are obtained each by the synchronised movement of two brushless servo-drives moving precision screws with ball-circling nuts.

A new control system has been developed for a more autonomous and flexible operation of the facility. The new control system, based on VXI-bus with VX-works as operating system, is appropriate for the experimen-



Fig. 9.1. Detail of Robertino facility.

tal requirements of the facility and, at the same time, it is in conformity with the most updated standards. It will ensure high reliability and safety conditions and it will allow, the testing of interactive autonomy operations and procedures for large and complex systems in the field of heavy robotics.

LaSCo, Laboratory for Containment and Surveillance

The thermal and mechanical testing facilities available in the LaSCo laboratory were described in detail in the 1993 Annual Report of ISEI.

Some additional equipment now completes the facility:

 a third climatic chamber was installed end of 1994, with an inner volume of 1m³ operating in a temperature range of -65C to 150C. This new chamber permits the testing of big systems at very low temperatures;

- a fast transient burst generator was also installed in order to start electromagnetic compatibility tests on equipment. This is a first step in the development of a new activity in LaSCo laboratory, which will continue with the development of a specific test zone for qualification of devices and systems under conducted and radiated electromagnetic fields. All the tests will be conducted under actual official test standards such as those of the IEC, or as requested by the customer.

During 1994, tests protocols were defined and specific tests on items were performed on:

- the Compact Surveillance System COSMOS, developed by JAERI (Japan), for which various thermal, humidity and mechanical tests were conducted in order to verify its characteristics and to study its performance under various environmental conditions;
- the Logitec Fotoman camera used in the Gemini surveillance system. After the acknowledgement of the test protocol by the Euratom Safeguards Directorate in Luxembourg, various thermal, humidity and mechanical tests were conducted on the cameras in order to verify their characteristics under various environmental conditions.

The test programme foreseen for 1995 is the following:

- thermal and mechanical qualification of a new parabolic surveillance system based on heat flow transfer developed in the LaSCo laboratory;
- study of the performance under thermal and mechanical stresses of a Multi-Channel Acquisition system, Nos-National Instruments, for which a detailed test protocol was prepared and submitted to both companies;
- study of the performances of Gemini and EMOS surveillance systems under various environmental stresses;
- study of the performance of the MIVS system under electromagnetic perturbations;
- study of the behaviour of a multi-sensor surveillance system developed in the LaSCo laboratory (HOMM project).



List of Publications

List of Figures

List of Acronyms and Abbreviations

÷

. •



ANNEX

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Industrial Hazards

MONOGRAPHS

CAMPAGNARI, F.*, SGANARELLA, V.*, VAN DEN EEDE, G. (Eds.) - Scientific-Technical Background for Biotechnology Regulations. Proceedings of the EUROCOURSE, 4-7 June 1991, Ispra (I) Kluwer Acad.Publs. - EUR 15579/EN (1994)

PARUCCINI, M. (Ed.) - Applying Multiple Criteria Aid for Decision to Environmental Management. Proceedings of the EUROCOURSE, 7-8 October 1993, Ispra (I) Kluwer Acad. Publs. - EUR 15678/EN (1994)

CONTRIBUTIONS TO PERIODICALS AND MONOGRAPHS

PECKHAM, R.J., MENDES, I. - Computer Aided Decision Making in Waste Management. In: Technologies for Environmental Cleanup: Toxic and Hazardous Waste Management. Kluwer Acad. Publs., A. Avogadro and R.C. Ragaini (Eds.) (1994) 239-248 - ORA/ART 37940

CACCIABUE, P.C., COJAZZI, G. - A Human Factors Methodology for Safety Assessment Based on the DYLAM Approach. Reliability Engineering and Safety, Vol. 45 (1994) 127-138 - ORA/ART 37778

FUNTOWICZ, S., RAVETZ, J.* - Emergent Complex Systems. Futures, Vol. 26, No. 6 (1994) 568-582 - ORA/ART 37787

FUNTOWICZ, S., RAVETZ, J.*, DE MARCHI, B.* - SEVESO, a Paradoxial Classic Disaster. In: Community Responses to Industrial Disaster, UNU - ART 41913

HAASTRUP, P. - Designing Risk and Environmental Management Support Systems. In: Computer Supported Risk Management, Swiss Federal Inst. of Technology. Prof. Al Wallace (Ed.) - ART 41916

FUNTOWICZ, S, DE MARCHI, B.* - Interdipendenza Ecologica e Diffusivit delle Catastrofi. In: Decidere l'Ambiente. Opzioni Technologiche e Gestione delle Risorse Ambientali, ISIG, Franco Angeli, L. Pellizzoni, D. Ungaro (Eds.) (1994) 273-294 - ART 42047

PARUCCINI, M. - Sistemi di Supporto alla Decisione nella Gestione del Territorio. In: Decidere l'Ambiente. Opzioni Tecnologiche e Gestione delle Risorse Ambientali, ISIG, Franco Angeli, L. Pellizzoni, D. Ungaro (Eds.) (1994) 247-271 - ART 42048 MUNDA, G.*, PARUCCINI, M., FUNTOWICZ, S. - Assessment of the Aggregation of Environmental Parameters Based on the Analogy with Multicriteria Methods. Environmetrics, Vol. 1, No. 4 (1993) 353-368 - ART 29731

HAASTRUP, P. - Overview of Problems of Risk Management of Accidents with Dangerous Chemicals in Europe. European Journal of Operational Research, Vol. 75 (1994) 488-498 -ART 41282

FUNTOWICZ, S, RAVETZ, J.* - The Worth of a Songbird: Ecological Economics as a Post-Normal Science. Ecological Economics, Vol. 10 (1994) 197-207 - ART 41504

PECKHAM, R.J. - Linking GIS and MCDA to Manage Lombardy's Industrial Waste. Geo Info Systems, Vol. 3, No. 8 (1993) - ART 41744

LESSI, O.*, OLIVI, L., PARISI, P. - Statistical Diagnostics for Industrial Processes in a Context of Dynamic Linear Models. Revue Europenne: Diagnostic et Sret de Fonctionnement, Vol. 4, No. 3 (1994) 287-295 - ART 41901

COLORNI, A*, DORIGO, M.*, MANIEZZO, V.*, TRU-BIAN, M.* - A System for Job-Shop Scheduling. Belgian Journal of Operations Research, Statistics and Computer Science, Vol. 34, No. 1 (1994) 39-54 - ART 42005

FUNTOWICZ, S., RAVETZ, J.* - Uncertainty, Complexity and Post-Normal Science. Intern. Journal on Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, Vol. 13, No. 12 (1994) 1881-1885 - ART 42113

STYHR PETERSEN, H.*, RMER, H.*, OLSEN, S.* - Transport of Dangerous Goods in Danish Waters. Dansk Kemi, Vol. 75, No. 8 (1994) 22-23 - ART 42256

RMER, H.*, HAASTRUP, P., STYHR PETERSEN, H.* - Accidents during Marine Transport of Dangerous Goods. Distribution Fatalities. Journal of Loss Prevention in the Process Industries, Vol. 8, No. 1 (1995) 29-34 - ART 42260

HAASTRUP, P., RASMUSSEN, K. - A Study of f-N Curves for Accidents Involving Highly Flammable Gases. Process Safety and Environmental Protection, Vol. 72, No. B4 (1994) 205-210 - ART 42261

NORDVIK, J., MITCHISON, N., WILIKENS, M. - The Role of the Goal Tree-Success Tree Model in the Real-Time Supervision of Hazardous Plants. Reliability Engineering and System Safety, Vol. 44 (1994) 345-360 - ART 42314

LAURENT, J.*, WILIKENS, M. - Software Quality Assessment. Some Advantages with Knowledge-Based Systems. Journal of Knowledge Engineering, Vol. 7, No. 2 (1994) 85-91 - ART 42492

TECHNICAL EUR REPORTS

CASINI, G. (Ed.) - Annual Report 1993 of the Institute for Systems Engineering and Informatics - EUR 15769/EN (1994)

MUNDA, G. - Fuzzy Information in Multicriteria Environmental Evaluations Models - EUR 15602/EN (1994)

CITTI, P.*, AMENDOLA, A. {Eds.} - I Rischi di Incidente Rilevante nell'Industria di Processo. Una Prospettiva Emergente dal Congresso Innovazione Tecnologica nella Protezione Civile - EUR 15643/IT (1994)

LIND, M.*, LARSEN, M.*, NORBY, M.* - Methodologies for Analysis of Planning, Control and Supervisory Functions in Complex Technological Systems - EUR 15705/EN {1994}

ZANETTA, A.* - Air Quality Indicators for Environmental Impoct Assessment - EUR 15864/EN {1994}

ZANETTA, A.* - Indicators and Indices of Water Quality for Environmental Impact Assessment - EUR 15865/EN (1994)

MENDES, I. - The Engineering of a Decision Support System for Industrial Wastes Management - EUR 15886/EN (1994)

HAASTRUP, P. - A Decision Support System for the Management of the Clean-up of a Large River Basin Using an Expert System Approach. Results from a Pilot Implementation for the Italian Po Valley - EUR 15948/EN (1994)

RENDERS, J.* - Mtaphores Biologiques Appliques la Commande de Processus - EUR 15954/FR (1994)

HAASTRUP, P., RMER, H.*, ELWOOD, C.* - CHEMAX, a Database of Accidents Involving Dangerous Chemicals -EUR 15970/EN (1994)

CONTRIBUTIONS TO CONFERENCES

GUIMARAES PEREIRA A.*, MUNDA, G.*, PARUCCINI, M. - Generating Alternatives Using Genetic Algorithms and Multiple Criteria Decision Techniques. Design of Decision Support Systems, 14-20 August 1994, Eindhoven (NL) Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, Vol. I, No. 1 (1994) 40-47 -ORA/ART 38202

LESSI, O.*, OLIVI, L., PARISI, P. - Statistical Diagnostics: A New Integration Tool for Man-Machine Interfaces. In: Proceedings of the SAFEPROCESS '94 Symposium, IFAC, 13-15 June 1994, Helsinki (SF) Pergamon for IFAC, T. Ruokonen (Ed.) (1994) 99-104 - ORA/PRO 38063

AMENDOLA, A., DE MARCHI, B.* - Communication of Chemical Emergencies. Management of the Dynamics in Projects and Companies, 13-14 April 1994, Wien (A) Projektmanagement, Austria - ORA 38193

NORDVIK, J., WILIKENS, M. - Functional Modelling for Real-Time Operator Advisory Systems. Application in FORMEN-TOR. 12th Congress on Computer Aided Ergonomics & Safety, CAES, IEA, 15-19 August 1994, Toronto (CAN) (1994) 395-397 - ORA/PRO 38372

FUNTOWICZ, S. - Making Scientific Principles Operational. Workshop on Principles of Living Resource Conservation, US Marine Mammal Commission, 6-9 March 1994, Airlie House, Virginia (USA) - ORA 38053

NORBY-LARSEN, M.*, KJAER-HANSEN, J.*, CACCIABUE, P.C. - Deriving Start-up Task Descriptions from Functional Models. In. Proceedings of PSAM-II, SRA-ESRA, 20-24 March 1994, San Diego, Cal. (USA) -

ORA/PRO 38057

HOLLNAGEL, E.*, CACCIABUE, P.C. - Reliability of Cognition, Context and Data for a Second Generation HRA. In: Proceedings of PSAM-II, SRA-ESRA, 20-24 March 1994, San Diego, Cal. (USA) - ORA/PRO 38058

COJAZZI, G., PINOLA, L.* - Root Cause Analysis Methodologies : Trends and Needs. In: Proceedings of PSAM-II, SRA-ESRA, 20-24 March 1994, San Diego, Cal. (USA) - ORA/ PRO 38059

HAASTRUP, P., RAVETZ, J.* - Can the Concept of "Vulnerability" be Applied to Risk Management of Chemical Hazards? EURO XIII/OR 36, 19-22 July 1994, Glasgow, Scotland (UK) - ORA 38069

PECKHAM, R.J., PETER, M.* - A GIS to Aid Sustainable Environmental Management in a European Natural Park. Fifth European Conference and Exhibition on Geographical Information Systems, EGIS, 29 March - 1 April 1994, Paris (F) -ORA/PRO 38090

CASTELLS, N.* - A View of Sponish Policy on Greenhouse Gases and Sulphur Dioxide. In: Proceedings of the Second Intern. Conference on Implications and Applications of Bioeconomics, Dragan European Foundation, 11-13 March 1994, Palma de Mallorca (E) - ORA/PRO 38144

CACCIABUE, P.C., GULIENETTI, G.*, NORTH, C. - Human Factors. The Next Technological Advance. In: Proceedings of the 21st WEAAP Conference on Aviation Psychology, Trinity College, 28-31 March 1994, Dublin (IRL) - ORA/PRO 38152

PAPADOPOULOS, I., PANOSKALTSIS, V.* - Gradient Dependent Multiaxial High-Cycle Fatigue Criterion. In: Proceedings of the 4th Intern. Conference on Biaxial/Multiaxial Fatigue, SF2M, ESIS, 31 May - 3 June 1994, Paris {F} - ORA/ PRO 38167

BELLORINI, A.*, DECORTIS, F. - A Stress-Based Analysis in Air-Traffic Control. In: Proceedings of the 21st WEAAP Conference on Aviation Psychology, Trinity College, 28-31 March 1994, Dublin (IRL) - ORA/PRO 38204

COJAZZI, G., PEDRALI, M.* - A Man-Machine Interaction Approach to the Study of the Errors of Commission in an Aeroplane. In: Proceedings of the 9th Intern. Conference on Reliability & Maintainability, CNES, 30 May - 3 June 1994, La Baule (F) - ORA/PRO 38213

FUNTOWICZ, S., RAVETZ, J.* - Planning and Decision-Making in an Uncertain World. The Challenge of Post-Normal Science. In: Proceedings of the Conference on Natural Risk and Civil Protection, 26-29 October 1993, Belgirate (I) -ORA/PRO 38252

BELLORINI, A.*, DECORTIS, F. - A Stress-Based Analysis in Air-Traffic Control. In: Proceedings of the 21st Conference on Aviation Psychology, WEAAP, Trinity College, 28-31 March 1994, Dublin (IRL) - ORA/PRO 38204

FUNTOWICZ, S. - Risk Management, Uncertainty and Post-Normal Science. In: Proceedings of the First Intern. Symposium on Sustainable Fish Farming, The Steering Committee, The Norwegian Acad. Technol. Sci., Centre for Technology & Culture, 28-31 August 1994, Oslo (N) - ORA/PRO 38326

PEDRALI, M.*, COJAZZI, G. - A Methodological Framework for Root Cause Analysis of Human Errors. In: Proceedings of the 21st Conference on Aviation Psychology Developing Theory and Extending Practice, Trinity College, 28-31 March 1994, Dublin (IRL) - ORA/PRO 38355 •

WILIKENS, M., BURTON, C.* - FORMENTOR, Real-Time Operator Advisory Systems for Loss Control. Application to a Petro-Chemical Plant. In: Proceedings of the 12th Symposium on Computer Aided Ergonomics & Safety, IEA, 15-19 August 1994, Toronto (CAN) - ORA/PRO 38373

FUNTOWICZ, S., RAVETZ, J.* - Commentary on "GEC and Sustainability in Europe", by J. Jaeger and T. O'Riordan: The Systems Perspective. Workshop on GEC and SD in Europe, 9-10 June 1994, Wuppertal (D) - ORA 38392

LAURENT, J.*, WILIKENS, M. - Software Quality Assessment: Some Advantages with Knowledge-Based Systems. Intern. Conference on Systems and Control, IASTED, 20-22 June 1994, Lugano (CH) - ORA/PRO 38397

SCHEER, S. - The Creation of Expert Systems for Advanced Risk Assessment of Safety Critical Complex Industrial Systems. In: Proceedings of the Workshop on Methodological Issues of Probabilistic Safety Analysis. Human Reliability Analysis and Development of Support Software Tools, TU, 13-17 June 1994, Gdansk (POL) - ORA/PRO 38474

BIANCO, L.*, MANIEZZO, V.*, MINGOZZI, A.*, RIC-CIARDELLI, S.* - A New Exact Algorithm for the Vehicle Scheduling Problem with Time Windows and Constraints. Triennial Symposium on Transportational Analysis (TRISTAN II), CNR, IASI, AIRO, 22-28 June 1994, Capri (I) - ORA 38478

MENDES, I. - Alternatives Formulation in a Decision Support System for Industrial Wastes' Management. In: Proceedings of the 5th Meeting of the Euro-Working Group on Decision Support Systems, 30 June - 3 July 1994, Turku (SF) - ORA/ PRO 38482 MINGOZZI, A.*, MANIEZZO, V.*, BIANCO, L.*, RIC-CIARDELLI, S.* - An Exact Algorithm for Resource Constrained Project Scheduling Problems. Fourth Intern. Workshop on Project Management and Scheduling, BNSCF, 12-15 July 1994, Louvain (B) - ORA 38484

EYROLLE, H.*, DECORTIS, F., BOUDES, N.*, CELLIER, J.* -Anticipation Aids in Traffic Management Activities. In: Proceedings of the 23rd Intern. Congress on Applied Psychology, COP, 17-22 July 1994, Madrid (E) - ORA/PRO 38485

MINGOZZI, A.*, MANIEZZO, V.*, BIANCO, L.*, RIC-CIARDELLI, S.* - A New Exact Branch and Bound Algorithm for Project Scheduling with Resource Constraints. Operational Research Designing Practical Solutions, Univ. Strathclyde, 19-22 July 1994, Glasgow (UK) - ORA 38486

LESSI, O.*, OLIVI, L. - Problems of Integration for Large Scale Stochastic Systems. In: Proceedings of the IFAC Conference on Integrated Systems Engineering, VDI/VDE, 27-29 September 1994, Baden-Baden (D) - ORA/PRO 38526

FUNTOWICZ, S. - Global Environmental Change: Beyond Interdisciplinarity. Cambiamenti Climatici e Regioni Alpine nell'Ambito del Programma Prioritario sull'Ambiente del Fondo Naz. Svizzero per la Ricerca, 5 September 1994, Monte Verit, Ancona (II) - ORA 38564

FUNTOWICZ, S. - Emergent Complex Systems and Post-Normal Science. Seminaire "Pour une Mthodologie de la Recherche-Action", INRA, 28-30 September 1994, Saint Martin de Londres (F) - ORA 38579

FUNTOWICZ, S., RAVETZ, J.* - Emergent Complexity and Ecological Economics. Down to Earth Practical Applications of Ecological Economics, ISEE, 24-28 October 1994, San Jos (Costa Rica) - ORA 38583

FUNTOWICZ, S., RAVETZ, J.* - Applicability of Risk Assessment to Decision-Making in Climate Change. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change WG II Technical Support Unit, 17-21 October 1994, Fortaleza (Brazil) - ORA 38608

CACCIABUE, P.C. - Academic and Practical Needs for Operator Modelling and Simulation. In: Proceedings of the Second Workshop on Super Simulators for Nuclear Power Plants, NUPEC, 2 November 1994, Tokyo (Japan) - ORA/ PRO 38703

VOLTA, G. - Implicazioni Scientifiche e Tecnologiche della "Revisione Fondamentale" della Direttiva Seveso. Seminari Industria, Univ. degli Studi, 27 ottobre 1994, Pisa (I) - ORA 38746

DE MARCHI, B.*, HAASTRUP, P. - Dangerous Substances and Risk Communication: Fixed Installations vs Transport. In: Atti della Conferenza "Rischio, Gestione del Rischio, Comunicazione del Rischio: una Prospettiva Integrata", ISIG, 2 December 1994, Gorizia (I) ISIG, Anno III, No. 4 (1994) 9-10 - ORA/PRO 38800 PARUCCINI, M., MUNDA, G.* - Approcci Multidisciplinari alla Gestione dell'Ambiente. In: Proceedings of the Conference on Risk, Risk Communication and Risk Management: an Integrated Perspective, ISIG, 2 December 1994, Gorizia (I) Rivista ISIG, Anno 3x, Nx 4 (1994) - ORA/PRO 38813

SPECIAL PUBLICATIONS

FLAVM, J. (Ed.) - Proceedings of the 6th ESReDA Seminar on Maintenance and System Effectiveness - S.P./1.94.29

O'NEILL, E.* - The Development and Application of a Geographic Information System for the Management of a Eutrophic Lake in Ireland - S.P./1.94.48

MENEGOLO, L.* - Integrating Multi-Criteria Evaluation Techniques and GIS Spatial Analysis Tools. Applicability to Siting Problems (thesis) - S.P./1.94.47

LANZANI, M.* - Scientific Tools to Support the Management of Eutrophic Lake. The Case of Subalpine Italian Lake, the Lake of Como (thesis) - S.P./1.94.49

FLAVM, J. (Ed.) - Proceedings of the 7th ESReDA Seminar on Accident Analysis - S.P./1.94.66

Reference Methods for Structural Reliability

CONTRIBUTIONS TO PERIODICALS AND MONOGRAPHS

PAOLETTI, D.*, SCHIRRIPA SPAGNOLO, G.*, ZANETTA, P.*, FACCHINI, M.*, ALBRECHT, D. - Manipulation of Speckle Fringes for Non Destructive Testing of Defects in Compasites. Optics & Laser Technology, Vol. 26, No. 2 (1994) 99-104 - ART 41826

ZUERN, M. · A Two-Shutter Camera for Pulsed Laser Holography and Interferometry Using Thermoplastic Hologram Processing. Journals Editorial Dept. Measurement Science and Technology, Vol. 5 (1994) 251-254 - ART 41903

ZANETTA, P.*, ALBRECHT, D., SCHIRIPA SPAGNOLO, G.*, PAOLETTI, D.* - Application of Fast Fourier Transform Techniques to the Quantitative Analysis of Holographic and TV-Holographic Interferograms. OPTIK, Intern. Journal for Light and Electron Optics, Vol. 97, No. 2 (1994) 47-52 - ART 42104

CONTRIBUTIONS TO CONFERENCES

REALIN, M.*, TONIOLO, L.*, ZANETTA, P.*, ALBRECHT, D., FACCHINI, M.* - A Laser Method for the Study of Salt Crystallization on Stone Surfaces. In: Proceedings of the Third Intern. Symposium on the Conservation of Monuments in the Mediterranean Basin, IGCMM, 22-25 June 1994, Venezia (I) Vasca Fassina, Heinrich Ott, Fulvio Zezza (Eds.) - ORA/ PRO 38170

NORDVIK, J., DEHN, M.*, CARPIGNANO, A.* - Application and Verification of STARS Methodology on a Nuclear Case-Study. Annual Meeting of the American Nuclear Saciety, 19-23 June 1994, New Orleans, La. (USA) Transactions of the American Nuclear Soc., Vol. 70 (1994) 230-231 - ORA/PRO 38396

MOUSSAS, V.*, SOLOMOS, G., LUCIA, A.C. - A General Method for Raw Fatigue Crack Growth Data - Processing and Structural Reliability Assessment. In: Proceedings of the 2nd Intern. Conference on Computational Stochastic Mechanics, 13-15 June 1994, Athens (GR) Balkema, Rotterdam - ORA/PRO 38554

SOLOMOS, G., LUCIA, A.C., SANTULLI, C.*, CARETTA, A. - Adhesive Joint Quality Assessment via Acoustic Emission Monitoring. In: Proceedings of the 6th European Conference on Non Destructive Testing (ECNDT), COFREND, 24-28 October 1994, Nice (F) (1994) 573-577 - ORA/PRO 38664

LUCIA, A., ZANETTA, P.*, ALBRECHT, D., FACCHINI, M.*, REALINI, M.* - Study of Salt Efflorescence on Stone Surfaces by Evaluation of Laser Speckle Decorrelation. In: Proceedings of the Conference on Optical Methods in Biomedical and Environmental Sciences, OWLS, ICO, 10-14 April 1994, Tokyo (Japan) - ORA/PRO 38191

COUTSOMITROS, C., LUCIA, A.C., VOLTA, G. - All Optical Interferometric Modulator. In: Proceedings of the Topical Meeting on Frontiers in Information Optics, Intern. Commission for Optics, 4-8 April 1994, Kyoto (Japan) - ORA/PRO 38254

COUTSOMITROS, C., LUCIA, A.C., VOLTA, G. - Hypersensitive Interferometric Sensors for Radiation Flux Measurements. In: Proceedings of the 3rd Intern. Conference on Optical Methods in Bio-Chemical and Environmental Sciences, OWLS, ICO, 10-14 April 1994, Tokyo (Japan) - ORA/ PRO 38255

FACCHINI, M.*, ALBRECHT, D., ZANETTA, P.* - Evaluation of Displacement Derivatives by Direct Manipulation of Interferograrns. In: Proceedings of INTERFEROMETRY 94, SPIE, 16-20 May 1994, Warszawa (POL) - ORA/PRO 38298

FACCHINI, M.*, LUCIA, A.C. - Sistema ESPI per Vibrazioni. In: Atti del 3x Convegno Nazionale "Strumentazione e Metodi di Misura Elettroottici", AEI, CNR, 25-26 maggio 1994, Pavia (I) - ORA/PRO 38320

PARISI, D.*, FACCHINI, M.*, MARTINI, G.* - Interferometria Speckle Elettronica a Fibre Ottiche per Analisi Automatica di Microdeformazioni. In: Atti del 3x Convegno Nazionale "Strumentazione e Metodi di Misura Elettroottici", AEI, CNR, 25-27 maggio 1994, Pavia (II) - ORA/PRO 38319

COUTSOMITROS, C - Compact Hyper-Sensitive Interferometric Sensor for Gravitation Measurements. First Edoardo Amaldi Conference on Gravitational Wave Experiments, INFN, 14-17 June 1994, Frascati (I) - ORA 38395

BILLI, F.*, CANEVA, C.*, SANTULLI, C.* - Modalit di Frattura a Flessione della Zirconia Stabilizzata con Ittria in Emissione Acustica. In: Atti del 10x Convegno Nazionale I.G.F., Politecnico, 8-10 giugno 1994, Torino (I) - ORA/PRO 38425

CANEVA, C.*, SANTULII, C.*, SOLONI, A.*, STIVALI, F.* - Analisi dello Scostamento dal Modello Teorico delle Modalit di Frattura degli MMC. In: Atti del 10x Convegno Nazionale I.G.F., Politecnico, 8-10 giugno 1994, Torino (I) -ORA/PRO 38426

SOLOMOS, G., ZANETTA, P.*, FACCHINI, M.*, LUCIA, A.C. - Modal Damping Assessment via Laser Interferometric Techniques. In: Proceedings of the 10th Intern. Conference on Experimental Mechanics, APAET, 18-22 July 1994, Lisbon (P) - ORA/PRO 38436

CAPONERO, M.*, DE ANGELIS, A.*, FACCHINI, M.*, LUCIA, A.C., ZANETTA, P.* - Measurement of Dynamic Displacements Using Holographic and Speckle Interferometry. In: Proceedings of the First International Conference on Vibration Measurements by Laser Techniques, AIVELA, 5 July 1994, Ancona (I) - ORA/PRO 38556

FACCHINI, M.*, ZANETTA, P.*, BINDA, L.*, MIRABELLA ROBERTI, G.*, TIRABOSCHI, C.* - Estimation of Masonry Mechanical Characteristics by ESPI Fringe Interpretation. In: Proceedings of Applied Optics and Opto-Electronics (EO-SAM'94), Univ. York, 5-8 September 1994, York (UK) -ORA/PRO 38565

LANGHOFF, A.*, FACCHINI, M.*, ZANETTA, P.* - Static Deformation Measurements on Violins by Optical

TV-Holography. In: Proceedings of the 4th Intern. Conference on Non-Destructive Testing of Works of Art, Deutsche Gesellschaft f. Zerstrungsfreie Prfung, Berlin, 3-8 October 1994, Berlin (D) - ORA/PRO 38701

SOLOMOS, G., LUCIA, A.C., SANTULII, C.*, CARETTA, A. - Adhesive Joint Quality Assessment via Acoustic Emission Monitoring. In: Proceedings of the 6th European Conference on Non-Destructive Testing, 24-28 October 1994, Nice (F}-ORA/PRO 38716

LUCIA, A.C., SOLOMOS, G., SANTULLI, C.*, MARINI, R.*, CARETTA, A. - Valutazione della Resistenza di Strutture in Materiale Composito mediante Emissione Acustica. In: Atti della Conferenza "Attuali Applicazioni e Prospettive dell'Emissione Acustica", AlPnD, 10 novembre 1994, Segrate (I) -ORA/PRO 38721

FACCHINI, M.*, FORNO, C.* - Moir Interferometry Applied to the Analysis of Deformations in a Stressed Concrete Column. Mesure Optique des Formes 3D et Grandes Dformations, HOLO3, SFO, 24-25 November 1994, Tours (F) - ORA/POST 38722

Reference Methods for Non-Nuclear Energies

CONTRIBUTIONS TO PERIODICALS AND MONOGRAPHS

BLOEM, J., KREIDER, J.* - System Identification Competition Announcement. Energy and Buildings, Vol. 21 (1994) 81-82 - ART 42493

TECHNICAL EUR REPORTS AND MONOGRAPHS

BLOEM, J. (Ed.) - Proceedings of the Workshop on Application of System Identification on Energy Savings in Buildings, Ispra, 25-27 October 1993, Ispra (VA) Italy - EUR 15566/EN (1994)

BLOEM, J. - System Identification Applied to Building Performance Data - EUR 15885/EN {1994}

CONTRIBUTIONS TO CONFERENCES

RIESCH, G. - Betriebsergebnisse einiger EG-gefrderter Photovoltaik-Anlagen. 9. Intern. Sonnenforum, DGS, 28. Juni - 1. Juli 1994, Stuttgart (D) Tagungsbericht, Band 1, p. 428 -ORA/PRO 38368

BLOEM, J. - Application of System Identification for Thermal Characterisation of Building Components. In: Proceedings of the SYSID 94, Symposium on System Identification, Danish Automation Soc., 4-6 July 1994, Copenhagen (DK) - ORA/ PRO 38262

CONTI, F. - The Features of a Modern Information System for the Energy Management of a Regional Building Stock. THER-MIE, Energy Management in Buildings. Workshop and Exhibition, CRES, ICAEN, BRECSU-IABPO, 21-22 April 1994, Bucarest (BUL) - ORA 38294

CONTI, F. - Energy Uses in Non-Residential Building Sector in EU Countries. THERMIE, Energy Management in Buildings. Workshop and Exhibition, CRES, ICAEN, BRECSU, IABPO, 21-22 April 1994, Bucarest (RO) - ORA 38295

CONTI, F. - The Improvement of Energy Certification by Means of Advanced Expert Systems for Building Auditing. In: Proceedings of "The Save Programme: Overview and Future", ENEA, ADEME, 26-28 October 1994, Firenze (I) -ORA/PRO 38719

BLOEM, J., CONTI, F., OSCULATI, F., VOIT, P.*, STYMNE, H.* - Evaluation of Monitoring Results of an Occupied Appartment Building. European Conference on Energy Performance and Indoor Climate in Buildings, JRC, ADEME, Rgion Rhne-Alpes, 24-26 November 1994, Lyon (F) - ORA 38723

BLOEM, J., KREIDER, J.* - System Identification Competition. Benchmark Tests for Estimation Methods of Thermal Characteristics of Buildings and Building Components. 10th IFAC Symposium on System Identification (SYSID'94), 4-6 July 1994, Copenhagen (DK) - ORA/POST 38733

BLOEM, J. - Application of System Identification for Thermal Characterisation of Building Components. System Identification Course, 3-7 October 1994, Ispro (I) - ORA/POST 38737

BLOEM, J. - System Identification Applied to Thermal Characterisation of Buildings and Building Components. In: Proceedings of the EUROCOURSE on System Identification, 3-7 October 1994, Ispra (I) - EUR 15885/EN (1994) - ORA/PRO 38738

NORLEN, U.*, LINDFORS, A.*, BLOEM, J. - Pre-Processing of Data from In-situ Thermal Measurements of Building Components. In: Proceedings of the Conference on Energy Performance and Indoor Climate, LASH, 24-26 November 1994, Lyon (F) - ORA/PRO 38749

NORLEN, U.*, BLOEM, J., LINDFORS, A.* • A Comparison of Methods for Thermal Resistance Estimation. In: Proceedings of the Conference on Energy Performance and Indoor Climate, LASH, 24-26 November 1994, Lyon (F) - ORA/ PRO 38750

SPECIAL PUBLICATIONS

COLOMBO, R., LANDABASO, A.*, SEVILLA, A.* - Passive Solar Energy Design Handbook - S.P./1.94.02

GILLIAERT, D., DUNN, P.D.*, GILLETT, W.B.*, PARKER, A.P.* - Strategies for the Commercialisation of Solar Water Heating and Solar Crop Drying in Developing Countries -S.P./1.94.09

OSSENBRINK, H. - The ESTI Sensor - Your Reference - S.P./ 1.94.55

CONTI, F., DESPRETZ, H.*, LEROY, A.* - Summary and Conclusions of a Seminar on the State of Building Energy Certification in EU Member Countries - S.P./1.94.40

Reactor Safety

TECHNICAL EUR REPORTS

KONT, S.* - Un Système Expert Modulaire de Seconde Génération pour l'Analyse des Défaillances dans les Processus Complexes (thèse) - EUR 15569/FR (1994)

CACCIABUE, P.C. - Affidabilità Dinamica e Fattori Umani in Sistemi Nucleari - EUR 15988/IT (1994)

CONTRIBUTIONS TO CONFERENCES

ARSENIS, S. - On the Reliability and Availability of a System of two Components Active, Standby and in Corrective or Preventive Maintenance. In: Proceedings of the 6th ESReDA Seminar on Ageing, Maintenance and System Effectiveness, 28-29 April 1994, Chamonix (F) J. Flamm (Ed.) S.P./ I.94.29 - ORA/PRO 38161

COJAZZI, G., SARDELLA, R.*, TROMBETTI, T.*, VESTRUC-CI, P.* - Assessing DYLAM Methodology in the Frame of Montecarlo Simulation, PSAM-II, SRA-ESRA, 20-24 March 1994, San Diego, Cal. (USA) - ORA/PRO 38056

BESI, A., CACCIABUE, P.C., PAPAZOGLOU, I.* - The PSA/ STARS Project. A Set of Integrated Software Tools for PSA. Evaluation and Living PSA. In: Proceedings of the Fourth Workshop on Living PSA Application, TV-Nord, 2-3 May 1994, Hamburg (D) - ORA/PRO 38092

IZQUIERDO-ROCHA, J.*, SANCHEZ-PEREA, M.*, COJAZ-ZI, G. - Integrated Safety Assessment (ISA). An Approach for the Assessment of the Software Aspects of Protection Systems. In: Proceedings of the IV Topical Meeting on Nuclear Technology, Operations and Safety, 5-8 April 1994, Hsin-Hua (Taiwan) - ORA/PRO 38292

Safeguards and Fissile Materials Management

CONTRIBUTIONS TO PERIODICALS

D'AGRAIVES, B.C. - JRC Ispra Ultrasonic Sealing Techniques. A Possible Solution for the Safeguarding of Underwater or Dry Containment or Storage of Spent Fuel. Spent Fuel Management Seminar X, INMM, 13-15 January 1993, Washington D.C. (USA) Journal of Nuclear Materials Management, Vol. XXIU, No. III (1993) 31-36 - ORA/ART 37305

CONTRIBUTIONS TO CONFERENCES

DANIEL, G.*, SANNIE, G.*, TOLA, F.*, MOL, M., SOREL, F. - Integrated System BUD-CAVIS. 16th ESARDA Meeting, 17-19 May 1994, Gent (B) ESARDA Bulletin, No. 24 (1994) 61-62 - ORA/ART 38358

SEQUEIRA, V.*, GONÇALVES, J., RIBEIRO, M.* - Construction of the 3D Model of an Unknown Environment Using Range Data. In: Proceedings of the Workshop on Graphics and Modelling in Science & Technology, CCG/ZGVD, 27-28 June 1994, Coimbra (P) Springer Verlag - ORA/ PRO 38479 SEQUEIRA, V.*, GONÇALVES, J., RIBEIRO, M.* - 3D Environment Modelling Using Laser Range Sensing. Intern. Symposium on Intelligent Robotis Systems (IRS '94), IMAG, 11-15 July 1994, Grenoble (F) 238-245 - ORA/PRO 38483

DANIEL, G.*, MOL, M., SOREL, F. - Integration of Surveillance with Other Sensor Data. In: Proceedings of the Symposium on International Safeguards, IAEA, 14-18 March 1994, Wien (A) - ORA/PRO 38147

SANTOS, V.*, GONÇALVES, J., VAZ, F.* - Perception Maps for the Local Navigation of a Mobile Robot: a Neural Network Approach. In: Proceedings of the Intern. Conference on Robotics & Automation, IEEE, 8-13 May 1994, San Diego, Cal. (USA) Vol. 3 (1994) 2193-2198 - ORA/ PRO 38163

Fusion Technology and Safety

MONOGRAPHS

CRUTZEN, Y., COCCORESE, V.* (Eds.) - Proceedings of the International Workshop on Electromagnetic Forces and Related Effects on Blankets and Other Structures Surrounding the Fusion Plasma Torus, Capri (I) 29-31 August 1994 -EUR 16112/EN (1994)

CONTRIBUTIONS TO CONFERENCES

ROCCO, P., ZUCCHETTI, M.* - The Impact of Low-Activation Criteria on the Development of Novel Materials for Fusion. ICFRM-6, CEC, 27 September - 1 October 1993, Stresa (I) Journal of Nuclear Materials, Vols. 212-215 (1994) 649-654 - ORA/ART 37805

ANDRITSOS, F., ZUCCHETTI, M.* - Post Accident Afterheat Dissipation on Fusion Reactors. 11th Topical Meeting on the Technology of Fusion Energy, ANS, 19-23 June 1994, New Orleans, La. (USA) Transactions of the American Nuclear Society - ORA/ART 38169

ANDRITSOS, F. - Fusion Reactor Design Parameters Relevant to the Passive Removal of the Decay Heat. Third Intern. Symposium on Fusion Nuclear Technology, UCLA, 27 June - 1 July 1994, Los Angeles, Cal. (USA) Fusion Engineering and Design - ORA/ART 38173

SARIGIANNIS, D.* - On Order Reduction of Hydrogen Isotope Separation Models. Third Intern. Symposium on Fusion Nuclear Technology, UCLA, 27 June - 1 July 1994, Los Angeles, Ca. (USA) Fusion Engineering and Design - ORA/ ART 38398 CRUTZEN, Y., FANTECHI, S.*, FARFALETTI-CASALI, F., IN-ZAGHI, A., ROCHEZ, E., SAKELLARIS, I.* - Disruption Problematics in Segmented Blanket Concepts. Third Intern. Symposium on Fusion Nuclear Safety, UCLA, 27 June - 1 July 1994, Los Angeles, Ca. (USA) Fusian Engineering and Design - ORA/ART 38201

FANTECHI, S.*, SAKELLARIS, I.*, CRUTZEN, Y. - Plasma Models for the Computation of 3D Eddy Currents in Next Tokamaks. In: Proceedings of the Intern. Workshop on Electric and Magnetic Fields, AIM, 17-20 May 1994, Leuven (B) -ORA/PRO 38299

CRUTZEN, Y., FANTECHI, S.*, FARFALETTI-CASALI, F., LORENZETTO, P.*, DAENNER, W.*, AMELOTTI, F.*, MARTELLI, A.*, TURRONI, P.*, FERRARI, M.*, RIGHETTI, E.*, ZOLA, M.*, GATTI, F.*, BOCCACINI, L.*, ROEDIG, M.*, WOLTERS, J.*, HERTOUT, P.*, ALBANESE, R.*, RUBI-NACCI, G.* - Dynamic Loading Test Programme to Confirm ITER Components Performance. In: Proceedings of the EMF'94 Workshop, JRC & CREATE, 20-31 August 1994, Capri (I) EUR 16112/EN (1994), Y. Crutzen, V. Coccorese (Eds.) - ORA/PRO 38838

MAISONNIER, D. - Remote Handling of the Segments. Testing of 1/3 Scale Mock-Ups on the ROBERTINO Facility. Third Intern. Symposium on Fusion Nuclear Technology, UCLA, 27 June - 1 July 1994, Los Angeles, Ca. (USA) Fusion Engineering and Design - ORA/ART 38367

SARIGIANNIS, D.* - On the Incorporation of Safety and Environmental Concerns in Process Systems Synthesis. High Temperature Chemical Processes, Univ., 8 June 1994, Patras (GR) - ORA 38391

VOLTA, G., MAIER, T.*, WILIKENS, M. - Reliability of Robotics. An Overview with Identification of Specific Aspects Related to Remote Handling in Fusion Machines. 3rd Intern. Symposium on Fusion Nuclear Technology, UCLA, 27 June - 1 July 1994, Los Angeles, Ca. (USA) Fusion Engieering and Design - ORA/ART 38430

BRODEN, K.*, OLSON, G.*, ROCCO, P., ZUCCHETTI, M.* - Treatment and Disposal of Radioactive Waste from a Fusion Power Reactor. In: Proceedings of the 18th SOFT, KfK, 22-26 August 1994, Karlsruhe (D) - ORA/PRO 38510

CRUTZEN, Y., FARFALETTI-CASALI, F., VAN PAEMEL, F. -Magneto-Mechanical Coupling Variation: Need for a European Integrated Action. In: Proceedings of the EMF'94 Workshop, EC-JRC, 29-31 August 1994, Capri (I) - ORA/ PRO 38560

FANTECHI, S.* - Plasma Vertical Displacement Events (VDEs) in Next Tokamaks. In: Proceedings of the EMF'94 Workshop, EC-JRC, 29-31 August 1994, Capri (I) - ORA/PRO 38561

Exploratory Research

CONTRIBUTIONS TO CONFERENCES

ALVAREZ, M., VARFIS, A. - Decoding Functions for Kohonen Maps. In: Proceedings of the European Symposium on Artificial Neural Networks (ESANN '94), 20-22 April 1994, Bruxelles (B) (1994) 245-250 - ORA/PRO 38157

COLLINS, D.*, RUSSEL, F.* - Computer Modelling Studies of Solitons in Layered Crystals. In: Proceedings of the 6th Joint EPS-APS Intern. Conference on Physics and Computing, 22-26 August 1994, Lugano (CH) - ORA/PRO 38446

CASTILLO, E., GONALVES, J., MILLAN, J. - ISEI Activities in Robot Technologies. Workshop on Advanced Automation (ELD'94), CSIC, 28 November - 2 December 1994, Madrid (E) - ORA 38798

MILLAN, J. - Learning Efficient Reactive Behavioural Sequences from Basic Reflexes in a Goal-Directed Autonomous Robot. In: Proceedings of "From Animals to Animats". 3rd Conference on Simulation of Adaptive Behaviour, Univ. Sussex, 8-12 August 1994, Brighton (UK) - ORA/PRO 38305

MILLAN, J., TORRAS, C.* - Efficient Reinforcement Learning of Navigation Strategies in an Autonomous Robot. In: Proceedings of the Intern. Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems, IEEE/RSJ, 12-16 September 1994, Mnchen (D) - ORA/PRO 38513

KAISER, M.*, CAMARINHA-MATOS, L.*, GIORDANA, A.*, KUINGSPOR, V.*, MILLAN, J., DE NATALE, F.*, NUT-TIN, M.*, SUAREZ, R.*-Robot Learning: Three Case Studies in Robotics and Machine Learning Technology Transfer. In: Proceedings of the Workshop on Industrial Vision & Autonomous Robots, KUL, 9-10 June 1994, Louvain (B) - ORA/ PRO 38473

ZENIE', A. - Methodology for Analysing and Reengineering Remote Sensing Business Process by Using Action Workflow Technology. In: Proceedings of the Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work, ACM, 22-26 October 1994, Chapel Hill, NC (USA) - ORA/PRO 38714

PERROTTA, D.* - Maximum Entropy Principle in Bayesian Backpropagation. In: Proceedings of the Conference on Neural Networks and their Applications (NEURONIMES '94), IUSPIM, 15-16 December 1994, Marseille (F) -ORA/PRO 38816

SPECIAL PUBLICATIONS

MOTA, S., MORETTI, C.* - Help Desk News - S.P./I.94.34

Support to the Commission

MONOGRAPHS

HORLICK-JONES, T.*, AMENDOLA, A., CASALE, R.* (Eds.) - Natural Risk and Civil Protection. Proceedings of an International Conference organised by the European Commission, Belgirate, 26-29 October 1993 - EUR 16050/EN (1994)

CONTRIBUTIONS TO PERIODICALS

RASMUSSEN, K. - Natural Events and Accidents with Hazardous Materials. Journal of Hozardous Materials, Vol. 40, Issue 1 (1995) 43-54 - ART 41619

PAPADAKIS, G.*, RASMUSSEN, K. - "Ammonia Tank Failure in Lithuania", Letter to the Editor of Loss Prevention Bulletin, No. 107, IChemE (U.K). Loss Prevention Bulletin - ART 42278

TECHNICAL EUR REPORTS

HAMILTON, C.*, DE CORT, R.*, O'DONNELL, K.* - Report on Land-Use Planning Controls for Major Hazard Installations in the European Community - EUR 15700/EN (1994)

CACCIABUE, P.C., GERBAULET, I. (Eds.) - Safety Management Systems in the Process Industry. Proceedings, 7-8 October 1993, Ravello (I) - EUR 15743/EN (1993)

ZIOMAS, I.*, TZOUMAKA, P.*, FIORENTINI, C.*, ROMA-NO, A.*, LOCATELLI, M.* - Lessons Learned from Emergencies after Accidents in Greece and Italy Involving Dangerous Chemical Substances - EUR 15767/EN (1994)

VENTURA, J.*, MACEDO, M.*, SOUSA, N.* - Lessons Learnt from Emergencies after Accidents in Portugal and Spain Involving Dangerous Substances - EUR 15787/EN (1994)

DE MARCHI, B.*, FUNTOWICZ, S. - General Guidelines for Content of Information to the Public. Directive

82/501/EEC Annex VII - EUR 15946/EN (1994)

CONTRIBUTIONS TO CONFERENCES

BEST, C., ROEBBELEN, D., CARUSO, S., DEVOS, J., EIFLER, W., HAMWANS, W. - Pre- and Post-Processor Informatics Tools for Regional Computational Oceanography. In: Proceedings of the First National Conference on Hydroinformatics, IHE, 19-23 September 1994, Delft (NL), A.A. Balkema - ORA/PRO 38586

POLIICINI, A. - A Strategy for Quality Software. In: Proceedings of the Conference on Software Quality Management '94, Wessex Inst. of Technology, 26-28 July 1994, Edinburgh (UK) Computational Mechanics Publications, Vol. 2 (1994) 43-57 - ORA/PRO 38073 SEQUEIRA, V.*, GONÇALVES, J., RIBEIRO, I.* - 3D Modelling of In-Door Scenes Using Laser Range Sensing. In: Proceedings of the Workshop on Machine Vision Applications (MVA '94), IAPR, 13-15 December 1994, Kawasaki (Japan) 315-318 - ORA/PRO 38704

GONÇALVES, J., SEQUEIRA, V.* - Application of Laser Range Images to Design Information Verification. In: Proceedings of the Symposium on International Safeguards, IAEA, 14-18 March 1994, Wien (A) - ORA/PRO 38148

PECKHAM, R.J. - Geographical Information Systems and Decision Support for Environmental Management. In: Proceedings of the 2nd Conference on Design and Decision Support Systems, Eindhoven Univ, 15-19 August 1994, Vaals (NL) -ORA/PRO 38099

PINTI, A.*, GROSSETIE, J.C. - A Methodology for Dimensioning SPMD Distributed Systems Applied to Industrial Applications. In: Proceedings of the Intern. Conference and Exhibition on High Performance Computing Networking, Foundation HPCN Europe, 18-20 April 1994, Mnchen (D) Springer-Verlag, Vol. II (1994) 365-366 - ORA/PRO 38156

PINTI, A.*, GROSSETIE, J.C. - ART 2-A on T-Node Machine Application to Automatic Classification of All-Night Sleep Stages. In: Proceedings of the 2nd African Conference on Research in Computer Sciences, INRIA, 12-18 October 1994, Ouagadougou (Burkina-Faso) - ORA/PRO 38531

PINTI, A.*, GROSSETIE, J.C. - Multi-Layer Neural Networks on a Pipeline of Transputers Application to Automatic All-Night Sleep Stages Quoting. In: Proceedings of the 2nd Intern. Conference on Software for Multiprocessors & Supercomputers, 21-23 September 1994, Moscow (Russia) -ORA/PRO 38405

MICHELIN, S.*, ARQUES, D.*, GROSSETIE, J.C. - Fourier Transform Hologram. A Variation on the Off-Axis Principle. In: Proceedings of the Symposium on Electronic Imaging Science and Technology, IS&T, SPIE, 6-11 February 1994, San Jos, Ca. (USA) - ORA/PRO 38051

GLODEN, R.F. - Application d'une Mthode de Galerkin Gnralise l'Equation de Propagation des Ondes. Intern. Congress of Mathematicians, Univ. Berne, ETHZ, EPF, 3-11 aot 1994, Zrich (CH) - ORA/POST 38764

AMENDOLA, A. - The Activities of the JRC for the Implemen-

tatian of the EEC Directive on the Major Accident Hazard Control. Seminar on "Industrial Major Accidents", Technical Chambre of Greece, 19 January 1994, Athens (GR) Bollettino della "Camera Tecnica Greca" - ORA/ART 38086

CONTI, F., DESPRETZ, H.* - Different Approaches to Building Energy Certification in EU Member Countries. In: Proceedings of the Seminar on "Building Energy Certification", ADEME, JRC, 27-29 June 1994, Sophia Antipolis (F) -ORA/PRO 38480

AMENDOLA, A. - Industrial Risk Management, a EEC Perspective. In: Proceedings of PSAM II, SRA-ESRA, 20-24 March 1994, San Diego, Ca (USA) - ORA/PRO 38054

RASMUSSEN, K. - The Database of the Major Accident Reporting System (MARS). Seminar on Accident Analysis, ESRe-DA, 12-14 October 1994, Ispra (I) - ORA 38532

AMENDOLA, A., FRANCOCCI, G., CHAUGNY, M.* -Gravity Scales for Classifying Chemical Accidents. In: Proceedings of the Seminar on Accident Analysis, ESReDA, 12-14 October 1994, Ispra (I) - ORA/PRO 38533

AMENDOLA, A. - The Use of QRA in the Control of Chemical Accidents in the European Union. Workshop on Environmental Risk Assessment, Korea Atomic Res. Inst., 6-7 December 1994, Seul (Korea) - ORA 38780

COLOMBO, A.G., ARTOLA, A.*, HAQ, G.*, MELAKI, I.*-Preliminary Report on the Ispra Study on the Methods Used in Environmental Impact Assessment of Disposal Installations for Toxic/Dangerous Waste. In: Proceedings of the Workshop of the European EIA Centre, Greek EIA, 6-8 October 1994, Delphi (GR) - ORA/PRO 38792

AMENDOLA, A., FUNTOWICZ, S. - Comunicazione del Rischio. Attivit di Supporto alla Commissione Europea. Rischio, Gestione del Rischio, Comunicazione del Rischio. Una Prospettiva Integrata, ISIG, 2 Dicembre 1994, Gorizia (I) ISIG, Anno III, No. 4 (1994) 8 - ORA/PRO 38801

EGIDI, D.*, FORABOSCHI, F.*, SPADONI, G.*, AMEN-DOLA, A. - The ARIPAR Project (Analysis of the Industrial and Transportation Risk Connected with the Ravenna Area). In: Proceedings of PSAM II, SRA-ESRA, 20-24 March 1994, San Diego, Ca. (USA) - ORA/PRO 38055

LIST OF FIGURES

		pag.
Fig. 1.1	The Institutes of the Joint Research Centre.	11
Fig. 1.2	Structure of the Institute for Systems Engineering and Informatics.	12
Fig. 1.3	ISEI Human Resources (Average 1994)	13
Fig. 1.4	ISEI Financial Resources in 1994 in Millions of ECU.	13
Fig. 2.1	Approach Control organization.	21
Fig. 2.2	Approach for the COMODO study.	22
Fig. 2.3	Human Factors Seminar	24
Fig. 2.4	Model showing relationship between workload and situation awareness.	24
Fig. 2.5	Vertical speed indicator with TCAS resolution advisory display.	25
Fig. 2.6	Typical TCAS traffic advisory display.	26
Fig. 2.7	Spectral intensity variation during the flash period of the SpectroLAb LAPSS.	28
Fig. 2.8	Performance Index of the PV-Facade. The figures within the bars show the energy generated per week in kWh, both for DC and AC power.	28
Fig. 2.9	"Madonna in trono con Bambino" by Giotto (1266-1337), wooden panel.	29
Fig. 2.10	Interferogram relative to an area in the middle of the Giotto panel indicating the existence of a detachment and of a crack along the horizontal direction.	29
Fig, 2.11	Predella of the "Incoronazione della Vergine" by Lorenzo Monaco (15th century), from Galleria degli Uffizi, set-up for examination by the ESPI.	30
Fig. 2.12	Detail of the predella, with indication (white squares) of two cracked regions identified using ESPI, and relevant	
	picture). The behaviour of the fringes indicates that a detachment was also present.	30
Fig. 2.13	Results of ESPI measurements made befor (left side) e and after (right side) repair of a detachment on the wooden panel "Trionfo di David".	31
Fig. 2.14	"Trionfo di David", wooden panel, by Imitatore del Pesellino (15th century), from Muse o Horne - Florence: region of the	
	panel containing the defect shown in Fig. 2.13.	31

			pag.
1	Fig. 2.15	Scheme of computer controlled, opto- mechanical configuration (double-ESPI application) for interferometric measurement during compressive tests.	31
3	Fig. 2.16	Picture showing a detail of the system of Fig. 2.15.	31
3 1 2 4	Fig. 2.17	Plot of data obtained from a compression test on a brick specimen. Curves refer to data obtained with classical extensimetric tools and the optical interferometric technique.	32
1	Fig. 2.18	Multimaterial specimen (two bricks with mortar in between): isodeformation fringes obtained using double-ESPI	32
5	Fig. 2.19	Multimaterial specimen (bricks and mortar): detection of a propagating crack using double-ESPI.	32
3	Fig. 2.20	Comparison of vibration plots obtained by our optical strain gauge and a high sensitivity semiconductor strain gauge.	33
3	Fig. 2.21	Contour fringes on a marble surface eroded by 200 years exposure to natural weathering on the Duomo of Milan	
7	Fig. 2.22	Mesh plot of the same zone of eroded marble surface	35 35
7	Fig. 2.23	Surface contouring, obtained by the coherence radar measurement of a metallic surface presenting a step.	35
	Fig. 2.24	The CEO project prototype home page as seen by 'Netscape' a WWW viewer	
C		This interface will be displayed on any workstation screen on the Internet connecting to the server. The coloured	
		buttons provide access to a wide range of information and data concerned with the project as well as providing hypertext links	
)	Fig. 2.25	to EO related sites.	39
	Fig. 2.20	optical demonstration	40
Ĺ	Fig. 2.20	a) Daily values of the global average temperature Tav from 1986 until 1991. It is calculated by integrating the surface values of surface values of temperature T	
		over the surface area. The diamonds show the resultant Tay for the whole globe, the	
l		triangles for the northern hemisphere and the squares for the southern hemisphere.	

pag

The amplitude of the seasonal variation is higher for the northern hemisphere, which reflects the larger amount of land areas with a lower thermal capacity. The day to day variation is remarkably smooth with a variance of ~0.050 K.

Fig. 2.27

a) Residual Tav values for 1987 and 1988 after the seasonal fit has been subtracted from the data for the northern hemisphere. An oscillation with the time period of about 30 days is visible. For comparison, a cosine wave with amplitude 0.20 K, whose crest coincide with the new moon, is shown. Fig. 2.27 b) Residual Tav values for 1987 and 1988 after the seasonal fit has been subtracted from the data for the southern hemisphere. A similar oscillation with a ~30 day time period is evident. This oscillation tends to be out of phase with the northern hemisphere.

- Fig. 2.28 A screen shot of the program 'VOLUME'. The user selects slices through the data in X,Y and Z by using a 'point and click' icon. The resultant image is displayed in one of three windows. The menu provides a flexible range of display options.
- A cut-out image showing 3-d temperature Fig. 2.29 profiles for the Atlantic Ocean. The user selects the cut-out region and the scalar values are coloured according to the actual data values. The land topography is taken from the data and visualised in 3-d. The user can rotate the image and animate the cut-out so that it scans the full volume of data.
- STARS v.2. Knowledge Base Editing Tool. Fig. 2.30
- Fig. 2.31 STARS v.2. Plant and Fault Tree Editing Tool.
- Fig. 2.32 TOMHID paradigm for a successful Safety Management System.
- Fig. 2.33 FORMENTOR: Auxiliary feedwater system.
- Fig. 2.34 DSS scheme. Fig. 2.35 Example of evaluation of five site
- alternatives.
- Fig. 2.36 Codification of the route parameters using GA's.
- Frequency-fatality curves for water and Fig. 2.37 land transpart of dangerous goods.
- STARS model of the Grohnde AFWS with Fig. 2.38 the new Knowledge Base. Dashed lines indicate connections due to physical and spatial dependencies.

Jug	•

41

42

42

43

44

45

47

48

49

51

51

52

57

		pag.
Fig. 2.3	STARS model of a system with three parallel identical components subject to Common Cause Failures (CCF). CCF generators are associated to all combinations of component failure. Dashed lines indicate connections due to common cause of failures.	58
Fig. 2.4	Deterministic Dynamic Event Tree (DDET) for the first 30 minutes of Transient in the case of a SGTR initiating event (Izquierdo et. al. 1994). RAM=Radiation Alarm Monitor, SDCS=Steam Dump Control System, PZR=Pressurizer.	58
Fig. 2.4	41 Remote verification robot equipped with TV cameras (with motorised zoom and focus lenses), laser range finder, ultrasonic sensors and computer controlled pan-and- tilt units.	61
Fig. 2.4	12 Vision-Based Control of the Manipulator Arm: The end-effector autonomously approaches a switch with its wrist already in position to press.	62
Fig. 2.4	43 Remote Surveillance System: Human- Computer Interface allowing for full interactive control of TV cameras, pan-and- tilt units and motorised lenses.	62
Fig. 2.4	14 Proposed Architecture for Vehicle Navigation.	63
Fig. 2.4	45 Simulated trajectory of a mobile robot when moving in the direction of available free space.	64
Fig. 2.4	46 View of Ho.M.M 1.	66
Fig. 2.4	47 Simulation of withdrawal of Blanket segments from one sector of the vacuum vessel of ITER.	68
Fig. 2.4	18 ITER vacuum vessel mechanical model	70
Fig. 2.4	49 Colour representation of the temperature spatial distribution in the area around the assumed "hot spot" after 1 min from the plasma disruption, taking into account both the volumetric decay heat and the heat of the Be-steam chemical reaction at the PFC surface	73
Fig. 2	50 Temperature transient of beryllium coating assuming 1 atm steam pressure, initial Be melting temperature at the surface and initial temperature profile across the first wall corresponding to 25 (5.5) MJ/m2 initial heat load on the FW due to plasma disruption. The 5.5 MJ/m2 curve remains the same even when we assume a tenfold	

increase of the chemical reaction rate.

73

F	ю	q.	

74

86

87

95

96

100

Fig. 2.51	Post-LOCA temperature transients at different parts of the ITER first wall, the blanket, and vacuum vessel (calculations done for a 15 degrees sector of the reactor, decay and Be-steam reaction heat included).

- Fig. 3.1 A ray-traced 3-d rendering of AVHRR/ GAC Normalised Difference Vegetation Index data draped over a digital terrain model of Africa. The data were processed by the Monitoring Tropical Vegetation (MTV) unit of IRSA. A computer generated fly-over of Africa showing dynamic vegetation growth over a 6 year period has been produced. The photograph shows 'Netscape' viewing the image acquired on the World Wide Web.
- Fig. 3.2 Decorrelation parameter as a function of the drying time for the Biocalcarenite di Noto sample. Correlation images after b) 5 hours, c) 13 hours (Collaboration with Centro G.Bozza - CNR - Milano -1)
- Fig. 4.1 Laser Range Acquisition System: optical head mounted on a computer controlled pan-and-tilt unit.
- Fig. 4.2 Deformable surface fit to 3D data from an office scene. The spatial density of the triangular mesh increases near discontinuities.
- Fig. 4.3
 3D Reconstruction of an office scene: 3D wireframe and grey level representations, 3D edge detection and surfaces representation
 97

 Fig. 4.4
 TWS 88 SPIRIT and CONCERTO CS1
- Fig. 4.4TWS 88 SPIRIT and CONCERTO CS1
Parallel Systems.98Fig. 4.5View of the transponders used in animal
tagging100Fig. 4.6View of a farm demonstration in Evora

(Portugal)

- Fig. 4.7View of the complete reading system
(reader, computer etc...)101Fig. 4.8ECC-AIRS: Main architecture.102Fig. 4.9Major Accident Hazards Bureau104Fig. 4.10The Biosafe Scheme106
- Fig. 4.11
 JRC Holographic Synthesis and Image Compression Techniques
 111

 Fig. 4.12
 Review station for video surveillance.
 114
- Fig. 4.13 Grey level image of sample metal plates containing engraved characters (a), and the result of image enhancement and segmentation (b). 115

		pag.
Fig. 5.1	The modernisation of Administrative information systems.	121
Fig. 6.1	Cross Section of Retrofitted Mensa Showing the Pergola and a Skylight.	130
Fig. 6.2	Psychometric Chart showing hourly weatherdata for Ispra and Human Thermal Comfort Zone	131
Fig. 6.3	Results of Survey of Cafeteria Users Opinion of Indoor Climate on a Summer Day.	132
Fig. 6.4	Outside View of the Facade on Building 48.	134
Fig. 8.1	Third-Party Work Contracted 1989-1995.	141
Fig. 8.2	Effort Repartition for the Execution of the Sicily Project.	141
Fig. 8.3	New Portable Ultrasonic Sealing System for Nuclear Containers	143
Fig. 9.1	Detail of Robertino facility	148

LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ADREP	Accident/Incident REPorting (ICAO)	DIVIP	Design Information Verification Image
AE	Acoustic Emission	DCAA	Processing
AECL	Atomic Energy of Canada Limited (CDN)	DSIM	Demana Side Management
AECB	Aromic Energy Control Board (CDIN)	DSIM	Distributed Systems /Vianagement
AFVVS	Auxiliary Feed VVater System	DSP	Digital Diagonal Processing
APHIS	US Department of Agriculture	DSS	Decision Support System
ARMAX	Auto Regressive Moving Average with	DTC	Desk Top Conterencing
	Auxiliary Input	DTM	Digital Terrain Model
ATC	Air Traffic Control	DYLAM	Dynamic Logical Analytical Methodology
ATCO	Air Traffic Control Operators	DYLAM-TRETA	Dynamic Logical Analytical Methodology-
ATM	Air Traffic Management		Transient Response and Test Analyser
AWS	Action Work Flow System	EAMA	Acoustic Emission from Aerospace Materials
BEAMES	Building Energy Auditing Management		and Structures
	Expert System	ECC-AIRS	European Co-ordination Centre for Aircraft
BHD	Blanket Handling Device		Incident Reporting Systems
BIOSAFE	Documentation Centre for Biotechnology	ECMWF	European Centre for Medium Range
	Safety and Regulation		Weather Forecasting
BNFI	British Nuclear Euels Plc (UK)	FCMWF	European Centre for Medium Range
BUD	Burn Up Device		Weather Forecasting
CAD	Computer Aided Design	FDA	Engineering Design Activity
CAE	Computer Aided Engineering	EdE	Electricité de France
CAPES	Computer Aided Review Station	EDI	Electronic Data Interchange
CASAA	Coordinated Abatement Strategy Medal	EDITH	EDITH
CAVIS	Computer Aided Supreillance System	EETA	European Erec Trade Agreement
CRVIS	Computer Record Training		European file fidde Agreement
COL	Computer Based Indining	EIC	Environmenial Impact Assessment
CCF		EIS	Environmental Impact Studies
CDA	Conceptual Design Activity		
CDCIR	Community Documentation Centre on Industrial Risk	ELSA	European Laboratory for Structural Assessment
CEC	Committee for Economic Co-operation	EM	Electromagnetic
CEDB	Component Event DataBank	EO	Earth Observation
CENELEC	European Committee for Eletrotechnical	ERS-1	European Remote Sensina - 1
	Standardisation	ESA-ESRIN	European Space Agency
CEO	Centre for Earth Observation	ESARDA	European Safequards Research and
CEREACS	Centre Européen de Recherche et de		Development Association
CENTROS	Formation Avancée en Calcul Scientifique	ESD	Euratom Safequards Directorate
CERNI	European Centre for Nuclear Research	ESPI	Electronic Speckle Pattern Interferometer
CHA	Concept Hazard Analysis	ESTI	European Solar Test Installation
CNIP	Italian National Council of Research	FU	European Union
COGEMA	Compagnia Générala das Matières	EDDI	Ellopedi Union Elbra Diaital Data Interface
COOLIVIA	Nuclégires (E)	ENAEA	Failure Adada and Effect Analyses
00000	Communication Model in Connective Mark	EAAEA	Feilure Mode and Effect Analyses
COMODO	Compared Superilleges Manitorian Suster	CA	Casalia Alastikas
COSMOS	Code Surtem from Maria	CIS	Generic Algoninin
CDAA	Code System nom Mana	CIAN	Verse Clebel View for March
DAF	Antiferred Decementation Information Cont	GVVVIN	Verse Clabel View for Windows
DAF	Antifraua Documentation Information System	GVA	Aerox Global View for X-VVIndows
DUEL	Deterministic Dynamic Event Tree	HAZOP	Hazara ana Operability
DICS	Distributed Informatics and Communications	HCM	Human Capital and Mobility
DIV	Services	HEKMES	Fluman Error Reliability Methodology for
DIV	Design Information Verification		Event Sequences

	Herizentel Multisensers Medule		Programma Operativa Plurifondo (AAulti
	Fure Quebes HydroHydrogen Pilet Project	rOr	Frogramme Operative Frogramme
нул	High-Velocity Trains	PPC	Pressure Portable Goges
	Program for visualisation of 3-d sea	PPSC	Pathfinder Phase Steering Committee
	modelling calculations	PSΔ	Probabilistic Safety Assessment
ΙΔ	Integrated Assessment		Public Switched Telephone Network
	Implementing Agreement	P\/	Photovoltaic
	Intplementing Agreement		Porcoad Viewpoint
	International Civil Aviation Organisation		Prossurised Motor Popular
	Internation Conservative for Sharing and	DAINIC	Pagianal Asidification INformation
	Analysing the Earth Observation Data	KAIINS	Simulation model
ICSA	Information Co-operative for Sharing and Analysing the Earth Observation Data	RAMS	Reliability, Availability, Maintainability and Safety
IEA	International Energy Agency	RCS	ROBERTINO Control System
INDEEP	International Database on Energy Efficiency	RHVV	Remote Handling Workstation
	Programmes	SAVE	Special Action Programme for Vigorous
IRP	Integrated Resource Planning		Energy Efficiency
IRS	Institute for Remote Sensing	SC	Superconducting
ISDN	Integrated Services Digital Network	SCCS	Safety Critical Computer Systems
ISEI	Institute for Systems Engineering and	SEAFP	Safety and Environmental Assessment of
.021	Informatics		Fusion Power
ISS	Internet Security Scanner	SMART	Semi-autonomous Monitoring and
IST	Institute for Safety Technology		Robotics Technologies
IT	Information Technology	SMES	Superconducting Magnet Energy Storage
ITER	International Thermonuclear Experimental	SMTP	Simple Message Transfer Protocol
	Reactor	SOM	Self-Organising Map
ITU	Institute for Transuranium Elements	STARS	Software toolkit for advanced reliability and
IRC	loint Research Centre		safety analysis
KBS	Knowledge Based System	STAXED	Stars TAXonomy EDitor
KĺK	Kernforschungszentrum Karlsruhe	STEP	Project Safety Technology in
laSCo	Laboratory for Containment and Surveillance		Environmental Protection
IOCA	Loss of Coolant Accident	TCAS	Traffic Collision Avoidance System
MACS	MELCOR Accident Consequence Code	IC7	Thermal Comfort Zone
	System	TESEO	Reinforcement-learning Mobile Robot
манв	Maior Accident Hazards Bureau	TESIA	Structural Transients Simulation Laboratory in
MARS	Major Accident Reporting System	1200	Electromagnetics and Thermomechanics
	Multi-Criteria Decision Aid	TGV	Train à grande vitesse
MEDA	Multi Element Bottles		Thermal Ovide Reprocessing Plant
	Mothed for Investigating Management		Technology Transfer in the Area of
1411411	Impacts on courses and consequences		Advanced Intelligent Computer Systems for
	of specific bezerds		the Assessment of the Remaining Life
AAAAC	Matal Matrix Composite		Reliability and Safety of Power Plant
AATA -			
	Message Transfer Agenis		
	Nonlioling tropical vegetation		
	Non-Destructive Testing		Overall knowledge based methodology for
	Network News Transfer Protocol		nazara identifacation
NOAA	National Oceanographic Atmospheric	ΤΡΥΥ	I hird Party VVork Taabatabaa Ébaa ay baasa Maata
	Association		Technischer Eberwachungs Verein
OFIS	US Environmental Protection Agency		Urban Development User Community
rcc	rersonal Communication Computer		
rrC	Plasma tacing Components	VVE	
MNC	Power Reactor and Nuclear Fuel Development Corparation ())	XPLED	X Fault Tree Constructor X Windows Plant Editor

•

· · ·

European Commission

EUR 16286 – Institute for Systems Engineering and Informatics – Annual report 1994

Editor: I. Gerbaulet

Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities

1995 – 168 pp. – 21.0 x 29.7 cm

Scientific and technical research series

ISBN 92-827-4273-3

This report presents the achievements of the Institute for Systems Engineering and Informatics (ISEI) of the Joint Research Centre (JRC) of the European Commission (EC) in 1994. The JRC is a European scientific and technical research centre established by the Member States of the EU. Its four sites in Belgium (Geel), Germany (Karlsruhe), the Netherlands (Petten) and Italy (Ispra) house eight Insitutes, each with its own highly specialized expertise.

ISEI, based at Ispra (Italy), was created in 1990 by the merger of the Institute for Systems Engineering (ISEI) and the Centre for Information Technologies and Electronics (CITE).

The main areas of activity of the Institute are: Industrial and environmental risk assessment and management Nuclear safeguards and fissile materials management Fusion reactor systems technology and safety Solar energy systems, testing and energy management Advanced computing Informatics services

. •

Venta · Salg · Verkauf · Πωλήσεις · Sales · Vente · Vendita · Verkoop · Venda · Myynti · Försäljning

NORGE

BELGIQUE / BELGIĚ

Moniteur belge/ Belgisch Staatsblad

Rue de Louvain 42/Leuvenseweg 42 B-1000 Bruxelles/B-1000 Brussel Tél. (02) 512 00 26 Fax (02) 511 01 84

Jean De Lannov

Avenue du Roi 202/Koningslaan 202 B-1060 Bruxelles/B-1060 Brussel Tél. (02) 538 51 69 Fax (02) 538 08 41

Autres distributeurs/ Overige verkooppunten:

Librairie européenne/ Europese boekhandel Rue de la Loi 244/Wetstraat 244 B-1040 Bruxelles/B-1040 Brussel Tél. (02) 231 04 35 Fax (02) 735 08 60

Document delivery:

Credoc

Rue de la Montagne 34/Bergstraat 34 Boîte 11/Bus 11 B-1000 Bruxelles/B-1000 Brussel Tél. (02) 511 69 41 Fax (02) 513 31 95

DANMARK

J. H. Schultz Information A/S Herstedvang 10-12 DK-2620 Albertslund Tlf. 43 63 23 00 Fax (Sales) 43 63 19 69 Fax (Management) 43 63 19 49

DEUTSCHLAND

Bundesanzeiger Verlag Breite Straße 78-80 Postfach 10 05 34 D-50445 Köln Tel. (02 21) 20 29-0 Fax (02 21) 2 02 92 78

GREECE/EAAAA

G.C. Eleftheroudakis SA International Bookstore Nikis Street 4 GR-10563 Athens Tel. (01) 322 63 23 Telex 219410 ELEF Fax 323 98 21

ESPAÑA

Boletín Oficial del Estado Trafalgar, 27-29 E-28071 Madrid Tel. (91) 538 22 95 Fax (91) 538 23 49

Mundi-Prensa Libros, SA Castelló, 37 E-28001 Madrid Tel. (91) 431 33 99 (Libros) 431 32 22 (Suscripciones) 435 36 37 (Dirección) Télex 49370-MPLI-E Fax (91) 575 39 98

Sucursal:

Librería Internacional AEDOS Consejo de Ciento, 391 E-08009 Barcelona Tel. (93) 488 34 92 Fax (93) 487 76 59

Librería de la Generalitat de Catalunya

Rambla dels Estudis, 118 (Palau Moja) E-08002 Barcelona Tel. (93) 302 68 35 Tel. (93) 302 64 62 Fax (93) 302 12 99

FRANCE

Journal officiel Service des publications des Communautés européennes

26, rue Desaix F-75727 Paris Cedex 15 Tél. (1) 40 58 77 01/31 Fax (1) 40 58 77 00

IRELAND Government Supplies Agency 4-5 Harcourt Road Dublin 2 Tel. (1) 66 13 111 Fax (1) 47 80 645

ITALIA Licosa SpA

Via Duca di Calabria 1/1 Casella postale 552 I-50125 Firenze Tel. (055) 64 54 15 Fax 64 12 57 Telex 570466 LICOSA I

GRAND-DUCHÉ DE LUXEMBOURG Messageries du livre

5, rue Raiffeisen L-2411 Luxembourg Tái 40 10 20 Fax 49 06 61 NEDERLAND

SDU Servicecentrum Uitgeverijen Postbus 20014 2500 EA 's-Gravenhage Tel. (070) 37 89 880 Fax (070) 37 89 783

ÖSTERREICH

Manz'sche Verlags-und Universitätsbuchhandlung Kohlmarkt 16 A-1014 Wien Tel. (1) 531 610 Telex 112 500 BOX A Fax (1) 531 61-181

Document delivery: Wirtschaftskammer Wiedner Hauptstraße A-1045 Wien Tel. (0222) 50105-4356 Fax (0222) 50206-297

PORTUGAL

Imprensa Nacional Casa da Moeda, EP Rua D. Francisco Manuel de Melo, 5 P-1092 Lisboa Codex Tel. (01) 387 30 02/385 83 25 Fax (01) 384 01 32

Distribuidora de Livros Bertrand, Ld.º

Grupo Bertrand, SA Rua das Terras dos Vales, 4-A Apartado 37 P-2700 Amadora Codex Tel. (01) 49 59 050 Telex 15798 BERDIS Fax 49 60 255

SUOMI/FINLAND

Akateeminen Kirjakauppa Keskuskatu 1 PO Box 218 FIN-00381 Helsinki Tel. (0) 121 41 Fax (0) 121 44 41

SVERIGE **BTJ AB**

Traktorvågen 13 S-22100 Lund Tel. (046) 18 00 00 Fax (046) 18 01 25 30 79 47

UNITED KINGDOM

HMSO Books (Agency section) **HMSO Publications Centre** 51 Nine Elms Lane London SW8 5DR Tel. (0171) 873 9090 Fax (0171) 873 8463 Telex 29 71 138

ICELAND

BOKABUD LARUSAR BLÖNDAL Skólavördustíg, 2 IS-101 Reykjavik Tel. 11 56 50 Fax 12 55 60

Narvesen Info Center Bertrand Narvesens vei 2 Postboks 6125 Etterstad N-0602 Oslo 6 Tel. (22) 57 33 00 Fax (22) 68 19 01

SCHWEIZ/SUISSE/SVIZZERA

OSEC Stampfenbachstraße 85 CH-8035 Zürich Tel. (01) 365 54 49 Fax (01) 365 54 11

BĂLGARIJA

Europress Klassica BK Ltd 66, bd Vitosha 463 Sofia Tel./Fax (2) 52 74 75

ČESKÁ REPUBLIKA NIS ČR

Havelkova 22 130 00 Praha 3 Tel./Fax (2) 24 22 94 33

HRVATSKA (CROATIE)

Mediatrade P. Hatza 1 4100 Zagreb Tel. (041) 43 03 92 Fax (041) 45 45 22

MAGYARORSZÁG

Euro-Info-Service Honvéd Europá Ház Margitsziget H-1138 Budapest Tel./Fax (1) 111 60 61, (1) 111 62 16

POLSKA

Business Foundation ul. Krucza 38/42 00-512 Warszawa Tel. (2) 621 99 93, 628 28 82 International Fax&Phone (0-39) 12 00 77

ROMÂNIA

Euromedia 65, Strada Dionisie Lupu RO-70184 Bucuresti Tel./Fax 1-31 29 646

RUSSIA

CCEC 9,60-letiya Oktyabrya Avenue 117312 Moscow Tel./Fax (095) 135 52 27

SLOVAKIA

Slovak Technical Library Nàm. slobody 19 812 23 Bratislava 1 Tel. (7) 52 204 52 Fax : (7) 52 957 85

CYPRUS

Cyprus Chamber of Commerce and industry Chamber Building 38 Grivas Dhigenis Ave 3 Deligiorgis Street PO Box 1455 Nicosia Tel. (2) 44 95 00, 46 23 12 Fax (2) 45 86 30

MALTA

Miller Distributors Ltd PO Box 25 Malta International Airport LQA 05 Malta Tel. 66 44 88 Fax 67 67 99

TÜRKIYE

Pres AS Istiklal Caddesi 469 80050 Tùnel-Istanbul Tel. (1) 520 92 96, 528 55 66 Fax (1) 520 64 57

ISRAEL

ROY International 31, Habarzel Street

69710 Tel Aviv Tel. (3) 49 78 02 Fax (3) 49 78 12

EGYPT/ MIDDLE EAST

Middle East Observer 41 Sherif St.

Cairo Tel/Fax (2) 393 97 32

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA/ CANADA

UNIPUB

4611-F Assembly Drive Lanham, MD 20706-4391 Tel. Toll Free (800) 274 48 88 Fax (301) 459 00 56

CANADA

Subscriptions only Uniquement abonnements

Renouf Publishing Co. Ltd

1294 Algoma Road Ottawa, Ontario K1B 3W8 Tel. (613) 741 43 33 Fax (613) 741 54 39

AUSTRALIA

Hunter Publications 58A Gipps Street Collingwood Victoria 3066 Tel. (3) 417 53 61 Fax (3) 419 71 54

JAPAN

Procurement Services Int. (PSI-Japan)

Koru Dome Postal Code 102 Tokyo Kojimachi Post Office Tel. (03) 32 34 69 21 Fax (03) 32 34 69 15

Sub-agent

Kinokuniya Company Ltd Journal Department

PO Box 55 Chitose Tokyo 156 Tel. (03) 34 39-0124

SOUTH-EAST ASIA

Legal Library Services Ltd

Orchard PO Box 0523 Singapore 9123 Tel. 243 24 98 Fax 243 24 79

SOUTH AFRICA

ANDERE LÄNDER

OTHER COUNTRIES

2, rue Mercier L-2985 Luxembourg

Tél. 29 29-1 Télex PUBOF LU 1324 b Fax 48 85 73, 48 68 17

Office des publications officielles des Communautés européennes

4/96

Safto 5th Floor, Export House Cnr Maude & West Streets Sandton 2146 Tel. (011) 883-3737 Fax (011) 883-6569

NOTICE TO READER

All scientific and technical reports published by the European Commission are announced in the monthly periodical '**euro abstracts**'. For subscription (1 year: ECU 63) please write to the address below.

OFFICE FOR OFFICIAL PUBLICATIONS OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES L-2985 Luxembourg



CL-NA-16286-EN-C